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On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors
(the “Directors”) of Q P Group Holdings Limited (the
“Company” and together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”),
| am pleased to present to you the annual report of the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2024 (“FY2024").

MAJOR BUSINESS MOVES AND
ACHIEVEMENTS

In FY2024, the global economic landscape exhibited
continuous moderate growth, driven by resilient consumer
demand and strategic fiscal policies across various nations.
However, the market environment was also shadowed
by increasing geopolitical uncertainties stemming from
the result of 2024 United States presidential election that
raised concerns regarding trade policies and international
relations. This, coupled with the keen competition among
manufacturers and the ever-changing market demand and
technological development, necessitated redoubled efforts
for industry players to navigate the complexities of the
market environment and maintain their market share.

As a paper product manufacturer with diverse business
models, we are committed to continuously making
improvement and innovation in business development and
operations. During the reporting period, we proactively
implemented strategic moves to facilitate vertical and
horizontal growth in our business. Our dedicated and
continuous efforts to reach higher standards in quality
and operating efficiency enabled us to capture the new
business opportunities from our existing Original Equipment
Manufacturer (“OEM”) customers, as we undertook various
engineering initiatives aimed at refining production processes
and reducing costs, and thus optimised our OEM solutions
that better met our customers’ needs. The additional
production capacity contributed by the full-scale operation
of our newly developed Vietnam plant further enabled us
to effectively absorb orders from some of our major OEM
customers seeking alternative manufacturing locations to
facilitate geopolitical risk management. Besides, recognising
the enormous potential in the trading cards market, we
stayed focused on optimising our manufacturing solutions for
trading cards publishers and brands, particularly in product
development, production know-how and operation standard,
the prerequisites for thriving in the high-end trading cards
manufacturing business.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ERHE

In the realm of web sales, during the reporting period we
consolidated our web sales brands’ market position through
comprehensive branding and marketing initiatives, which
included effective digital marketing strategies, participation
in trade shows and launches of projects on Kickstarter,
a global crowdfunding platform. We also improved the
websites’ customer experience by offering upgraded user
interfaces, additional finishing options and new dynamic
builders on our websites. For Q P Market Network (“QPMN”),
our recently launched business-to-business-to-consumer
(B2B2C) web platform that offers one-stop e-commerce
solutions for business partners to sell custom products
online, we continued to invest resources in elevating the
infrastructure of the platform based on the valuable feedback
from its business partners in its trial run, particularly its user
experience and customisation options, so as to better cater
to the needs of its existing and potential business partners.
On the other hand, substantial efforts were made to optimise
the back-end operations of web sales. In December 2024,
we became the first printing company in Hong Kong to be
awarded Level 2i of Industry 4.0 maturity by Hong Kong
Productivity Council for our smart operations in playing card
digital production workshop. This recognition signified our
achievement in facilitating the use of data in our card product
manufacturing, in particular the identification and handling
of issues throughout order fulfilment processes, which
effectively and efficiently improved quality and precision of
our production. We also strived to reduce transportation
costs, which constitute a substantial portion of the expenses
in our web sales, so that we could further promote the
competitiveness of our websites’ products in the global
e-commerce market.

Original Brand Manufacturer (“OBM?”) is our latest initiative
of business diversification. During the reporting period, our
brand gained substantial exposure through 7 successful
crowdfunding projects on Kickstarter. Active participation in
various exhibitions further elevated our brand’s visibility and
engagement with potential customers, helping expand its
distribution channels across the United States of America
(the “USA”), United Kingdom and Asia and reach a broader
customer base.
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FINANCIAL RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

In FY2024, our overall revenue increased by approximately
16.5% to approximately HK$1,210.9 million. Our OEM sales
increased by approximately 16.4% from approximately
HK$845.8 million for the year ended 31 December 2023
(“FY2023") to approximately HK$984.8 million for FY2024,
which was mainly attributable to the increased demand for
our tabletop game products and greeting card products
from our major OEM customers. Our web sales amounted
to approximately HK$226.1 million for FY2024, representing
an increase of approximately 16.9%. The profit attributable
to the equity holders of the Company increased by
approximately 61.2% from approximately HK$80.1 million for
FY2023 to approximately HK$128.9 million for FY2024.

The Board has proposed to declare a final dividend of
HK11.0 cents per share amounting to approximately HK$58.5
million for FY2024, which is expected to be paid on or
around Wednesday, 25 June 2025. In making the decision,
the Board has prudently considered the Group’s current
and future cash flows, the uncertainties in the economy,
the outlook for further growth and profitability and views
of key stakeholders, including regulators and shareholders
of the Company (the “Shareholders”). The final dividend
is subject to approval at the forthcoming annual general
meeting (the “AGM”). If approved, this will represent total
dividends of HK14.0 cents per share for FY2024.

OUTLOOK AND PROSPECTS

Our major markets including the US and Europe are
expected to see modest economic growth in 2025, despite
risks arising from structural supply issues, geopoalitical
tensions and fluctuating commodity prices. However, with
the imposition of tariffs and protectionist measures targeting
specific trading partners, trade policy is likely to continue to
significantly influence the global economy. It is anticipated
that the fragmentation of global trade, intensified by tensions
between China and the US will further reshape supply
chain dynamics and bring certain financial ramifications.
Amid the opportunities and challenges, based on our solid
business and financial foundation, we are confident about
the long-term prospect of the Group. We will continuously
implement appropriate strategies to sustain steady growth
and create long-term value for our stakeholders.

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ERHE
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On the business front, we will firmly adhere to the
established directions and goals, pushing forward business
diversification strategies, with the aim of capturing new
opportunities from existing and new customers in different
markets, In terms
of operations, continuous improvement in the efficiency
and know-how of our production will be carried on. We will
continue to consolidate our production capacity, especially
that of our newly developed Vietnam plant, so as to provide
a more reliable and capable manufacturing option for our
OEM customers and address the geopolitical risks. Local
man power development in the Vietnam plant will take place
to maximise the efficiency of labour and cost-effectiveness of
its operations, and thus its role in the Group’s supply chain.
Meanwhile, sustained efforts will be made to pursue smart
operations. Besides the ongoing introduction of Industry 4.0
in our Dongguan plant, our dedicated in-house IT team will
continue to work on the development of a smart operation
network across the entire Group that seamlessly connects
all front-end businesses and production sites, in order to
optimise our overall efficiency and strengthen our competitive
advantage in the long run.

in a proactive and aggressive manner.

Appreciation

On behalf of the Board, | would like to take this opportunity
to express my sincere appreciation to all of our employees
who contributed to the Group in a dedicated and
professional manner. | also thank our Shareholders, business
partners and professional parties for their support to the
Group throughout the reporting period.

Q P GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED &8 &E#ZRERAHE

ES N ﬁﬁ#ﬁiT%%%ymm
FERER HEEXEKEZTEERR
%@%$ﬁm%m%%zﬁwm%mﬁ
%o%@ﬁﬁ'ﬁﬁ%%ﬁﬁiﬁﬁw
MEMERERE - ZRMEFEMRE
b BRRFENBEBRENES A
OEMEBEFRMEFEAIEME N EEEIE -
LA JE S 4 4% BOR B B o B P 78 8 E R
%Pﬁ*mmAﬁéﬁ %IA“@ﬂ
LEEKARZEER KNI D
ﬁtﬁﬁ%ﬁ$¢l1ﬁ%¢%%@
HULRR BABREERSHELEE -
BRTERMEFEHEITIELION  FK
PRABHEZETERBEERNEBER
EEENEEREEMLE  BEEZAN
ERIEXEBREERN URARMOHE
BYUE HaRMRENBFED -

B
ATAERIEIBERREFTERNAKESE
BETBUARDOEHE - B MIETREA -
NEXLBENEERANEEELER -
AATREHBRR  ZHBHEREXEK
RBEHAHAEEN IR -



FINANCIAL
HIGHLIGHTS

B 754 22

For the year ended
31 December
BE+=-A=t+—HLEE

2024 2023
—E-MEF —T-=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FAT
Revenue I = 1,210,937 1,039,199
Gross profit E A 436,175 356,092
Adjusted profit attributable to equity holders & i B A A A #E 25 A% B2
of the Company J& {5 % 129,116 80,099
Earnings per shares (HK cents) BRAR CEMWL)
— Basic and diluted — EAREE 24.27 15.06
Interim dividend per share (HK cents) TR ERR B (B 3 2
Final dividend per share (HK cents) ERHARRKRECEW) 111 8
Total dividend per share (HK cents) Bk EBEOEMNL) 14 10
Note: B
1 Subject to shareholders’ approval at the forthcoming annual general 1 HEARENEERRBFRNS LHE -

meeting.

Revenue

e 5

T 1,276,392
1,232,631 1,210,037
I | 1,039,199 I|

2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
—TE-ZFE T — T T —ToNF

* Eliminated the effect of non-recurring listing related expenses of HK$1.2 million for

Adjusted Profit Attributable to

Equity Holders of the Company
AR N B R R R EL R F
HK$'000
/%71:

130,514* 126,839 129,116

119,042
| I | ‘ 80,099 ‘
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
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MANAGEMENT
DISCUSSION AND
ANALYSIS

BB R wm M AT

BUSINESS REVIEW
Corporate Profile

Established in 1985, the Group is a paper product manufacturing
and printing services provider, offering its customers diversified
manufacturing and printing solutions for a wide spectrum of
products. Headquartered in Hong Kong, the Group operates
production plants at Dongguan and Heshan in Guangdong
Province, and Phu Ly City in Ha Nam Province, Vietham. The
Group’s principal product categories are tabletop games,
greeting cards, educational items, trading cards and premium
packaging. The Group’s products are sold to () OEM customers
who order mass quantities for direct sales and distribution
through their own sales network; and (i) individual and corporate
customers who order through online sales channels. The Group
has established stable business relationships with its major OEM
customers in the USA and Europe, which include an international
greeting cards publisher and multinational children educational
products and toys brands.

Business Overview

The overall global economy demonstrated modest growth in
2024 despite persistent concerns over inflationary pressure
and geopolitical uncertainties. Meanwhile, the intense
competition from the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”)
and overseas manufacturers posed ongoing challenges
to the Group. In such a complex market environment,
the Group remained highly focused on steady business
expansion and optimisation of operations. During the
reporting period, the Group’s capitalised on its outstanding
performance in engineering, production efficiency, and
quality, successfully captured new business opportunities
driven by the increasing market demand for its major OEM
customers’ products, which contributed to an increase in
the overall OEM sales. Additionally, the Group made steady
progress in diversifying its business across various product
lines. With its established strengths in product development,
production know-how and operation standard for trading
cards production, the Group cultivated business relationships
with one of the industry-leading players in the global trading
cards and collectibles market, as well as various trading
cards publishers in China. In FY2024, the Group’s OEM sales
increased from approximately HK$845.8 million for FY2023 to
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

approximately HK$984.8 million for FY2024, representing an
increase of approximately HK$139.0 million or 16.4%. On the
other hand, riding on the well-established market position,
enhanced customer experience and effective cost-saving
measures, the Group succeeded in achieving steady growth
in its web sales business. With constant efforts to enhance
the website’s infrastructure and functionality, QPMN also
successfully built business relationships with business
partners from all over the world, gradually increasing
its presence in the e-commerce market. In FY2024, the
Group’s web sales amounted to approximately HK$226.1
million, representing a growth of approximately HK$32.7
million or 16.9% compared with approximately HK$193.4
million for FY2023. The number of active registered user
accounts, which refers to the registered user accounts with
order(s) placed at the Group’s major websites, increased
by approximately 21.1% from approximately 64,100 as at 31
December 2023 to approximately 77,600 as at 31 December
2024.

Overall, the revenue of the Group increased from approximately
HK$1,039.2 million for FY2023 to approximately HK$1,210.9
million for FY2024, representing an increase of approximately
16.5%, which was mainly due to the growth in both OEM sales
and web sales. The Group’s profit attributable to the equity
holders of the Company increased by approximately 61.2%
from approximately HK$80.1 million for FY2023 to approximately
HK$129.1 million for FY2024. The Group’s net profit margin
increased from approximately 7.5% for FY2023 to approximately
10.5% for FY2024. The increase in the profit attributable to the
equity holders of the Company was mainly attributable to the
increased demand for the Group’s tabletop game and greeting
card products from its major OEM customers and the increased
demand for the Group’s playing card products sold on one of
its major websites’ sales, which contributed to the increase in
OEM sales and web sales and thereby better economies of
scales, as well as the continuous enhancement in operational
and production efficiency, which were partially offset by the
increase in administrative expenses.
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In respect of operations, the Vietham plant commenced
full-scale operations during the reporting period, becoming
a crucial production hub for the Group. In September 2024,
the Group entered into a construction agreement with a
contractor for the construction works in relation to the
expansion of the Vietnam plant.

Outlook and Prospects

The manufacturing industry is predicted to face a complicated
economic landscape characterised by both opportunities
and challenges in 2025. The consumer market is expected
to show resilience, underpinned by steady economic
growth and declining inflation, whereas the imposition of
tariffs and heightened protectionism driven by widespread
geopolitical tensions will however pose significant impact to
the manufacturing sector inevitably. Nevertheless, the Group
will continue to stay focused on steady business expansion
and optimisation of operations. Looking ahead, the Group
intends to further strengthen its OEM solutions by innovating
in product structural design, printing and finishing techniques,
and the utilisation of new materials. With the continuous efforts
to build up its competitive strength in trading card games
(“TCG”) and trading cards manufacturing, the Group looks to
actively participate in relevant exhibitions and trade shows to
showcase its capabilities, so as to achieve better penetration
into the flourishing TCG and trading cards market and position
the Group to capitalise on the emerging opportunities in it.
Meanwhile, the development of QPMN remains the Group’s
key growth strategy in web sales business in the long run.
The Group will focus on enriching its e-commerce solutions
for product customisation, expanding its product range and
enhancing its integration with popular e-commerce platforms,
in order to better align with the market standard and
expectations of business partners. For the OBM business, the
dedicated team has formulated a series of online and offline
approaches, aiming to progressively diversify the brand’s
sales channels, broaden its market presence and enlarge its
customer base. Besides playing cards, the brand will explore
the market potential of other products such as TCG, board
games, tarot decks, etc. to promote brand awareness and
expand revenue streams.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The Group’s production operations will continue to evolve in
2025. The construction work of the new factory building in
the existing production base in Vietnam is in good progress
and is expected to commence operations in the third quarter
of 2025. Such expansion will enable the Group to develop
a more comprehensive supply chain in Vietnam and further
enhance its ability to diversify potential operational risks
arising from geopolitical factors. On the other hand, following
the recent milestone of achieving the certification of 2i level
of Industry 4.0 maturity, the Group is committed to advancing
its digital transformation through improvement in utilisation
of operational data and scaling up the application of smart
operations across more production lines and workshops,
with the aim of further boosting its operational efficiency and
competitive advantage in the future.
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I\/IANAGEI\/IENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
En EE uTuFFE & Tﬁ

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue

The Group achieved revenue of approximately HK$1,210.9
million for FY2024, representing an increase of approximately
16.5% as compared with approximately HK$1,039.2 million
for FY2023. The increase in the Group’s revenue for FY2024
was attributable to the increase in both OEM sales and web
sales.

The following table sets forth a breakdown of total revenue
for the periods indicated by business segment:

B % [0 B
I #8

AEBR-ZZE_NFHBRFEER K=
12100B BB L R_TE_=F WK
FE#91,039.28 & B T & 1N 4916.5% © 7
SER-ZT-_MFHBRFENKRERA
#0075 B P OEM 5 & K 48 Ut 35 & 38 A0 Fir
g(o

TR RBMZER D BEDH
U AR A

Year ended 31 December

BE+-A=+—-BLEE

2024 2023
—R_NmEF —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
TET FET
OEM sales OEMiH & 984,837 81.3 845,781 81.4
Web sales Pub s s 226,100 18.7 193,418 18.6
Total Bt 1,210,937 100.0 1,039,199 100.0

Revenue from OEM sales increased from approximately
HK$845.8 million for FY2023 to approximately HK$984.8
million for FY2024, representing an increase of approximately
16.4%.
demand for the Group’s tabletop games products and
greeting cards products from its major OEM customers.

The increase was primarily due to the increased

Revenue from web sales amounted to approximately
HK$226.1 million for FY2024, which represented an increase
of approximately 16.9% compared to approximately
HK$193.4 million for FY2023. The increase was primarily
due to the increased demand for the Group’s playing cards
products sold on one of its major websites during the
reporting period.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEE M

The table below summarises the geographical revenue based TR A & AT R R X B 09 i &
on the destination of delivery for the periods indicated: 3 B Hh [ UK A

Year ended 31 December

BE+t-A=+—HLHEFE

2024 2023
—B_MF —E=F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FERT FHET
The USA ES 772,747 63.8 695,088 66.9
Europe B 198,277 16.4 173,903 16.7
The PRC H 106,423 8.8 79,981 7.7
Others H b 133,490 11.0 90,227 8.7
Total st 1,210,937 100.0 1,039,199 100.0

The USA and Europe remained the two largest overseas ZBNE NI ARNEBRAEINTS
markets of the Group which in aggregate accounted for A DR ME S _NWFHHRFEFE & =
80.2% and 83.6% of the total revenue for FY2024 and Z = = F §f B F & 4 I = H80.2% &
FY2023, respectively. The decline in sales share of these 83.6% ° ZMEAMHHEEGL TETE
two markets was primarily attributed to the increase in sales HRHEHANAERE - 27 - R AR
of OEM playing cards products to other countries such as 38 & EN & fE 75 a8 55 H b B =X §4 & &9 OEM
Brazil, Mexico, Australia and Indonesia during the reporting — #% 8 & R IE 0 -

period.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EIR[E i Mo T

Cost of sales

The Group’s cost of sales mainly consists of the cost of
raw materials, staff costs in relation to production, sub-
contracting charges, depreciation, utilities and factory
overheads. The Group recorded increase in cost of sales of
approximately 13.4% from approximately HK$683.1 million
for FY2023 to approximately HK$774.8 million for FY2024.
The increase in cost of sales was primarily attributable to the
increase in production output as a result of more purchase
orders placed by our OEM and web sales customers during
the reporting period.

Gross profit and gross profit margin

For FY2024, the gross profit of the Group was approximately
HK$436.2 million, representing an increase of approximately
22.5% as compared with approximately HK$356.1 million
recorded in FY20283. The gross profit margin increased from
approximately 34.3% for FY2023 to approximately 36.0%
for FY2024, which was primarily attributable to the positive
effects of better economies of scale driven by the increase in
web sales and OEM sales and the continuous enhancement
in operational and production efficiency during the reporting
period.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Other gains, net

The Group’s other gains, net mainly consist of foreign
exchange gain, gain on disposals of derivative financial
instruments and loss on disposals of property, plant and
equipment. The decrease of other gains, net was primarily
due to the fluctuation of the Renminbi (“RMB”) and
Vietnamese dong (“WND”) against United States dollars
(“USD”) were less favourable to the Group as compared with
the last reporting period.

Other income

The Group’s other income mainly consists of sales of
scrap materials and government grants. The increase in
other income was mainly due to the increase in sales of
scrap materials and the increase in receipts of government
subsidies in the PRC during the reporting period.

Selling and distribution expenses

The Group’s selling and distribution expenses primarily consist
of transportation expenses, staff costs of our sales personnel,
sales commission and service charges of payment gateways.
The Group’s selling and distribution expenses increased by
approximately 3.1% from approximately HK$101.6 million for
FY2023 to approximately HK$104.7 million for FY2024. The
increase was mainly due to the increase in transportation
expenses resulting from the increase in scale of the Group’s
web sales business during the reporting period.

Administrative expenses

The Group’s administrative expenses mainly comprise staff
costs, depreciation and amortisation, and legal and professional
fees. The Group’s administrative expenses increased by
approximately 11.1%, from approximately HK$182.7 million for
FY2023 to approximately HK$202.8 million for FY2024. The
increase was primarily attributable to the increase in staff costs
during the reporting period.
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MANAGEI\/IENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
E fi nT nf & *Fl'

Finance income, net

The Group recognised finance income, net of approximately
HK$3.6 million and HK$3.8 million for FY2024 and FY2023,
respectively. There was no material fluctuation in finance
income, net during the period.

Income tax expense

Our income tax expense increased by approximately 36.8%
from approximately HK$16.0 million for FY2023 to approximately
HK$21.8 million for FY2024. The effective tax rate of the Group
for FY2024 and FY2023 was approximately 14.6% and 16.9%,
respectively. The decrease in the effective tax rate was mainly
due to Q P Enterprise (Vietham) Company Limited, the Group’s
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary, being entitled to a tax holiday
and the Group had fewer tax losses that were not recognised
during the reporting period.

Profit attributable to the equity holders of the
Company

The profit attributable to the equity holders of the Company
increased by approximately 61.2% from approximately
HK$80.1 million for FY2023 to approximately HK$129.1 million
for FY2024. The Group’s net profit margin increased from
approximately 7.5% for FY2023 to approximately 10.5% for
FY2024. The increase in net profit was primarily attributable
to the increase in overall sales and the improvement in
gross profit margin as mentioned above during the reporting
period.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

The shares (the “Shares”) of the Company were listed on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) on 16 January 2020 (the “Listing”). There
has been no change in the share capital of our Group since
then and share capital of our Group only comprises ordinary
shares. As at the date of this annual report, the Company
has 532,000,000 ordinary Shares in issue.

The Group relies principally on its internally generated capital
and bank borrowings to fund its business. Details of the
borrowings (including the maturity profile of borrowings) are
set out in Note 28 to the consolidated financial statements.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

During FY2024, the Group maintained a healthy liquidity
position, with working capital mainly financed by internal
resources. The Group adopts a prudent cash and financial
management policy. The Group closely reviews trade
receivable balances and any overdue balances on an ongoing
basis and only trade with creditworthy parties. The Group
closely monitors the Group’s liquidity position to ensure that
the liquidity structure of the Group’s assets, liabilities and
commitments can meet its funding requirements to manage
liquidity risk.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group reported net current
assets of approximately HK$269.0 million, as compared
with approximately HK$204.3 million as at 31 December
2023. As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s cash and bank
balances was approximately HK$246.5 million, of which
approximately HK$49.2 million was denominated in Hong
Kong dollars (“HKD”) or (“HK$”), approximately HK$114.2
million was denominated in USD, approximately HK$71.0
million was denominated in RMB and the remaining balance
was denominated in other currencies (31 December 2023:
approximately HK$160.4 million, of which approximately
HK$28.8 million was denominated in HKD, approximately
HK$109.0 million was denominated in USD, approximately
HK$19.8 million was denominated in RMB and the remaining
balance was denominated in other currencies), representing
an increase of approximately HK$86.1 million as compared
with that as at 31 December 2023.
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MANAGEMENTDBCUS&ONANDANAUSE
En fi uTuFFE& ﬁ'

As at 31 December 2024, total borrowings, supplier finance
arrangements and lease liabilities for the Group amounted
to approximately HK$70.7 million (31 December 2023:
approximately HK$50.8 million). The borrowings were
mainly denominated in HKD and RMB, supplier finance
arrangements were denominated in RMB and lease liabilities
were denominated in HKD and RMB. Bank borrowings and
supplier finance arrangements are mostly at floating rates
and lease liabilities are at fixed rates.

For FY2024, the net cash generated from operating activities
was approximately HK$204.1 million (FY2023: approximately
HK$112.1 million). The net cash generated from operating
activities was mainly derived from the profits recorded during
the reporting period. The net cash used in investing activities
was approximately HK$67.0 million (FY2023: approximately
HK$195.0 million). The net cash used in financing activities
was approximately HK$43.4 million (FY2023: approximately
HK$143.6 million). For FY2024, the net cash used in investing
activities was mainly attributable to the payments in relation
to the purchase of property, plant and equipment, and the
net cash used in financing activities was mainly attributable
to the dividend payment.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had no significant
contingent liabilities (31 December 2023: nil).

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had approximately
HK$59.9 million (31 December 2023: approximately HK$21.0
million) capital commitments in respect of acquisition of
property, plant and equipment.

20 QP GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED &8 &EZERERAHE

%:%:E¢+:HE+—Hv$$E
MEREE HEEREZHELEES
{MWWWEE%ELQ__¢+ A
=t+—H:4508888BT)c BREE
INEBTRAREBE HESREZH
MARBGFTE mMEEBEERAETR
ARBHE KREDBITERREER
MELHRZEFE  MEEAEAIN
FEEFTE °

RZZEZNFHBEE  KETHMER
ERBEHR04BEETL(ZE_=ZFH
WEE: Q1121888 TT) - KEFEFT
BREFHENETERABREHFRNESH
m o WEEBMARE S FELN A670
BEAT(ZEZ=ZFHHFE: #195.0
BEEAL) mMEGTHFABRSFENAE
WBAREABT(CE_=FHHRFE: 4
143.6B&BIT) c RZZZMFHBFE -
REETHMAR S FETZHANEHEERE

EVE BMEAXREBEONMNR MEEE
FHRESFRETEZARNKMES -
RAEE

R-ZE-_NWF+-_A=+—H '  A&EH
TEEASNABB(CE-_ZF+_A8
=+—H:#&)-

BRAIE

RZZFZWE+A=+—8 A£ER
BEVE BMEARENEREREAR
509REBT(ZE_=F+-_A=+—Q:

#21.08 8B 7T) °



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

GEARING RATIO

Gearing ratio is calculated by the total debt (being borrowings,
supplier finance arrangements and lease liabilities) divided
by the total equity as at the end of the respective reporting
periods and multiplied by 100%. The Group’s gearing ratio
was approximately 8.0% and 6.1% as at 31 December 2024
and 2023, respectively.

The Group closely monitors the gearing ratio, analyse the
maturity profiles of the Group’s borrowings and manage
the Group’s liquidity level to ensure a sufficient cash
flow to service the Group’s indebtedness and meet cash
requirements arising from the Group’s business. The Group
also explore various financing opportunities to improve our
capital structure and reduce the Group’s cost of capital.

EXPOSURE TO FLUCTUATIONS IN
EXCHANGE RATES AND RELATED
HEDGES

As the Group is headquartered in Hong Kong and the Group’s
production facilities are primarily located in the PRC and
Vietnam, most of the Group’s production costs and operating
expenses are primarily denominated in HKD, RMB and VND,
while the Group’s revenue is mainly denominated in USD
and HKD, and the Group is exposed to foreign currency
risks primarily as a result of revenue, production costs and
operating expenses that are denominated in foreign currencies
other than HKD. The Group’s foreign currency exposure also
comprises assets and liabilities denominated in currencies
other than the subsidiaries’ functional currencies.

The Group has set up a policy to manage its foreign currency
risk by closely monitoring the movement of the foreign
currency rates and employing financial instruments for hedging
should the need arise. The Group does not adopt a formal
hedge accounting policy.
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I\/IANAGEI\/IENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
En fi uT nf & *ﬁ

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group did not hold
any outstanding forward foreign exchange contract. For
FY2024, gain on disposals of derivative financial instruments
of approximately HK$2.0 million (FY2023: approximately
HK$1.3 million) was recognised in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

DISCLOSEABLE TRANSACTION IN
RELATION TO CONSTRUCTION OF A
FACTORY IN VIETNAM

On 25 September 2024, the Group entered into the construction
contract with an independent third party contractor, pursuant
to which the contractor agreed, among other things, to
undertake the construction works of the factory in Vietham
at a consideration of VND176,600,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$55,992,391), subject to adjustment (if any).
The Group intends to expand the existing factory buildings in
Vietnam so as to develop a more comprehensive supply chain in
that region, with the aim of further enhancing the Group’s ability
to diversify potential operational risks arising from geopolitical
factors. Details of the construction contract were disclosed in the
announcement of the Company dated 25 September 2024.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS

As at 31 December 2024, the Group did not hold any
significant investments (31 December 2023: nil).

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS OR DISPOSAL
OF SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND
JOINT VENTURES

The Group did not have any material acquisitions or disposals

of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures during FY2024
and FY2023.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEE M

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL ARHNEARESRSERE EFF
INVESTMENTS OR CAPITAL ASSETS gl

Save as disclosed in this annual report, there were no other BARFERAFEEIN W EHMWBRBHSE
plans for material investments or capital assets. ARENEREENGTE -

PLEDGE OF ASSETS EEERR

As at 31 December 2024, right-of-use assets amounted to R_-Z-_WME+-A=+—H 47847
approximately HK$78.4 million (2023: HK$80.2 million) and &BT(ZZT = =F :80.28 & B L)W E
property, plant and equipment amounted to approximately BEEENH63IEEBL(ZTE_=F:
HK$63.3 million (2023: HK$69.5 million) have been charged 695 BB TN E - MELZRHED B
as security for bank borrowings and supplier finance {EAEEBERTERMEEFEREZTHED
arrangements of the Group. TR o

Details of pledge of assets are set out in Note 28 to the EHEEERTNFBHNRNGEUEER
consolidated financial information. PizE28 °
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS
OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. CHENG Wan Wai (8% &), vy, aged 66, is one of
our founders, an executive Director, chairman of our Board
and chief executive officer of our Company. Mr. Cheng was
appointed as a Director in April 2018 and redesignated as
an executive Director in January 2019. He is responsible
for formulating overall strategies, planning and business
directions of our Group. Mr. Cheng also serves as a director
or a legal representative of certain subsidiaries of the Group.
Mr. Cheng has over 35 years of experience in the printing
industry. He established our Group in 1985 with Mr. Yeung
Keng Wu Kenneth and served as a director of Q P Printing
Limited since its incorporation. Mr. Cheng is the spouse of
Ms. Hui Li Kwan, an executive Director of our Group.

Between December 2016 and February 2023, Mr. Cheng
served as a vice chairman of the board of directors of
Hongkong Shine Tak Foundation Association Limited, a
charity organisation, and was appointed as its executive vice
chairman since February 2023. He has also been serving
as a permanent honorary president since December 2014,
In July 2023, Mr. Cheng was awarded the Medal of Honour
by the Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region (“HKSAR”). In September 2023, Mr. Cheng was
awarded an Honorary Fellowship by the Professional
Validation Council of Hong Kong Industries.

Mr. YEUNG Keng Wu Kenneth (# % #), aged 66, is one
of our founders and an executive Director, and is responsible
for formulating overall strategies and planning, and
overseeing the manufacturing operations of our Group. Mr.
Yeung was appointed as our Director in April 2018 and
redesignated as an executive Director in January 2019. Mr.
Yeung also serves as a director of certain subsidiaries of the
Group. He has over 35 years of experience in the printing
industry. He established our Group in 1985 with Mr. Cheng
Wan Wai and served as a director of Q P Printing Limited
since its incorporation.

Between January 2012 and January 2017, Mr. Yeung had
been a member of the 12th Dongguan Committee of the
Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference. He
has been serving as a permanent honorary president of
Hongkong Shine Tak Foundation Association Limited, a
charity organisation, since December 2016.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Ms. LIU Shuk Yu Sanny (E# 0), aged 62, is an executive
Director, and is responsible for formulating strategic
planning, overseeing overseas sales, human resources,
administration and training functions of our Group. Ms. Liu
was appointed as our Director in April 2018 and
redesignated as an executive Director in January 2019. Ms.
Liu also serves as a director of certain subsidiaries of the
Group. She joined our Group in September 1990 and has
over 35 years of experience in the printing industry. Ms. Liu
obtained a degree of Executive Master of Business
Administration from the Hong Kong University of Science and
Technology in May 2004.

Mr. CHAN Wang Tao Thomas (FR %= &), aged 61, is
an executive Director, and is responsible for overseeing
business development and sales functions of our Group.
Mr. Chan was appointed as our Director in April 2018 and
redesignated as an executive Director in January 2019. Mr.
Chan also serves as a director of certain subsidiaries of the
Group. He joined our Group in October 2000 and possesses
over 30 years of experience in the paper-based items
manufacturing and printing industry. Mr. Chan obtained a
degree of Executive Master of Business Administration from
The Chinese University of Hong Kong in November 2013.

Ms. HUI Li Kwan (5F ¥ &), aged 63, is an executive Director,
and is responsible for managing material development and
supply. Ms. Hui was appointed as our Director in April 2018 and
redesignated as an executive Director in January 2019. Ms. Hui
also serves as a director of certain subsidiaries of the Group.
She joined our Group in July 1985 and has over 35 years of
experience in the printing industry. Ms. Hui is the spouse of
Mr. Cheng Wan Wai, an executive Director and chairman of our
Group.
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Mr. MAK Chin Pang (Z & E), aged 53, is an executive
Director, and is responsible for overseeing administrative and
legal compliance matters, accounting and corporate finance
functions of our Group. He was appointed as our Director
in April 2018 and redesignated as an executive Director in
January 2019. Mr. Mak also serves as a director of certain
subsidiaries of the Group. He is the chairman of the risk
management committee and a member of the remuneration
committee and nomination committee of our Company. He
joined our Group in May 2001 and has over 20 years of
experience in accounting, finance, corporate governance,
capital management and strategic planning matters.

Mr. Mak obtained a degree of Bachelor of Business
Administration in Finance from the Hong Kong University of
Science and Technology in November 1994. He is a member
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants,
a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants and a member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Directors. He also passed the qualifying examination in Six
Sigma Green Belt and was awarded a certificate from the Six
Sigma Institute.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

Mr. CHAN Hiu Fung Nicholas (BR B &), 555 mH, JP
aged 51, was appointed as our independent non-executive
Director in December 2019. He is also the chairman of
the remuneration committee and a member of the audit
committee, nomination committee and risk management
committee of our Company. Mr. Chan is currently a practising
solicitor in Hong Kong and has over 20 years of experience
in the legal practice. He has become a partner of Squire
Patton Boggs, a law firm since September 2005.

Mr. Chan was admitted to practise law as a solicitor in Hong
Kong in May 1999 and has since then become a member
of The Law Society of Hong Kong. He served as a council
member of The Law Society of Hong Kong from December
2014 to May 2019. He was also admitted to practice law in
the Australian Capital Territory and Victoria, Australia in June
1997 and October 2000, respectively, and was admitted
to practice as a solicitor in England and Wales in October
2007. Mr. Chan graduated from The University of Melbourne,
Australia, with a double degree of Bachelor of Laws and
Bachelor of Science in March 1997. He was awarded the
Medal of Honours from the Government of the HKSAR in
July 2016 and has also been appointed as a Justice of the
Peace by the Government of the HKSAR since July 2021. In
July 2024, Mr. Chan was awarded the Bronze Bauhinia Star
(BBS) by the Government of the HKSAR.

He was a member of Committee on Innovation, Technology
and Industry Development of the Government of the HKSAR
from March 2023 to March 2025. He was a member of the
Hospital Governing Committee of Castle Peak Hospital and
Siu Lam Hospital from April 2019 to March 2025. Mr. Chan
was a council member of The Hong Kong University of
Science and Technology from April 2016 to March 2022, and
he has been serving as a member of the Court of the Hong
Kong University of Science and Technology for a period of
three years from September 2022. He has been appointed
to serve as a council member of The Chinese University of
Hong Kong for a period of three years from June 2022. Mr.
Chan has been serving as a council member of the Fu Hong
Society since November 2018, and began serving as Vice
Chairman in October 2024. Since May 2022, Mr. Chan has
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also been appointed as the director of AALCO Hong Kong
Regional Arbitration Centre. Since June 2021, Mr. Chan
has become a non-club-linked director of the board of the
Football Association of Hong Kong, China Limited with a
term until June 2025. Mr. Chan is Hong Kong Deputy to the
13th National People’s Congress and 14th National People’s
Congress of the PRC. He has been appointed to serve as
a member of Communications Authority with effect from
April 2023. Since May 2023, he has been appointed as a
member of the Social Development Expert Group under the
Chief Executive’s Policy Unit Expert Group. Since June 2023,
he has been appointed as the Chairman of the Innovation
and Technology Venture Fund Advisory Committee. Since
May 2024, he has been appointed as a member of the
Competition Commission. Since October 2024, he has been
appointed by the Secretary for Justice of Hong Kong as a
member of the Expert Advisory Group on Legal and Dispute
Resolution Services.

From December 2021 to March 2025, Mr. Chan was an
independent non-executive director of Million Cities Holdings
Limited (Stock Code: 2892), whose shares are listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange.

Mr. Chan has been appointed as an independent
non-executive director of (i) Sa Sa International Holdings
Limited (Stock Code: 178), since September 2019; (ii)
Pangaea Connectivity Technology Limited (Stock Code:
1473), since January 2021; (iiij Genertec Universal Medical
Group Company Limited (Stock Code: 2666), since June
2022; and (iv) China Merchants Port Holdings Company
Limited (Stock Code: 144), since December 2022,
respectively. The shares of the abovementioned companies
are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Prof. CHENG Man Chung Daniel (E3CB), 88s, mH, JP,
aged 67, was appointed as our independent non-executive
Director in December 2019. He is also the chairman of the
nomination committee and a member of the audit committee,
remuneration committee and risk management committee
of our Company. He is a Fellow of The Hong Kong Institute
of Engineers and a registered professional engineer of the
Engineers Registration Board. He has been awarded the title
of professorate senior engineer by the Department of Human
Resources and Social Security of Guangdong Province. He
has over 20 years of experience in the engineering industry.

Prof. Cheng is the Managing Director of Dunwell Technology
(Holdings) Limited. Prof. Cheng serves as the President of
the Hong Kong Environmental Industry Association. Between
July 2015 and July 2017, he served as the chairman of the
Federation of Hong Kong Industries, and was appointed as
its Honorary President since July 2017. Since May 2023, he
has been appointed as a member of the Council for Carbon
Neutrality and Sustainable Development for a period of two
years.

Prof. Cheng was appointed by The University of Hong Kong
as Honorary Professor for the period from March 2016 to
February 2019 and has been appointed as Adjunct Professor
in the Department of Industrial and Manufacturing Systems
Engineering since March 2019. He has also been appointed
by The Hong Kong Polytechnic University as Professor of
Practice (Management) in the Department of Management
and Marketing. He was appointed as a Justice of the Peace
by the Government of the HKSAR in July 2011. He was
awarded the Bronze Bauhinia Star (BBS) in 2017 and the
Medal of Honours in July 2007 from the Government of the
HKSAR.

In February 2014, Prof. Cheng received the Certificate of
Congressional Recognition for his induction into the Hall of
Fame Class of 2014 from the California State Polytechnic
University, Pomona, the United States. He obtained a degree
of Bachelor of Science in Industrial Engineering from the
California State Polytechnic University, Pomona, the United
States, in June 1981.
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Mr. NG Shung (& &), Jr (Australia), aged 61, was appointed
as our independent non-executive Director in December
2019. He is also the chairman of the audit committee and
a member of the remuneration committee, nomination
committee and risk management committee of our Company.
He is a fellow certified public accountant in Hong Kong and
has over 10 years of experience in professional accounting.
He has been operating publication business by serving
as the chairman of the board of directors of Racing World
Publications Limited since 2003.

Mr. Ng was admitted to the status of Certified Practising
Accountant of the Australian Society of Certified Practising
Accountants in September 1992, and was issued a Public
Practice Certificate by the Australian Society of Certified
Practising Accountants in February 1993. He was admitted
as a fellow of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (formerly known as the Hong Kong Society
of Accountants) in March 1999. He obtained a degree of
Bachelor of Economics from Macquarie University, Australia,
in April 1986, and a degree of Master of Commerce in
Organizational Behaviour from the University of New South
Wales, Australia, in April 1988. He was also admitted as
a fellow of The Hong Kong Institute of Director in January
2018.

30 QP GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED &8 &EZERERAH

REKE LAF#H+(BAFZ) 6158 R
TE-NFFTZRAEZEARMABL
FHTEZ -FNREARAIBTZEZES
FERFNEEE REZESKER
EREZEEKE BARA—BBEBERE
RN WREBEXEFHEEE BI0F K
B HE_TT-FRELELRE
BUYETESATHRERAAESSE
ERE o

REER-—NAN_FHLAKRRRMNE
A AERAZH XS R
—NMN=F_AERFEMNESAMIER
BHREEE - W —NANANF=ZA%E
ERRBEEGMAE (AIEEE S
BR)EREBE WA —NANRFEHNAHE
BNEBEEASNERBERZELENUE
R =N\ FEABRGR M BB
REHXMBTRABIBLIENL - ®IT
RIE-N\FE-ARBENRBELEESTE



BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Ng had served in the Executive Committee of the Hong
Kong Paralympic Committee & Sports Association For The
Physically Disabled from 2009 to 2015, and had been the
chairman of its public relations and marketing subcommittee
from 2010 to 2013. He had served as an Elected Member
of the General Committee of Riding For The Disabled
Association Limited and as chairman of the Public Relations
and Fundraising Subcommittee from 2003 to 2010 and
from 2015 to 2016, respectively. He has also served as the
vice-chairman of the International Liaison Subcommittee
and vice-chairman of the Rehab Subcommittee of Riding
For The Disabled Association Limited from 2011 to 2013
and from 2012 to 2015, respectively. He had also served as
the president of Hong Kong Racehorse Owners Association
from 2014 to 2015 and was appointed as a Voting Member
of the Hong Kong Jockey Club in 2016. He was appointed
as Justice of the Peace by the Government of New South
Wales, Australia, in 1992, and was awarded Chief Executive’s
Commendation for Community Service by the Government of
the HKSAR in 2009. Since July 2023, he has been appointed
as the Chairman of the Executive Committee of the Hong
Kong Thoroughbred Breeders’ Alliance for a period of two
years.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. HUNG Wai Ming Kenny (i£{Z8), aged 64, joined
our Group in May 1994. Mr. Hung currently is the senior
director of manufacturing and administration of our Group,
and is responsible for the management of manufacturing
and administration operation of the factories of our Group.
Mr. Hung had been a director of Q P International Limited
between January 2018 and December 2020. Mr. Hung has
over 30 years of experience in production management.

Mr. HA Kevin Tu Hao (i85 &), aged 59, joined our Group
in November 2003. Mr. Ha is the director of technology
development of our Group, and is responsible for the
management and supervision of our technology department.
Mr. Ha had been served as a director of Q P International
Limited between January 2018 and December 2020. Mr.
Ha has over 20 years of experience in the printing and
publishing industry.

Mr. WOO Yu Sing Kevin (##i ), aged 61, joined our
Group in March 2018. Mr. Woo is the senior director of product
integrity of our Group, and is responsible for the management
and supervision of our product integrity department to
safeguard the product integrity and safety, quality system
and assurance, compliance, and environmental, occupational
health and safety. Mr. Woo had been served as a director of
DPI Laboratory Services Limited between March 2018 and
December 2020. Mr. Woo has over 35 years of experience in
the quality system, quality control and assurance management
in the manufacturing industry, as well as the laboratory
management.

Mr. CHU Chong Kei Elvis (%&£l &), aged 61, joined our
Group in November 2008. Mr. Chu is the director of quality
assurance and compliance of our Group, and is responsible
for the management and supervision of our quality assurance
and compliance department. Mr. Chu had been served as
a director of Q P International Limited between January
2018 and December 2020. Mr. Chu has over 25 years of
experience in the quality control and assurance management
in the manufacturing industry.
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Mr. CHEUNG Chun Man (& X), aged 52, joined our
Group in October 2012. Mr. Cheung is the senior IT director
of our Group, and is responsible for management and
supervision of our IT department. Mr. Cheung has over 20
years of experience in the information and technology. Mr.
Cheung obtained a degree of Bachelor of Mathematics from
the University of Waterloo in Canada in May 1997.

Mr. HUI Chun Yip David (& B ¥ ), aged 46, joined
our Group in November 2009. Mr. Hui is the general
manager of our Vietnam operations. Mr. Hui had served
as a director of Q P International Limited between January
2018 and December 2020. Mr. Hui has over 20 years of
experience in the engineering area of the manufacturing
industry. He obtained a degree of Bachelor of Engineering
in Manufacturing Informatics and Systems Engineering from
the City University of Hong Kong in November 2006 and a
degree of Master of Engineering in Engineering Management
from the Open University of Hong Kong in October 2016.
Mr. Hui was certified as a Registered Lean Specialist (Life
Type Registration) in October 2014 and a registered Lean
Sigma Black Belt in March 2015 by the Six Sigma Institute of
Hong Kong. In September 2015, he obtained a certificate of
certified Six Sigma Black Belt from the China Association for
Quality. He completed the Industry 4.0 Program Facilitator
Training in June 2017 and was awarded a certificate of
completion from the Fraunhofer Institutes of Production
Technology and the Hong Kong Productivity Council.

Mr. TANG Chi Ming (E8&Bf), aged 55, joined our Group
in July 2022. Mr. Tang is the senior engineering director
of our Group, and is responsible for the management
and supervision of our engineering department. Mr. Tang
has over 20 years of experience in engineering, operation
management, sales and general management in the
manufacturing industry. Mr. Tang obtained a higher diploma
in Land Survey in November 1993 and a degree of Bachelor
of Science in Land Survey & Geo-informatics in November
1994 from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENEREEERE

Mr. WONG Hung Pan (E % 3#), aged 39, joined our Group
in March 2017. Mr. Wong is the financial controller of
our Group and the company secretary of our Company
and is responsible for financial matters, corporate
governance, capital management, strategic planning
and company secretarial matters. Mr. Wong has over 15
years of experience in accounting and audit, corporate
finance, corporate secretarial management and corporate
governance with several international accounting firms
and listed companies in Hong Kong. Mr. Wong obtained
a degree of Bachelor of Arts in Accounting and Finance
from the University of Exeter, the United Kingdom in July
2007 and further obtained a degree of Master of Corporate
Governance from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University in
September 2019. Mr. Wong is a fellow member of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, an associate
member of The Chartered Governance Institute, and an
associate member of The Hong Kong Chartered Governance
Institute. He is also a Chartered Financial Analyst (CFA)
charterholder. Furthermore, he passed the qualifying
examination in Six Sigma Green Belt and was awarded a
certificate from the Six Sigma Institute.
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The Board is pleased to report to the Shareholders on the
corporate governance of the Company for the year ended 31
December 2024.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board is committed to a high level of corporate
governance to safeguard the interests of Shareholders,
enhance corporate value, formulate its business
strategies and policies, and enhance its transparency and
accountability. The Board believes that the key to a success
lies in achieving unity of corporate vision and mission, which
serve as our beacons and guiding everyone at our Group
to move in the same direction. Since the inception of our
Group, we have gradually established our own culture and
philosophy, which are reinforced across our values of acting
lawfully, ethically and responsibly through various channels,
including but not limited to introduction sessions for new
employees, ongoing comprehensive trainings and annual
business meeting. The Company has adopted the principles
and code provisions of the Corporate Governance Code
(“CG Code”) contained in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules
as its own code of corporate governance.
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During FY2024, the Company has applied and complied with
the CG Code in each case as set out in Appendix C1 to the
Listing Rules, except for the deviation from the CG Code
of code provision C.2.1. Under code provision C.2.1 of the
CG Code, the roles of chairman and chief executive should
be separated and should not be performed by the same
individual and the division of responsibilities between the
chairman and chief executive should be clearly established
and set out in writing. Mr. Cheng Wan Wai currently holds
both positions of the chairman of the Board and the chief
executive officer of the Company, being responsible for the
effective functioning of the Board in accordance with good
corporate governance practice and implementing objectives,
policies and strategies approved by members of the Board
from time to time. Mr. Cheng has been the key leadership
figure of the Group who has been primarily involved in the
formulation of business strategies and, more importantly,
the determination of the overall direction of the Group since
1985. The Board considers that having Mr. Cheng acting as
both our chairman and chief executive officer provides strong
and consistent leadership to our Group and facilitate the
efficient execution of our business strategies. Also, the Board
considers there are adequate safeguards in place to ensure
sufficient balance of powers within the Board, such as major
issues affecting the operations of the Company are made in
consultation with experienced and high caliber Directors in
regular Board meetings, the delegation of authorities to the
management and the supervision of the management by the
members of the Board and the relevant Board committees.
Having considered the factors mentioned above, the Board
considers Mr. Cheng is the best candidate for both positions
and the present arrangements are beneficial and in the
interest of the Group and the Shareholders as a whole.
The Board will continue to review and consider segregating
the roles of the chairman and chief executive officer at an
appropriate time, taking into account the circumstances of
the Group as a whole.
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MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding
Directors’ securities transactions on terms no less exacting
than the required standard indicated by the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the
“Model Code”) as set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing
Rules.

All Directors have confirmed, following specific enquiry by
the Company, that they have complied with the required
standard set out in the Model Code adopted by the
Company during FY2024.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Roles and Responsibilities

The Company is headed by an effective Board which
oversees the Group’s businesses, strategic decisions and
performance and takes decisions objectively in the best
interests of the Company. The Board directly and indirectly
through its committees, leads and provides direction to the
management by laying down strategies and overseeing their
implementation by the management. The Board monitors the
operating and financial performance of the Group, reviews
the internal control policies of the Group, and ensures that
effective governance and sound internal control and risk
management systems are in place.

The Board regularly review the contribution required from a
Director to perform his responsibilities to the Company, and
whether the Director is spending sufficient time performing
them.

All Directors have full and timely access to all the information
of the Company and may, upon request, seek independent
professional advice in appropriate circumstances at the
Company’s expenses for discharging their duties to the
Company. The Directors shall disclose to the Company
details of other offices held by them.
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The Board reserves for its decision all major matters relating
to policy setting, strategies and budgets, internal control
and risk management, material transactions (in particular
those that may involve conflict of interests), financial
information, appointment of directors and other significant
operational matters of the Company. Responsibilities relating
to implementing decisions of the Board, directing and
coordinating the daily operation and management of the
Company are delegated to the management.

Board Composition

The Board currently comprises nine Directors, consisting of
six executive Directors and three independent non-executive
Directors, whose biographical information set out in the
section headed “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management” of this annual report. The composition of the
Board is as follow:

Executive Directors

Mr. CHENG Wan Wai, m+H (Chairman)
Mr. YEUNG Keng Wu Kenneth

Ms. LIU Shuk Yu Sanny

Mr. CHAN Wang Tao Thomas

Ms. HUI Li Kwan

Mr. MAK Chin Pang

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. CHAN Hiu Fung Nicholas, BB8S, MH, JP
Prof. CHENG Man Chung Daniel, BBS, MH, JP
Mr. NG Shung, JpP (Australia)

All Directors, including independent non-executive Directors,
have brought a wide spectrum of valuable business
experience, knowledge and professionalism to the Board
for its efficient and effective functioning. The independent
non-executive Directors are responsible for ensuring a
high standard of regulatory reporting of the Company and
providing a balance in the Board for bringing effective
independent judgement on corporate actions and operations.
The independent non-executive Directors will also be able to
provide an impartial, external opinion to protect the interests
of our public Shareholders.

38 QP GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED &8 &EZERERAHE

EEe R EREMAEBESE K
REE REZHEEBREE BAX
H(LERFPRNGBERE)  BHEEHR -
ZEEERARFEMEREEERTES
ANEARFE BRARTEFITRR
EERBAARRAFEEREENE
FERITHRTERRE -

EEEHANK
EE2HAABNUESE  BEARLUNR
TEFUR-NUBIFNTEST BE
EREHBERAFRIEZTNSRER
BEE| & ZEZFGHAKMT:

HITESE
BIBELE  wz2ps(FE)
BEE Mt
B2z 4
BR 7= 38 55 £
HRMELZL
EEMELE

BIKEHITESE

BREEIE A e mes 4855 L Fa+
B IR - s Es  SEHE LT+
RELE  AFmL(RAFT)

EREF(BERBIUNNTEFT)IORE
ZEETKRERTANEEXHLER A
BREE EEASMMNEBEE - B
VHHATEFRERRARAESEE
MEERSES YTHREXTHREERED
ERBILHAE  REFSHRYE B
VIEMITESMARBALENINLER
REQRBRRNEE -



Throughout the reporting period, the Board had at all times
met the requirements of the Listing Rules relating to the
appointment of at least three independent non-executive
directors representing at least one-third of the Board
with one of whom possessing appropriate professional
qualifications or accounting or related financial management
expertise.

The Company has received written annual confirmation from
each of the independent non-executive Directors in respect
of his independence in accordance with the independence
guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. Based
on such confirmations, the Company is of the view that all
independent non-executive Directors are independent during
the reporting period.

The Group has mechanisms in place to ensure independent
views and input are available to the Board. Directors are
required to annually submit an anonymous questionnaire on
relevant independent matters in relation to contributions of
independent non-executive Directors. Such questionnaire
encourages Directors to share suggestions, provide
comments and raise any concerns regarding independent
matters. The results of such questionnaire are discussed
in Nomination Committee meeting and Board meeting. The
Board has a balanced composition of executive Directors
and independent non-executive Directors that underpins
a strong independent element on the Board and brings
independent views and input from Directors. None of the
independent non-executive Directors receives equity-based
remuneration with performance-related elements. Directors
(including independent non-executive Directors) may request
for further information from senior management on the
matters to be discussed at Board meetings and Board
Committees meetings. External independent professional
advice is also available to all Directors whenever necessary.
The implementation and effectiveness of the aforementioned
mechanisms were reviewed by the Board during the
reporting period.

Save for Mr. Cheng Wan Wai and Ms. Hui Li Kwan who
are the spouse of each other, there is no other relationship
(including financial, business, family or other material/relevant
relationship) among members of the Board.
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Board Meetings and Directors’ Attendance
Records

The Board is scheduled to meet regularly at least four times
a year at approximately quarterly intervals. Such Board
meetings involve the active participation, either in person
or through other electronic means of communication, of a
majority of Directors. Notices of not less than fourteen days
will be given for all regular board meetings to provide all
Directors with an opportunity to attend and include matters
in the agenda for regular board meetings.

During FY2024, four Board meetings were held at regular
at which the Directors approved, among other
things, (i) the annual results of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2023, (ii) the interim results for the six months
ended 30 June 2024, and (iii) the distribution of dividends
as well as discussed the overall strategy, business progress,
operation updates, corporate governance matters, quarterly
results and other matters.

interval,

The attendance records of each Director at the Board, Board
committee meetings and annual general meeting (“AGM”)
during the financial year are set out in the table below:

Audit

Name of Directors Board  Committee
Enzae

Mr. CHENG Wan Wai (Chaimman) UREAE(ZE) 44 -
Mr. YEUNG Keng Wu Kenneth BREREE 34 -
Ms. LIU Shuk Yu Sanny BRmkL 44 -
Mr. CHAN Wang Tao Thomas REELE 44 -
Ms. HUI Li Kwan FHAERT 44 -
Mr. MAK Chin Pang RREAE 4/4 -
Mr. CHAN Hiu Fung Nicholas REELE 44 22
Prof. CHENG Man Chung Daniel BBAR 3/4 112
Mr. NG Shung RE%E 44 202

EXCERRESHELRE
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Apart from Board meetings, the Chairman also held a
meeting with the independent non-executive Directors
without the presence of other Directors during the financial
year.

Appointment and Re-election of Directors

Each of the Directors has entered into a service agreement
or a letter of appointment with the Company for a specific
term and is subject to termination provisions therein and
provisions on retirement by rotation of Directors as set out in
the Articles.

At any time or from time to time, the Board shall have the
power to appoint any person as a Director either to fill a
casual vacancy on the Board or as an additional Director
to the existing Board subject to any maximum number of
Directors, if any, as may be determined by the Shareholders
in general meeting. Any Director so appointed to fill a casual
vacancy shall hold office only until the first general meeting
of the Company after his appointment and be subject to
re-election at such meeting. Any Director so appointed as
an addition to the existing Board shall hold office only until
the first AGM of the Company after his appointment and
be eligible for re-election at such meeting. Any Director so
appointed by the Board shall not be taken into account in
determining the Directors or the number of Directors who are
to retire by rotation at an AGM.

At each AGM, one third of the Directors for the time being
shall retire from office by rotation. However, if the number of
Directors is not a multiple of three, then the number nearest
to but not less than one third shall be the number of retiring
Directors. The Directors to retire in each year shall be those
who have been in office longest since their last re-election or
appointment but, as between persons who became or were
last re-elected Directors on the same day, those to retire
shall (unless they otherwise agree among themselves) be
determined by lot.
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No person, other than a retiring Director, unless
recommended by the Board for election, be eligible for
election to the office of Director at any general meeting,
unless notice in writing of the intention to propose that
person for election as a Director and notice in writing by that
person of his willingness to be elected has been lodged at
the head office or at the registration office of the Company.
The period for lodgment of such notices shall commence
no earlier than the day after despatch of the notice of the
relevant general meeting and end no later than seven days
before the date of such general meeting and the minimum
length of the period during which such notices to the
Company may be lodged must be at least seven days.

shall,

Continuous Professional Development of
Directors

Directors shall keep abreast of regulatory developments and
changes in order to effectively perform their responsibilities
and to ensure that their contribution to the Board remains
informed and relevant. The Directors are encouraged
to participate in appropriate continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and
skills. Internally-facilitated briefings for Directors would be
arranged and reading materials on relevant topics would be
provided to Directors where appropriate.

Every newly appointed Director shall receive a formal and
comprehensive induction on the first occasion of his/her
appointment to ensure appropriate understanding of the
business and operations of the Company and full awareness
of Director’s responsibilities and obligations under the Listing
Rules and relevant statutory requirements. Such induction
shall be supplemented by visits to the Company’s key plant
sites and meetings with senior management of the Company.

Prior to the Listing, all Directors have been given the training
regarding the directors’ duties and responsibilities, corporate
governance and regulatory updates and relevant reading
materials including compliance manual/legal and regulatory
updates/seminar handouts have been provided to the
Directors for their reference and studying.

During the financial year, our legal adviser has provided an
training and relevant materials to all Directors on continuous
professional development for directors.
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The current Board members have participated in the IREIEFEXERFRADTLXMA N
following training programmes during the year: BH :

Types of training
i
Reading materials
relating to general

Attending business, regulatory
training organised updates on listing rules
Name of Directors by our legal adviser and board practices
HEER-RERK.
SMBBERNEERER InRARESEEAN
EHHEA BHEEER
Executive Directors HTES
Mr. CHENG Wan Wai (Chairman) BEERE(ERE) v/ /
Mr. YEUNG Keng Wu Kenneth BEALE / /
Ms. LIU Shuk Yu Sanny BEfmzt / v
Mr. CHAN Wang Tao Thomas REBLE / /
Ms. HUI Li Kwan FHELT v/ /
Mr. MAK Chin Pang ERELE / /
Independent non-executive Directors  BIXHTEE
Mr. CHAN Hiu Fung Nicholas REgfE / /
Prof. CHENG Man Chung Daniel BXEHE / /
Mr. NG Shung REEHE v/ /
BOARD COMMITTEES BEEXZET
The Board has established four committees, namely, the E=Z@D XK VNEZES BIEXEZE
audit committee, remuneration committee, nomination € - HHEZE e - IELZEeLEABLE
committee and risk management committee, for overseeing EZEE  UEEAQNFEHKHEEERD -
particular aspects of the Company’s affairs. All Board ZARARMEEEZESHEIHEE H‘&
committees of the Company are established with specific & E @ ERFARS 2R LB S
written terms of reference which deal clearly with their EEZZE€MBESHETIE RN AL A ﬁﬁ
authority and duties. The terms of reference of the Board Ui NMEEXZFr48uh WoJE BRER R E

committees are posted on the Company’s website and the & °
Stock Exchange’s website and are available to Shareholders
upon request.
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Audit Committee

The audit committee of the Company (“Audit Committee”)
consists of three independent non-executive Directors,
namely Mr. NG Shung, Mr. CHAN Hiu Fung Nicholas and
Prof. CHENG Man Chung Daniel, and is chaired by Mr. NG
Shung who has appropriate professional qualifications,
accounting and related financial management expertise as
required under Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules.

Under its terms of reference, the primary duties of the Audit
Committee are to (i) make recommendations to the Board
on the appointment and removal of the external auditor; (i)
review the financial statements of the Group and monitoring
the integrity of such financial statements; (iii) oversee the
financial reporting, risk management and internal control
systems of the Group; and (iv) oversee and manage the
relationship with external auditors.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Audit
Committee held two meetings to (i) review the audited annual
results and annual report for the year ended 31 December
2023; (i) review the unaudited interim results and interim
report for the six-month ended 30 June 2024; (iii) review
the remuneration, terms of engagement, the relationship,
and independence of the Group’s external auditor; and
(iv) monitor the effectiveness of the internal audit function
by reviewing the internal audit programme and the major
investigation findings. The Audit Committee also met the
external auditor once without the presence of the executive
Directors.

The Company’s consolidated financial statements for the
year ended 31 December 2024 have been reviewed by the
Audit Committee. The Audit Committee considered that
the relevant financial statements have been prepared in
compliance with the applicable accounting principles and
requirements of the Stock Exchange and disclosures have
been fully made.
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Remuneration Committee

The remuneration committee of the Company
(“Remuneration Committee”) comprises three
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. CHAN Hiu
Fung Nicholas, Prof. CHENG Man Chung Daniel and Mr. NG
Shung and one executive Director, namely Mr. MAK Chin
Pang, and is chaired by Mr. CHAN Hiu Fung Nicholas.

Under its terms of reference, the primary duties of the
Remuneration Committee are to review and determine
the terms of remuneration packages, bonuses and other
compensation payable to Directors and senior management
of our Group.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Remuneration
Committee held one meeting to (i) review the remuneration
policy of the Group; (ii) assess the performance of
executive Directors with reference to the corporate goals
and objectives; (iii) review the remuneration packages of
executive Directors and senior management of the Group;
and (iv) make recommendations to the Board on respective
remuneration packages.

Details of the remuneration of the Company’s Directors
and five highest paid individuals are set out in note 9 to the
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2024.

The range of remuneration of the senior management are as
follows:

Range of Remuneration

HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000

s E
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Nomination Committee

The nomination committee of the Company (“Nomination
Committee”) comprises three independent non-executive
Directors, namely Prof. CHENG Man Chung Daniel, Mr.
CHAN Hiu Fung Nicholas and Mr. NG Shung and one
executive Director, namely MAK Chin Pang, and is chaired by
Prof. CHENG Man Chung Daniel.

Under its terms of reference, the primary duties of the
Nomination Committee are to make recommendations to our
Board on the appointment and removal of our Directors. In
assessing the Board composition, the Nomination Committee
would take into account various aspects as well as factors
concerning Board diversity as set out in the Company’s
Board diversity policy. The Nomination Committee would
discuss and agree on measurable objectives for achieving
and maintaining diversity on the Board, where necessary,
and recommend them to the Board for adoption.

Pursuant to Director nomination policy of the Group, the
Nomination Committee will recommend to the Board for the
appointment and reappointment of Directors in accordance
with the following selection criteria, procedures and process:

() The Nomination Committee shall consider the following
factors when nominating potential candidates for the
appointment and reappointment of Directors:

o whether the individual’s educational background
and qualification, skills and experience are relevant
to the Company’s business model and specific
needs;

° the individual’s character and reputation for
integrity;

° whether the individual would be able to devote
sufficient time to the Board;
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° In respect of appointment and reappointment of
independent non-executive Directors, to consider
the independence of the individual with reference
to the independence criteria set out in Rule 3.13 of
the Listing Rules;

° how the individual would be able to contribute to
the diversity of the Board with reference to the
factors set out in the Board diversity policy of the
Company from time to time in force; and

o Board succession planning considerations.

(i)  The Board or the Nomination Committee shall deploy
such channel(s) for identifying suitable director
candidates as it deems appropriate, including
but not limited to referrals from existing Directors,
Shareholders, advisers and third party agency firms and
advertisements.

(i) The Nomination Committee shall adopt such process as
it deems appropriate in evaluating the suitability of the
potential candidates, such as interviews, background
checks and third party reference checks, and select or
make recommendations to the Board on the selection
of individuals to be nominated for directorships based
on the selection criteria set out in paragraph (i) above.

(iv) The ultimate responsibility for the selection and
appointment of Directors shall rest with the entire
Board.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Nomination
Committee held one meeting to (i) review the structure, size
and composition of the Board; (i) make recommendations
to the Board on the re-appointment of Directors; (iii) assess
the independence of independent non-executive Directors;
and (iv) review its own performance, constitution and terms
of reference and recommend any changes if considers
necessary to the Board for approval.
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Risk Management Committee

The risk management committee of the Company (“Risk
Management Committee”) comprises three independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. CHAN Hiu Fung
Nicholas, Prof. CHENG Man Chung Daniel and Mr. NG Shung
and one executive Director, namely Mr. Mak Chin Pang, and
is chaired by Mr. Mak Chin Pang.

Under its terms of reference, the primary duties of the
Risk Management Committee include, but are not limited
to, the following: (i) reviewing the risk management and
internal control systems of the Group and ensure that the
management has performed its duties to establish effective
systems; (ii) formulating risk policies and standards; (iii)
reviewing the material risk exposures of the Group; (iv)
reviewing annually the changes in nature and extent of
significant risks; (v) reviewing annually the scope and quality
of management’s ongoing monitoring of risk management
systems; (vi) reviewing the Directors’ decisions on entering
into hedge arrangements; (vii) reviewing the effectiveness
of the hedge policy; and (viii) providing recommendations
to the Board on the hedge policy, where appropriate and if
necessary.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Risk
Management Committee held two meetings to monitor the
risk management and internal control systems by reviewing
major investigation findings on risk management and internal
control matters and response from management to these
findings.

Board Diversity Policy

In order to enhance the effectiveness of our Board and to
maintain the high standard of corporate governance, we have
adopted the Board diversity policy which is available on the
Company’s website. It sets out the measurable objectives
to achieve and maintain diversity of our Board. Pursuant
to the Board diversity policy, we seek to achieve Board
diversity through the consideration of a number of factors
when selecting the candidates to our Board, including but
not limited to gender, skills, age, professional experience,
knowledge, cultural, education background, ethnicity and
length of service. The ultimate decision of the appointment
will be based on merit and the contribution which the
selected candidates will bring to our Board.

48 QP GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED &8 &EZERERAH

EREEZERES
ARrERERZES((RREEERS))
M=ZRBUFRATEETRBEELRL X
NBHREREEEUNR-ZATES
BRBSAETEKR YHERBEEEE
EE e

BEBESHE RREEZETHNETE
BEREEARY) (I FHAEERNE
SEBERANSLEERS IREREERE
EETEBREUETEROERL (i)
TERBBRERZE: (IZEHAEENE
ARBHA: (VVEFEHERNRRD
HHEELNEL WVEFEHNETERE
HEBREERZRFETHBEEE CHEM
BE ViBEHESELHPLHEZIRTE
(vil) 25 B ¥9 R BUSR 2 B R (vil) i E
BEVEMBRT MESSREFHY
SRR 2B o

REBEE-ZT-_NF+-_A=+—HItFE -
EREEZEGRTTMAERE BiA
EERBEERADBEHSTENEKRA
BEHEREUANLEBEYZSHERNEE -
REERBEBEMANDPEIT RS

EEEZNBE
RESEFENRELAEFSEEER
KFE - ERFCHEMEETEZTIERE
HENARA P S EBRGEHE
LM AAERR - REEFS
ZTEBRE RABEERBEESEEA
EREZEZHEANEZMARENEZES
Tt B BFEEIRRER - BKEE -
Fie FEERLR AR Xt #EE
B BEARGEH ZENRMERE
BREAEEREZHRANLREEAR
HRAEFSHRNERMRE



The Nomination Committee is responsible for ensuring
the diversity of our Board members and review the
implementation and effectiveness of the Board diversity
policy on an annual basis.

Our Directors have a balanced mix of knowledge and skills,
including, strategies and management planning, human
resources, administration, training, business development,
sales, material development, procurement, accounting and
corporate finance, engineering, information technology
and legal compliance. As at the date of this annual report,
the Board comprised nine Directors, including seven male
Directors and two female Directors with different appropriate
skills, knowledge and experience to promote and achieve
better performance of the Group. Three of them are
independent non-executive Directors with different industry
backgrounds, representing one third of the members of
our Board. We will continue to take steps to promote
gender diversity at all levels of the Company, including but
not limited to the Board and the management levels. The
Company targets to avoid a single gender Board and will
timely review the gender diversity of the Board in accordance
with the business development of the Group. Besides,
gender diversity is considered to be one of essential factors
for the Company to select suitable candidate as a Director in
the future. Taking into account our existing business model
and specific needs as well as the different background of our
directors, the composition of our Board satisfies our Board
diversity policy.
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As at the date of this annual report, the Board’s diversified

composition was summarised as follows:

Gender

E3:])

Age
Fie

As at 31 December 2024 the Group had a total of 2,976
employees (including senior management). 1,650 of them
are males (55%) and 1,326 of them are females (45%).
The Board is satisfied with the gender diversity of the
employees. Although the Group agrees to facilitate gender
balance across the workforce, we do not intend to set any
gender diversity measurable objectives given that staff
recruitment is mainly based on the needs of the Group and
we are committed to providing equal opportunities in staff
recruitment process.

Corporate Governance Functions

The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out
in the code provision in the CG Code.
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During the reporting period, the Board, through the Audit
Committee, had reviewed the Company’s corporate
governance policies and practices, the training and
continuous professional development of Directors and senior
management, the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements, the code
of conduct and compliance manual applicable to employees
and directors and the Company’s compliance with the CG
Code and disclosure in this corporate governance report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROLS

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the risk
management and internal control systems and reviewing
their effectiveness. Such systems are designed to manage
rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute
assurance against material misstatement or loss.

In order to ensure the internal control system operate
effectively, the Company has adopted a series of internal
control policies, procedures and self-assessments designed
to provide reasonable assurance for achieving objectives
including effective and efficient operations, reliable
financial reporting and compliance with applicable laws
and regulations. The Board reviews the risk management
and internal controls annually. Highlights of the Company’s
internal control system include the following:

Code of conduct — Our code of conduct explicitly communicates
to each employee our values, acceptable criteria for decision-
making and our ground rules for behavior.

Internal audit — Our Group has its own internal audit team
which regularly monitors key controls and procedures in
order to assure our management and the Board of Directors
that the internal control system is functioning as intended.
The internal audit department carries out an annual risk
assessment on each identified audit area and revised an
annual audit plan according to the nature of business and
risk exposures. The audit plan is reviewed and agreed by
the Audit Committee. In addition to the agreed schedule of
work, the internal audit department conducts other review
and investigation work as may be required. The internal audit
department is also responsible for following up corrective
actions to ensure that satisfactory controls are maintained.
The Audit Committee receives summary reports from the
internal audit department periodically while the results of
internal audit reviews and responses to the recommended
corrective actions are also reported to the executive
Directors.
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Compliance with Listing Rules — QOur various policies aim
to ensure compliance with the Listing Rules, including but
not limited to aspects related to corporate governance,
connected transactions and securities transactions by the
Directors.

Enhanced internal control procedures to prevent the
occurrence of non-compliance incidents — The Company
also adopted a number of enhanced internal control
procedures to prevent the occurrence of non-compliance
incidents.

We have established a set of risk management policies and
measures to identify, evaluate and manage risks arising from
our operations. Our risk management process starts with
identifying the major risks associated with our corporate
strategy, goals and objectives. Each of our operating
departments is responsible for identifying and analysing risks
associated with its function, maintaining a comprehensive
risk register,
effectiveness of such risk mitigation plans and reporting
the status of risk management. Our Risk Management
Committee, Audit Committee and ultimately the Board
supervise the implementation of our risk management
policy at the corporate level by bringing together each
operating department, such as quality control, research and
development and sales, to collaborate on risk issues among
different functions.

preparing risk mitigation plans, measuring

The Board, through the Risk Management Committee and
Audit Committee, conducted an annual review of both design
and implementation effectiveness of the risk management
and internal control systems of the Group, which covered
all material controls including financial, operational and
compliance control for the year ended 31 December 2024.
Such annual review was done with a view to ensuring the
Group’s resources, staff qualifications and experience,
training programmes and budget of the Group’s accounting,
internal control and financial reporting functions are
adequate. The Directors satisfied and confirmed that the risk
management and internal control systems were effective and
adequate.
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HANDLING AND DISSEMINATION OF
INSIDE INFORMATION

The Group regulates the handling and dissemination of inside
information to ensure inside information remains confidential
until the disclosure of such information is appropriately
approved, and the dissemination of such information is
efficiently and consistently made. The Group is committed
to ensure that information contained in announcements
are not false or misleading as to a material fact, or false or
misleading through the omission of a material fact in view of
disclosure of inside information in a balanced, adequate and
effective way.

The Group sets out written guidelines and procedures to the
employees or directors of the Group, while the employees or
directors of the Group undertake to ensure inside information
of the Group is not to be disseminated to the public unless
the Board decides such information is regarded as inside
information and requires disclosure in accordance with
the Listing Rules and the Securities and Future Ordinance.
Measures are in place to preserve the confidentiality of inside
information and to ensure that its recipients recognise their
obligations to maintain its confidentiality. In communicating
with external parties, only designated officers are authorised
to respond to enquiries in allocated areas of issues. The
written guidelines and procedures will be subject to be
reviewed by the Company as and when it thinks appropriate.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY
IN RESPECT OF THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing
the financial statements of the Company for the year ended
31 December 2024.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties
relating to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue as a going
concern.
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The statement of the independent auditors of the Company
about their reporting responsibilities on the financial
statements is set out in the section of “Independent Auditor’s
Report” of this annual report.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The remuneration paid/payable to the Company’s external
auditor, PricewaterhouseCoopers, in respect of audit
services and non-audit services for the year ended 31
December 2024 amounted to approximately HK$2,329,000
and approximately HK$490,000 respectively, details of which
are set out below:

ENNCIE - BVRS S SRR e N
LHEBETZBEARRAFRIBLZR

Bh¥R &S] —& -

EET NS
RBEE_T-_NMFF+_A=+—HLF
B BEZRBEEIEBEZRBEN &
A2 B 5N BE A% B AT 28 = B oK B AT AD
=AM £ 5 5l & %2,329,000% T &
#7490,000/8 7T * FHIBEWT :

Fees Paid/

Payable

Service Category BB %5 %8 5l B ENEA

HK$’000

FHET

Audit Services EZR® 2,329
Non-audit services (mainly represented interim FEZRE (EEEE LR KE

review and taxation services provided by I S ) /N
PricewaterhouseCoopers and its affiliates) REPEERN RN GRS 490
Total 45T 2,819

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. WONG Hung Pan has been appointed as the company
secretary of the Company (the “Company Secretary”).
He is an employee of the Group and have day-to-day
knowledge of the issuer’s affairs. His biography is set out in
the section of “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management” of this annual report.

All Directors have access to the advice and services of
the Company Secretary on corporate governance and
Board process. For the year ended 31 December 2024, the
Company Secretary had attended not less than 15 hours of
relevant professional training as required under Rule 3.29 of
the Listing Rules.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

The Company engages with Shareholders through various
communication channels. To safeguard Shareholders’
interests and rights, separate resolution should be proposed
for each substantially separate issue at general meetings,
including the election of individual Director. All resolutions
put forward at general meetings will be voted on by poll
pursuant to the Listing Rules and poll results will be posted
on the websites of the Company and of the Stock Exchange
after each general meeting.

Convening an Extraordinary General Meeting
by the Shareholders

Pursuant to Article 64 of the Company’s amended and
restated memorandum and articles of association (the
“Articles”), the Board may whenever it thinks fit, convene
an extraordinary general meeting (‘EGM”). EGM shall also
be convened on the requisition of one or more Shareholders
holding, at the date of deposit of the requisition, not less
than one tenth of the paid up capital of the Company having
the right of voting at general meetings. Such requisition shall
be made in writing to the Board or the Company Secretary
for the purpose of requiring an EGM to be called by the
Board for the transaction of any business specified in such
requisition. Such meeting shall be held within two months
after the deposit of such requisition. If within 21 days of such
deposit, the Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting,
the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so in the
same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.
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Putting Forward Proposals at General
Meetings

A Shareholder shall make a written requisition to the Board
or the Company Secretary at the principal place of business
in Hong Kong of the Company at 21/F, Kings Wing Plaza 2,
No. 1 On Kwan Street, Shek Mun, Shatin, New Territories,
Hong Kong, specifying the shareholding information of the
Shareholder, his/her contact details and the proposal he/
she intends to put forward at general meeting regarding
any specified transaction/business and its supporting
documents.

Putting Forward Enquiries to the Board

Shareholders have the right to put forward enquiries to the
Board at general meeting or send written enquiries to the
Company. The Company will not normally deal with verbal or
anonymous enquiries.

Shareholders may send their enquiries or requests as
mentioned above to the following:

Address:  21/F, Kings Wing Plaza 2, No. 1 On Kwan Street, Shek
Mun, Shatin, New Territories, Hong Kong

(For the attention of the Board/Company
Secretary)

For the avoidance of doubt, Shareholders must deposit and
send the original duly signed written requisition, notice or
statement, or enquiry (as the case may be) to the above
address and provide their full name, contact details and
identification in order to give effect thereto. Shareholders’
information may be disclosed as required by law.
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Procedures for Shareholders to Propose
a Person for Election as a Director of the
Company

The Company adopts a formal, considered and transparent
procedure for Shareholders to propose a person for election
as a Director of the Company. The following procedures are
subject to the Articles, the Companies Law of the Cayman
Islands and applicable legislation and regulation:

° If a Shareholder, who is entitled to attend and vote
at the general meeting convened to deal with the
appointment or election of Director(s), wishes to
propose a person (other than himself/herself) for
election as a Director at that meeting, he/she may
lodge a written notice with the Company Secretary
at 21/F, Kings Wing Plaza 2, 1 On Kwan Street, Shek
Mun, Shatin, New Territories, Hong Kong.

° In order for the Company to inform all Shareholders
of that proposal, the written notice must state (i) his/
her intention to propose such person for election as
a Director, and (ii) the biographical details of such
nominated candidate as required under Rule 13.51(2)
of the Listing Rules for publication by the Company
and be signed by the Shareholder concerned and the
person who has been proposed indicating his/her
willingness to be elected.

o The period for lodgement of the above notice shall
be a seven-day (7) period commencing on a day
after the despatch of the notice of the general
meeting appointed for such election of Director(s).
If the Directors should determine and notify the
Shareholders of a different period for lodgement of
the above notice, such period shall in any event be a
period of not less than seven (7) days, commencing
no earlier than the day after the despatch of the notice
of the general meeting appointed for such election and
ending no later than seven (7) days prior to the date of
such general meeting.
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° Upon receipt of the above notice from a Shareholder
which is received after publication of the notice of
general meeting, the Company shall, prior to the
general meeting, publish an announcement or issue
a supplementary circular disclosing the particulars of
the proposed Director pursuant to Rule 13.51(2) of the
Listing Rules.

Shareholders who have enquiries regarding the above
procedures may write to the Company Secretary at 21/F,
Kings Wing Plaza 2, 1 On Kwan Street, Shek Mun, Shatin,
New Territories, Hong Kong.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
AND INVESTORS/INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company’s website (www.gpp.com) provides
comprehensive and accessible news and information of
the Company to the Shareholders, other stakeholders
and investors. The Company will also update the website
information from time to time to inform Shareholders and
investors of the latest development of the Company.

The Company considers that effective communication with
Shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and
investor understanding of the Group’s business performance
and strategies. The Company is endeavours to maintain
an on-going dialogue with Shareholders and in particular,
through AGM and other general meetings. At the AGM,
Directors (or their delegates as appropriate) are available to
meet Shareholders and answer their enquiries.

Shareholders’ Communication Policy

The Company has in place a Shareholders’ communication
policy to ensure that Shareholders’ views and concerns
are appropriately addressed. The Board has reviewed the
implementation of shareholders’ communication policy and
is satisfied that it has been effective for the Company to
communicate with Shareholders through available channels.

58 QP GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED &8 &EZERERAHE

e WRBRRAREES N BEREE K
RER L@ KRF# AR
BRAEERITH > RIFELETHRAS
1B51QGRMRER K EAMERZ
HREEEEREABAER  FHA
THMITBE -

RS EdiEFMARER - A BK QA
WE  wiu RFBFAY BAPILEE
5 R i B I52H2148 o

ERRRREEBR REXE
BA &

NN B AR UE (www.qpp.com) A i% B~ Efth
FlamHEEREEEREEEARAAF 2
ZERITNEHEEREN - AQF N
BIAREFHAUBLER  UBARERE
BEBBARRZEZNER -

ARAFRE - BRI A BB B E IR
REFBRMAREEFTHEAKEENE
BRANKBEUHER - AAFIE A
BRERFEYHE LEREBRREA
FAEREMERAGEFRE - RIRR
BFEAREL BEFGEEAKRWER)
RELERREmMTLERFEZEN -

fiR 3R AR R
ARREHEBRRBABEK  BRZE
BREBRRNEEANEL EFECEH
BRBFABRRNERBER  LHEELR
AR AREERRETHEYER


http://www.qpp.com

Constitutional Documents

During the year ended 31 December 2024, there was no
change in the Company’s constitutional documents.

Dividend Policy

The Company has adopted a dividend policy on payment
of dividends. Our Directors may recommend a payment
of dividends after taking into account, among others,
our operations and earnings, capital requirements and
surplus, general financial condition, contractual restrictions,
capital expenditure and future development requirements,
Shareholders’ interests and other factors which they may
deem relevant at such time. We expect to pay a dividend in
respect of each financial year of not less than 30% of our
distributable profits each year. The payment and amounts of
dividends, if any, depend on our results of operations, cash
flows, financial position, statutory and regulatory restrictions
on the dividends paid by us, future prospects and other
factors which we consider relevant. Holders of our Shares
will be entitled to receive such dividends pro rata according
to the amounts paid up or credited as paid up on the
shares. The declaration, payment and amount of dividends
will be subject to our discretion. The proposed payment of
dividends is also subject to the absolute discretion of the
Board and any declaration of final dividend for the year will
be subject to the approval of our Shareholders. The Board
will review the dividend policy on an annual basis.

Any distributable profits that are not distributed in any
given year will be retained and available for distribution in
subsequent years. To the extent profits are distributed as
dividends, such portion of profits will not be available to be
reinvested in our operations.
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DIRECTORS

The Board herein presents their report and the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2024.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
The principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in Note
14 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group’s results for the year ended 31 December 2024
are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income on page 146.

The Board recommended the declaration of a final
dividend at the rate of HK11.0 cents per share amounting
to approximately HK$58.5 million for the year ended 31
December 2024, which is expected to be paid on or around
Wednesday, 25 June 2025 to all persons registered as
holders of shares of the Company on Wednesday, 18 June
2025, subject to the approval of the Shareholders at the
AGM to be held on Friday, 6 June 2025.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the Group’s business during the year, a
discussion on the prospect of the Group’s future business
development, a description of the principal risks and
uncertainties that the Group may be facing are provided
in the sections headed “Chairman’s Statement” and
“Management Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report.

The financial risk management objectives and policies of
the Group are shown in Note 3 to the consolidated financial
statements.

An analysis of the Group’s performance during the year
using financial key performance indicators is provided in
the sections headed “Chairman’s Statement”, “Management
Discussion and Analysis”, “Financial Highlights” and
“Financial Summary” of this annual report.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

As a socially responsible corporation, the Group has
endeavoured to strictly comply with laws and regulations
regarding environmental protection. The Company
recognises the importance of environmental protection.
The Company is committed to providing an eco-friendly
energy environment for our staff and has developed energy
conservation and carbon reduction policy so as to minimise
negative environmental impacts. The details are set out in
the section headed “Environmental, Social and Governance
Report” of this annual report.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

During the financial year, as far as the Company is aware,
there was no material breach of or non-compliance with
applicable laws and regulations by our Group that has a
significant impact on the business and operations of the
Group.

RELATIONSHIP WITH STAKEHOLDERS

We fully understand that employees, customers and vendors,
and other stakeholders (together “Stakeholders”) are
the key to our sustainable and stable development. We
are committed to maintaining a good relationship with our
Stakeholders so as to ensure our continuing development.

The Group regarded our staff as the most valuable
assets of the Company. The Group is providing a fair and
harmonious workplace where individuals with diverse
cultural backgrounds are treated equally. The Group offer
a reasonable remuneration package and fair opportunities
for career advancement based on employees’ performance.
The Group also provides our staff with different training,
including on-the-job training and training courses provided
by professional organisations in order to enhance our staff’s
career progression.

The Group believes that our vendors (including subcontractors)
are equally important in business operation and
development. We proactively communicate with our vendors
to ensure they are committed to delivering high-quality and
sustainable output.
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results, assets and liabilities of the Group
for each of the last five financial years is set out in the
section headed “Financial Summary” of this annual report.
This summary does not form part of the audited consolidated
financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment
of the Group during the year ended 31 December 2024 are
set out in Note 15 to the consolidated financial statements.

DONATIONS

Charitable and other donations made by the Group
during the year ended 31 December 2024 amounted to
approximately HK$267,000 (2023: HK$357,000).

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for the share option scheme of the Company adopted
on 20 December 2019 (“Share Option Scheme”), no
equity-linked agreements were entered into by the Group, or
existed during the year ended 31 December 2024.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the Company’s share capital
during the year ended 31 December 2024 are set out in Note
16 to the consolidated financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Articles or the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands which
would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata
basis to existing Shareholders unless otherwise as required
by the Stock Exchange.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
LISTED SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY
During the year ended 31 December 2024, neither the

Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

The Company may pay dividends out of share premium,
retained earnings and other reserves. As at 31 December
2024, the Company’s reserve available for distribution
amounted to approximately HK$143.3 million.

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company during
the year are set out in Note 35 to the consolidated financial
statements of this annual report.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS, SUPPLIERS AND
SUBCONTRACTORS

During the year ended 31 December 2024, sales to the
Group’s five largest customers accounted for approximately
62.8% of the total sales for the year and sales to the largest
customer included therein amounted to approximately 30.1%.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, purchases
from the Group’s five largest suppliers accounted for
approximately 43.2% of the total purchases for the year
and purchase from the largest supplier included therein
amounted to approximately 20.4%.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, subcontracting
fees charged by the Group’s five largest subcontractors
account for approximately 72.4% of the total subcontracting
fees for the year and the subcontracting fee charged by
our largest subcontractor included therein amounted to
approximately 31.0%.

None of the Directors of the Company or any of their
associates or any Shareholders (which, to the best
knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5% of the
Company’s issued share capital) had any beneficial interest
in the Group’s five largest customers, suppliers and
subcontractors during the year ended 31 December 2024.
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BANK BORROWING

Details of the bank borrowing of the Group as at 31
December 2024 are set out in Note 28 to the consolidated
financial statements.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Board is committed to maintaining a high standard
of corporate governance practices. Information on the
corporate governance practices adopted by the Company
is set out in the section headed “Corporate Governance
Report” of this annual report.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For the purpose of determining the qualification as
Shareholders of the Company to attend and vote at the AGM
to be held on Friday, 6 June 2025, the register of members
of the Company will be closed from Tuesday, 3 June 2025 to
Friday, 6 June 2025, both days inclusive, during which period
no transfer of shares will be effected. In order to be eligible
to attend and vote at the AGM, all transfer documents
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be
lodged for registration with the Company’s branch share
registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong, Computershare
Hong Kong Investor Services Limited at Shops 1712-1716,
17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East,
Wanchai, Hong Kong, no later than 4:30 p.m. on Monday, 2
June 2025, being the last share registration date.

For the purpose of determining the entitlement to the
proposed final dividend (subject to the approval of the
Shareholders at the AGM), the register of members of the
Company will be closed from Monday, 16 June 2025 to
Wednesday, 18 June 2025, both days inclusive, during
which period no transfer of shares will be effected. In order
to qualify for the entitlement to the proposed final dividend,
unregistered holders of shares of the Company are required
to lodge all transfer documents accompanied by the relevant
share certificates with the Company’s branch share registrar
in Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services
Limited, at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre,
183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong for registration
not later than 4:30 p.m. on Friday, 13 June 2025.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the reporting period
were:

Executive Directors

Mr. CHENG Wan Wai, m+H (Chairman)
Mr. YEUNG Keng Wu Kenneth

Ms. LIU Shuk Yu Sanny

Mr. CHAN Wang Tao Thomas

Ms. HUI Li Kwan

Mr. MAK Chin Pang

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. CHAN Hiu Fung Nicholas, BBS, MH, JP
Prof. CHENG Man Chung Daniel, B8S, MH, JP
Mr. NG Shung, JpP (Australia)

In accordance with Article 108(a) and (b) of the Articles, Mr.
Chan Hiu Fung Nicholas, Prof. Cheng Man Chung Daniel
and Mr. Ng Shung shall retire by rotation. All of the above
Directors, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election
at the forthcoming AGM. The Company has received
annual confirmations of independence from all independent
non-executive Directors, and still considers them to be
independent as at the date of this annual report.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

Biographical details of the existing Directors of the Company
are set out in section headed “Biographical Details of
Directors and Senior Management” of this annual report.

DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS LIABILITY
INSURANCE

Promoting good corporate governance and managing
enterprise wide risk is a priority of the Company. The
Company convinced that corporate governance and directors
and officers liability insurance (the “D&O Insurance”)
complement each other. The Company has arranged
appropriate D&O Insurance coverage on Directors’ and
officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions against Directors
and senior management arising out from corporate activities.
The D&O Insurance will be reviewed and renewed annually.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the existing executive Directors has been appointed
for a term of three years subject to the provision of retirement
and rotation of directors under the Articles. Either party has
the right to terminate the service agreement by giving not
less than three months’ written notice to other party.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has been
appointed for a term of three years at an annual remuneration
set out in their appointment letters subject to the provision
of retirement and rotation of Directors under the Articles.
Either party has the right to terminate the service agreement
by giving not less than one month’s written notice to other

party.

None of the Directors who are proposed for re-election at
the forthcoming AGM have entered into service contract with
the Company which are not determinable by the Company
within one year without payment of compensation, other than
statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ AND CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN
CONTRACTS

Other than as disclosed in Note 9 and Note 34 to
the consolidated financial statements,
transactions, arrangements and contracts of significance in
relation to the business of the Group to which the Company,
or its holding company, or any of its subsidiaries was a
party and in which a Director or a connected entity of a
Director had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the
year, nor were there any transactions, arrangements or
contracts of significance for the provision of services to
the Company or any of its subsidiaries by a controlling
shareholder (as defined in the Listing Rules) or any of its
subsidiaries for the year. There were also no contracts of
significance between the Company or one of the subsidiaries
and the controlling shareholders or any of its subsidiaries.

there were no
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACT

No contracts concerning the management and administration
of the whole or any substantial part of the business of
the Company (which is not a contract of service with any
Director or any person engaged in the full time employment
of the Company) were entered into or existed during the year.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION
POLICY

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had a total employees
of 2,976 (31 December 2023: 2,677). The Group’s employee
benefit expenses mainly included salaries, over time
payments and discretionary bonuses, other staff benefits
and contributions to retirement schemes. For FY2024,
the total staff costs of the Group (including the Directors’
remuneration) were approximately HK$381.3 million (FY2023:
approximately HK$343.9 million).

The remuneration policy of the Company is reviewed
regularly, making reference primarily to the market conditions
and performance of the Company and individual staff
members (including the Directors). Remuneration packages
include, as the case may be, a basic salary, Director’s
remuneration, contribution to pension schemes, discretionary
bonus relating to the financial performance of our Group
and individual performance. During the reporting period,
the remuneration policy and remuneration packages of
the Directors and senior management are reviewed by the
Remuneration Committee of the Company, with consideration
given in regard to experience, duties and responsibilities,
performance and achievement of the individuals, with
reference to the market condition in relation to the Group’s
performance and profitability.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Articles and subject to the applicable laws
and regulations, every Director shall be indemnified and
secured harmless out of the assets of the Company from
and against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and
expenses which they or any of them shall or may incur or
sustain by reason of any act done, concurred in or omitted
in or omitted in or about the execution of their duty or
supposed duty in their respective offices except such (if any)
as they shall incur or sustain through their own dishonesty,
wilful default or fraud.

During FY2024, the Company has taken out and maintained
appropriate insurance to protect the Directors against
potential costs and liabilities arising from claims brought
against the Directors.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2024, the interests and/or short positions
of the Directors and chief executives of our Company in the
Shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company
and our associated corporations (within the meaning of Part
XV of the Securities and Future Ordinance (“SFO”) which
will be required to be notified to our Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the
SFO (including interests or short positions which they were
taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO)
or which will be required, pursuant to Section 352 of the
SFO, to be entered in the register referred to in that section,
or which will be required, pursuant to the Model Code, to be
notified to our Company and the Stock Exchange, were as
follows:
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(i) Long position in the ordinary shares of (i) 7
the Company

Number of
underlying
Name of Directors and Capacity/ Shares held Percentage of
chief executives nature of interest (tetta ) shareholding
HEMER
i =
EERIETHRABHE S HEHHE ‘ BFRESL
Mr. CHENG Wan Wai Interest in a controlled 310,353,954 (L) 58.34%
corporation®oete 2
BRELE A2 K B R (a2
Mr. YEUNG Keng Wu Kenneth Interest in a controlled 310,353,954 (L) 58.34%
corporation®ete 2
15 8% 8 o A& X2 ] % B R (a2
Ms. LIU Shuk Yu Sanny Interest in a controlled 64,706,046 (L) 12.16%
corporationete 9
BN 2 + P DK B R (Y
Mr. CHAN Wang Tao Thomas Interest in a controlled 19,950,000 (L) 3.75%
corporation®oete 4
PR B ST A2 K B (i
Ms. HUI Li Kwan Interest of spouseote 9 310,353,954 (L) 58.34%
FFRIE 2+ Aic 18 # 2 (20)
Mr. MAK Chin Pang Interest in a controlled 3,990,000 (L) 0.75%
corporation®ete 6
BREREEE P2 ] % B R (i)
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Notes:

The letter “I” denotes a person’s long position (as defined
under Part XV of the SFO) in such Shares.

The shares are held by Good Elite Holdings Limited (“Good
Elite”), the entire issued share capital of which is owned as
to 50% by Mr. CHENG Wan Wai and as to 50% by Mr. YEUNG
Keng Wu Kenneth.

The shares are held by Cypress Spurge Holdings Limited
(“Cypress Spurge”), the entire issued share capital of which
is wholly-owned by Ms. LIU Shuk Yu Sanny.

The shares are held by Dawn Gain Investment Limited, the
entire issued share capital of which is wholly-owned by Mr.
CHAN Wang Tao Thomas.

Under the SFO, Mr. CHENG Wan Wai is deemed to be
interested in the same number of Shares held by Good Elite.
Ms. HUI Li Kwan is the spouse of Mr. CHENG Wan Wai.
Under the SFO, Ms. HUI Li Kwan is deemed to be interested
in all the Shares in which Mr. CHENG Wan Wai is interested.

The shares are held by Welcome Mark Investment Limited,
the entire issued share capital is wholly-owned by Mr. MAK
Chin Pang.
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Long position in the ordinary shares of

associated corporations

Name of Directors
and chief executives

EER
TETHRABHSR

Mr. CHENG Wan Wai

EIRELEAE

Mr. YEUNG Keng Wu
Kenneth

15 8 8 e A

Ms. LIU Shuk Yu Sanny
BB+

Mr. CHAN Wang Tao
Thomas

RERERE

Ms. HUI Li Kwan
FTRE

Mr. MAK Chin Pang

Name of
associate
corporations

MEEZEERB

Good Elite

Good Elite

Cypress Spurge

Dawn Gain
Investment
Limited

Good Elite

Welcome Mark

(ii)

Capacity/nature

of interest

50/ EEME

Beneficial owner

EDmBEAA

Beneficial owner

ExmaAA

Beneficial owner

ExSBEAA

Interest of spouse
foBER

Beneficial owner

Investment

Limited
ERBEE EnEAA
Note:
1. The letter “L” denotes a person’s long position (as defined

under Part XV of the SFO) in such Shares.
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Number of
underlying
Shares
held

(Note 1)
BEHBE
R&&E

(Bt1)

Hrat

Percentage of
shareholding

KREDL

50%

50%

100%

100%

50%

100%

1. EBXFELIEZBALIRZEERND

XVEL) °
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Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors or chief
executives of the Company had or was deemed to have any
interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares
or debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as at
31 December 2024.

Directors’ rights to acquire shares or
debentures

Save for the Share Option Scheme, at no time during the
year ended 31 December 2024 was the Company, its holding
company, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries
a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors to
acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or
debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

None of the Directors or any of their respective associates
had any interest in a business which competed or was likely
to compete with the business of the Group during the year
ended 31 December 2024 and up to the date of this annual
report.
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EEEWRE
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND FERREREMALTARG KA

OTHER PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND ERONEZR XS
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2024, to the best knowledge of the W-ZT_MNMF+_-_A=+—H BEEEFAH
Directors, the following persons (other than a Director or JF&H UM TA T (BREBESHK AN EE 1T
chief executive of the Company) or corporations who had I A 8 4N 8k 5& B R AR Q&) B 15 5 48 B AL
interests or short positions of in the Shares or underlying MHFEARIEEHFKL B EIEHIEXVILE
Shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to 2% F3% 2 18 & 78 [ AN A 7] ¥ 55 /9 7 =5
the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of K& @ iR 1K & 5 & B & % 7] 5533615
Part XV of the SFO, or which will be required, pursuant to & F B0 8k E Z IE ATt B S AR 25 =X
Section 336 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred K& > st MR T B S B A 5L
to in that section, or which will be required, to be notified to K 24T :

the Stock Exchange, were as follows:

Number of
Name of underlying
substantial Shareholders or Shares held Percentage of
other persons Nature of interest (B 1) shareholding
BHEHEBE
% 17 21 B
TERRIAHEMATHSE BB REHEH (KEED) BFRESL
Ms. WONG Lai Ying Interest of spouseete 2 310,353,954 (L) 58.34%
EEH A+ A 18 K 25 (w2)
Good Elite Beneficial ownerNote 3 310,353,954 (L) 58.34%
T A5
Cypress Spurge Beneficial ownervote 4 64,706,046 (L) 12.16%
FS R A
Notes: B et -
1. The letter “I” denotes a person’s long position (as defined under Part 1. HYFHIEZEALIRZER DTN TE
XV of the SFO) in such Shares. (EERBHFRIMEHEIEXVER) o

2. Under the SFO, Mr. YEUNG Keng Wu Kenneth is deemed to be 2. RIEFHFRZBEEIEL - 155 H L EWE AR
interested in the same number of Shares held by Good Elite. Ms. Good Elite # # 1R £ B T i
WONG Lai Ying is the spouse of Mr. YEUNG Keng Wu Kenneth. EERELZTAGEY B
Under the SFO, Ms. WONG Lai Ying is deemed to be interested in all REBGED - HER )
our Shares in which Mr. YEUNG Keng Wu Kenneth is interested. EHERGENMAR

3. Good Elite is beneficially owned equally by Mr. CHENG Wan Wai and 3. Good Elite BB B E L £ RiZiENELETHE
Mr. YEUNG Keng Wu Kenneth. Each of Mr. CHENG Wan Wai and Mr. mHE REBEEFAZARAEGKRM H BEBELLE
YEUNG Keng Wu Kenneth is deemed to be interested in the same N5 85 5 £ &% B 1R AR Good Elite¥ &
number of Shares that are held by Good Elite under the SFO. HERSENKRO P HEEEZ -

4., Cypress Spurge is beneficially wholly-owned by Ms. LIU Shuk Yu 4. Cypress Spurge HE RN Z T E=E EHH
Sanny. Ms. LIU Shuk Yu Sanny is deemed to be interested in the BEBEEFLHEGRD - ERML TR BTN
same number of Shares that are held by Cypress Spurge under the Cypress Spurge FT 5 #8 7 #% B 1 B& 15 7 1
SFO. o
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024,
according to the register of interests required to be kept by
the Company under Section 336 of the SFO, there was no
person who had any interest or short position in the shares
or underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be
disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions
2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

On 20 December 2019, the Company adopted the Share
Option Scheme for the purpose of providing incentives or
rewards to selected eligible persons for their contributions
to the Group. The terms of the Share Option Scheme are in
compliance with the provisions of Chapter 17 of the Listing
Rules.

Since the date of adoption of the Share Option Scheme and
up to 31 December 2024, no options were granted to any
of the Directors, eligible employees and other third parties
under the Share Option Scheme.

Purpose

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to motivate
Eligible Persons (as set out in below) (i) to optimise their
future contributions to our Group; (ii) to reward them for their
past contributions; and (iii) to attract, retain or otherwise
maintain on-going relationships with Eligible Persons who
are significant to and/or whose contributions are or will be
beneficial to the performance, growth and success of the
Group.
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Eligible persons

The Board may, at its sole discretion, invite any director or
proposed director (including an independent non-executive
director) of any member of the Group, any executive director
of, manager of, or other employee holding an executive,
managerial, supervisory or similar position in, any member
of the Group (an “Employee”), any proposed Employee,
any full-time or part-time Employee, or a person for the
time being seconded to work full-time or part-time for any
member of the Group (an “Executive”), a consultant,
business or sole venture partner, franchisee, contractor,
agent or representative of any member of the Group, a
person or entity that provides research, development or
other technological support or any advisory, consultancy,
professional or other services to any member of the Group,
or an associate (as defined under the Listing Rules) of any
of the foregoing persons (together, “Eligible Persons” and
each an “Eligible Person”).

Acceptance of an offer of options

An offer of the grant of an option shall be deemed to
have been accepted when the duplicate letter comprising
acceptance of the option duly signed by the grantee together
with a remittance in favour of the Company of HK$1.0 by
way of consideration for the grant thereof is received by the
Company within the period specified in the letter containing
the offer of the grant of the option. Such remittance shall in
no circumstances be refundable. Once such acceptable is
made, the option shall be deemed to have been granted and
to have taken effect from the offer date.
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Maximum number of Shares available for
subscription

The maximum number of Shares to be issued upon exercise
of all options which may be granted under the Share Option
Scheme (and under any other post-IPO share option scheme
of the Company) shall not in aggregate exceed 10% of the
Shares representing 53,200,000 Shares in issue immediately
after completion of the Global Offering and as at 16 January
2020 (the “Listing Date”) (“Scheme Mandate Limit”"),
provided that the Company may at any time as the Board
may think fit seek approval from the Shareholders to refresh
the Scheme Mandate Limit, except that the maximum
number of Shares to be issued upon exercise of all options
which may be granted under the Share Option Scheme
(and under any other post-IPO share option scheme of the
Company) shall not exceed 10% of the Shares in issue as at
the date of approval by the Shareholders in general meeting
where such limit is refreshed. Options previously granted
under the Share Option Scheme and any other post-IPO
share option scheme (including those outstanding, cancelled
and lapsed in accordance with the terms and conditions of
the Share Option Scheme or any other post-IPO share option
scheme or exercised options under the said schemes of the
Company) shall not be counted for the purpose of calculating
the limit as refreshed. The Company shall issue a circular
containing the information required under Rule 17.02(2) of the
Listing Rules to the Shareholders. In addition, the Company
may seek separate approval from the Shareholders in general
meeting for granting options beyond the Scheme Mandate
Limit, provided that the options in excess of the Scheme
Mandate Limit are granted only to the Eligible Persons
specified by the Company before such approval is sought
and for whom specific approval is obtained. The Company
shall issue a circular to the Shareholders containing the
information required under Rule 17.03C(3) of the Listing
Rules.

Notwithstanding the preceding paragraph, the maximum
number of Shares to be issued upon exercise of all
outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under
the Share Option Scheme (and under any other post-IPO
share option scheme of the Company) shall not exceed 30%
of the Shares in issue from time to time.
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The maximum number of Shares issued and to be issued
upon exercise of the options granted to any one Eligible
Person (including exercised and outstanding options) in
any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the Shares in
issue from time to time. Where any further grant of options
to such an Eligible Person would result in the Shares issued
and to be issued upon exercise of all options granted and
which may be granted to such Eligible Person (including
exercised, cancelled and outstanding options) in the
12-month period up to and including the date of such further
grant representing in aggregate over 1% of the Shares in
issue, such further grant shall be separately approved by the
Shareholders in general meeting with such Eligible Person
and his associates or close associates (as the case may be)
abstaining from voting. The applicable requirements of Rule
17.03D of the Listing Rules shall be complied with.

The maximum numbers set out in this paragraph shall
be subject to adjustment in accordance with the lapse of
options but shall not in any event exceed the limits imposed
by Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

As no share options were granted since the adoption of the
Share Option Scheme and up to the end of the reporting
period, the number of options available for grant under the
Share Option Scheme at the beginning and the end of the
reporting period was 53,200,000 Shares, representing 10%
of the issued Shares as at the date of this annual report.
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Grant of options to core connected persons

Insofar as and for so long as the Listing Rules require, where
any offer of an option is proposed to be made to a Director,
chief executive of the Company or substantial Shareholder
or any of their respective associates, such offer must first
be approved by the independent non-executive Directors
(excluding any independent non-executive Director who
is or whose associate is the grantee to whom the option
is proposed to be granted). Insofar and for so long as the
Listing Rules so require, no option may be granted to any
substantial Shareholder or independent non-executive
Director or any of their respective associates which would
result in the Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise
of all options already granted or to be granted (including
options exercised, cancelled and outstanding) to such person
under the Share Option Scheme (and under any other share
option scheme of the Company) in the 12-month period up
to and including the date of board meeting for proposing
such further grant (i) representing in aggregate over 0.1% of
the share capital of the Company in issue; or (ii) having an
aggregate value, based on the closing price of the Shares
at the date of the board meeting for proposing such further
grant, in excess of HK$5 million, unless such further grant
is approved by the Shareholders in general meeting. Before
seeking such approval, the Company shall issue a circular
containing such information as required by the Listing Rules
to the Shareholders. At such general meeting, the grant
of options to the substantial Shareholder or independent
non-executive Director or any of their respective associates
shall, for so long and insofar as the Listing Rules so required,
be approved by the Shareholders by way of poll with the
grantee, his associates and all core connected persons of
our Company abstaining from voting, except that any such
person may vote against such resolution provided that he
has informed the Company of his intention to do so and
such intention has been stated in the relevant circular to the
Shareholders.
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Subscription price of the Shares

The subscription price in respect of any particular option
shall be such price as the Board may in its absolute
discretion determine at the time of the grant of the relevant
option (and shall be stated in the letter containing the offer
of the grant of the option) but the subscription price shall not
be less than whichever is the highest of:

() the nominal value of a Share;

(i)  the closing price of Shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the offer date;
and

(i) the average of the closing prices of Shares as stated
in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet for the
five business days immediately preceding the offer
date. The subscription price shall also be subject to
adjustment in accordance with the reorganisation of
capital structure.

Minimum period for which an option must be
held before it can be exercised

There is no minimum period for which an option must be
held before it can be exercised, and the period during which
an option may be exercised will be determined by the Board
in its absolute decision and in accordance with the Listing
Rules. However, no offer shall be capable of or remain open
for acceptance after the expiry of 10 years commencing on
the Listing Date.

Vesting period

The vesting period of an option granted under the Share
Option Scheme will be determined by the Board in its
absolute decision and in accordance with the Listing Rules.

Exercise price

An option granted under the Share Option Scheme shall be
exercised in whole or in part by the grantee according to the
procedures for the exercise of options established by the
Company from time to time. Every exercise of an option must
be accompanied by a remittance for the full amount of the
subscription price for the option shares in respect of which
the option is being exercised.
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Duration

The Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for
a period of ten years commencing on the Listing Date.
However, the Shareholders may by a resolution in general
meeting at any time terminate the Share Option Scheme.
Upon expiry or termination of the Share Option Scheme,
no further options shall be offered but in all other respects
the provisions of the Share Option Scheme shall remain in
full force and effect. All options granted before such expiry
or termination (as the case may be) and not then exercised
shall continue to be valid and exercisable subject to and in
accordance with the terms of the Share Option Scheme.
In respect of any option granted, the Board may in its
discretion determine the exercise periods, provided that such
period shall not be longer than 10 years commencing on the
commencement date of such report. As at 31 December
2024, the remaining life of the Share Option Scheme was
approximately 4.97 years.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Board, the Board
confirms that the Company has maintained the public float
as required by the Listing Rules as at the latest practicable
date prior to the issue of this annual report.

TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation
available to the Shareholders by reason of their holdings of
the Shares.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions are set out in Note
34 to the consolidated financial statements. The transactions
related to the rental payment and the disposal of a motor
vehicle to related parties which constituted de minimis
connected transactions under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules, were fully exempt from the requirements of reporting,
annual review, announcement, approval of independent
shareholders and other relevant disclosure requirements
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. Other than the
transactions mentioned above, the Directors have confirmed
that the related parties transactions did not constitute
connected transactions or continuing connected transactions
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee of the Company, which consists of
three independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Ng
Shung, Mr. Chan Hiu Fung Nicholas and Prof. Cheng Man
Chung Daniel, has reviewed, together with the participation
of the management, the accounting principles and practices
adopted by the Group and discussed auditing and financial
reporting matters including the review of the audited financial
statements of the Group for FY2024.

EVENTS AFTER THE END OF
THE REPORTING PERIOD

Save as disclosed in this annual report, there are no
significant events affecting the Group after FY2024 and up to
the date of this annual report.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2024 have been audited by
PricewaterhouseCoopers, who will retire and, being eligible,
offer themselves for re-appointment. The Board has taken
the Audit Committee’s recommendation that a resolution for
their re-appointment as independent auditor of the Company
will be proposed at the forthcoming AGM.

There is no change of independent auditor in any of the
preceding three years.

By order of the Board

CHENG Wan Wai
Chairman

Hong Kong, 24 March 2025
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ABOUT THE REPORT

The board of directors (the “Board”) of Q P Group Holdings
Limited (the “Company”) hereby publish the Environmental,
Social and Governance (‘ESG”) Report (“Report”) of the
Company and its subsidiaries (collectively as the “Group”

r “We”) for the year ended on 31 December 2024 (the
“Reporting Period” or “FY2024"). This Report summarises
our policies, approaches and practices towards ESG
management to its stakeholders and enabling them to have a
better understanding about the progress and performance of
the Group’s ESG development.

Scope of Report

This ESG Report covers the Group’s business in paper
product manufacturing and printing of its head office in Hong
Kong and three key production plants at Dongguan and
Heshan in Guangdong Province and Phu Ly City in Ha Nam
Province in Vietnam. The Company will continue to review
the scope of reporting regularly according to our materiality
principles and the key stakeholders’ opinions, and will extend
the scope in future if necessary.

Our ESG Management Structure

The Group is a paper product manufacturing and printing
services provider. Like many other industry players, our
business and operations are highly intertwined with ESG
issues. We believe that sustainable practices in ESG help us
set the foundation for long-term success and value creation
for our stakeholders. Our ESG proposition and commitment
to sustainability in business development, manufacturing
operations, facility management, human resources management
and community engagement are embedded in our corporate
culture and set out in our Vision, Mission and Core Values.
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The Group adopts a top down management approach on
ESG management. The Board is responsible for overseeing
the management of the Group’s ESG issues, which includes
formulating and reviewing ESG policies, strategies, directions
and priorities; evaluating ESG risks and opportunities;
administering and reviewing our ESG performance,
effectiveness and internal control; and approving ESG reports
and relevant disclosures. We have also established an ESG
working group which is comprised of department heads of
manufacturing operations, administration, human resources,
material sourcing, sales and corporate communications. The
working group is in charge of the identification of major ESG
risks, formulation of sustainability targets, implementation
of sustainable practices and evaluation and reporting of
sustainability performance in different areas of business
operations according to their materiality, expectations of
top management and stakeholders and relevant regulatory
requirements. The working group also coordinates and
supervises ESG issues, reviews the progress of key
performance indicators through regular meetings and makes
appropriate adjustments based on the Group’s business
and operations conditions. Through regular reports from
and meetings with the working group, the Board reviews
the Group’s targets and performance from time to time to
address potential risks, evaluate our ESG standards, monitor
progress and seek continuous improvement.
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The Board is fully aware of the increasing demand for good
corporate sustainability practices that can benefit both a
company’s business success and risk management as
well as public interest. Under the leadership of the Board,
the Group will continue to step up efforts and resources
in different ESG aspects to build more sustainable and
equitable business operations. As a manufacturer, we
will particularly focus on improving our performance in
environmental and operational aspects including emission
and waste management in the coming years, which are
all inextricable parts in our daily operations and may
potentially lead to intensive and extensive impact, to meet
the heightened regulatory standards and expectations of
stakeholders. Details of relevant policies, strategies and
targets are set forth in later sections of the Report.

Reporting Standard

This Report has been prepared in accordance with the
Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide
under Appendix C2 to the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(‘ESG Reporting Guide”). The Board has acknowledged
its responsibility to oversee the Group’s sustainable
development and review the truthfulness, accuracy and
completeness of the Report.

The Report was prepared following the four principles
suggested in the ESG Reporting Guide.

Materiality — Materiality assessments are carried out to
identify material environmental and social issues that have
major impacts on the Group and its significant stakeholder
groups.

Quantitative — Key performance indicators and improvement

goals are measurable and are reported in a quantitative way
with narrative and comparative data where appropriate.
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Balance — The ESG performance of the Group is reported
in an objective and fair manner without the inappropriate
use of selections, omissions or presentation formats that
may inappropriately influence a decision or judgment by the
report reader.

Consistency — Consistent statistical methodologies are
adopted to assess key performance indicators which allow
meaningful comparisons of relevant data over time. Any
changes to the methodologies or any other relevant factors
affecting a meaningful comparison will be disclosed in this
Report.

Contact and Feedback

The Group values your feedback on this Report and
our ESG performance. If you have any comments or
suggestions, please feel free to contact us via email at
investorrelations@qgpp.com.

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

By thoroughly considering the individuals and parties
that may affect or be affected by the operations of the
Group, the Group identified six significant stakeholder
groups,
shareholders/investors, employees, customers, suppliers
and community partners. The Group maintains a close tie
with these significant stakeholder groups to understand
their expectations and concerns through regular and
effective communication channels, including but not limited
to the general meetings, annual and interim reports, press
releases, charity work, employee suggestion boxes and
interactions in daily operations. We strive to balance their
expectations and concerns when assessing and determining
our ESG directions. The Group ensures that the relevant
risk management measures and internal control systems
are operating effectively. The following table shows the
management response to the expectations and concerns of
the six significant stakeholder groups.

including governmental/regulatory organisations,
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EXPECTATIONS AND

STAKEHOLDERS CONCERNS MANAGEMENT RESPONSE
R4 E HEEER EEEEE
Government/ > Compliance in laws and > Uphold integrity and compliance in operations
regulatory regulations REBRFRHBEREGH
organisations BFERNER > Establish comprehensive and effective internal
BN/ EEHE > Fulfill tax obligation control system
BOMKELE B 2HEA RN AR RS
> Compliance with relevant laws, regulatory
requirements and industry standards
ETHBEE EERERITERE
> Pay tax on time, and contribute to the society
BRAHLOELS
Shareholders/ > Return on investment > Management possesses relevant experience
investors % & B3R and expertise to optimise the sustainability and
BRI EE > Information transparency profitability of the Group’s business
B BERE EREAAHBALRNEXZNE BRAKEE
> Corporate governance system BRI AR E M & BT g
TEERHE > Regular information dissemination by publications
on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company
REXMERAREI@TREREA
> Dedicated to business growth, risk management
and improvement in internal control
BAOREBE R - B E A X502l g
Employees > Labour rights > Set up contractual obligations to protect
8T BTIkx employees’ rights and welfare
> Career development HEAHNETNREEI RS HEHRET
BEERE > Encourage employees to participate in continuous
> Compensation and welfare education and professional training
B K48 A BEEI2EBEEHERFEEE
> Health and workplace safety > Establish a structural human resource evaluation
BEREIESHZE framework for staff development and promotion
BUFEBUEANERAGER REBIZERK
B
> Establish a fair, reasonable and competitive
remuneration system
BIYRF GBENMERFINFMER
> Enhance occupational health and workplace safety
level
RABERERIESMZ2KTE
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EXPECTATIONS AND

RIR - g MERRS

STAKEHOLDERS CONCERNS MANAGEMENT RESPONSE
R & HEEER EEEEE
Customers > High quality and safe > Maintain a high standard of product quality
= products RESEENERES
BERLZEM > Provide customer service and product engineering
> Timely delivery solutions to satisfy customers’ specific needs
RERE RUEEFPFRERERIBBAAR URRERP
> Reasonable pricing NEEEE
EReE > Formulate comprehensive quality assurance
> Qperational compliance process and recall procedures
ARLEE HEEEMNEERERIEME R FF
> Ensure adequate production capacity and stable
operation for order fulfilment
BRATHEERNIRENEENTHATE
> Ensure the performance of contractual obligations
BRBTEHNEL
> Improve efficiency and cost-effectiveness of
operation and production
HELERFEFENBER KRB &
> Ensure compliance with international standards
on quality, security, environment and social
responsibilities
BRETEE %2 BRREKMGEEHIENH
RIRAE
> Protect customers’ intellectual property rights
REX P HBERE
Suppliers > Stable demand > Ensure the performance of proper contractual
R FEREE obligations are in place
> Good relationship with the BRETHESGHNRE
Company > Maintain an effective supply chain management
EARNRRER FRAEF system

> Corporate reputation
GEEe

RESMHEEETERR
> Establish and maintain strong and long-term co-
operating relationship with good quality suppliers
EeEHERRYMRFFREERBNS ERBE
> Ensure timely payment in accordance with
purchase contract

BARRERESORE MR
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EXPECTATIONS AND
STAKEHOLDERS CONCERNS MANAGEMENT RESPONSE
6 E HEEER EEEEE
Community partners | > Environmental protection > Establish an effective and efficient system for
HEREIERH RIBRE disposal of hazardous and non-hazardous wastes
> Community contribution BUAMRRROBEEREZEENEE R4
& 8 R > |Implement eco-friendly measures to reduce use of
> Economic development energy, water and paper
RpEER EERER R ERER  KRAK
> Perform periodic third-party environmental
assessments

EHETE=FRENME

> Contribute to the community through donations to
registered charities
BRREMEAERBET LR

> Encourage employees to participate in charitable
activities and voluntary services
BBEI2NEZEEZHRETIRS

> Maintain a good and stable financial performance
and business growth

RERHEBRENMBEENEHER
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MATERIALITY MATRIX

The Group has evaluated a number of environmental, social
and operating criteria and assessed their significance for the
Group and its stakeholders. This assessment helps us ensure
that the Group’s business objectives and development
direction are in line with the stakeholders’ expectations and
requirements. The Group’s and stakeholders’ matters of
concern are presented in the following materiality matrix:

L
@
>

an

Importance to Stakeholders Medium

HENENEEN H

Low

&

Low

&

< Environmental
¢ BEIE

B - RERRE

EEMEME
AEEEFHEZRRE g2 ERE
THEHAREREFNDENERN
HEFHEADRMABBRAEENRE A
FEHEARTAENAFKNENHEESR
Ko AREERFNENHEIFHEZIRN
ATNEZERRE:

MATERIALITY MATRIX
EEMEE

Promotion opportunities [ESERICEMENTORRE I WIRTERES
4 Staff compensation and
welfare policies

¢ EFtiE
8 TR BUR

ual property rights
Anti-corruption

<> Compliance of environmental
laws and regulations

4 Talent management

4 Anti-discrimination

+

¢

¢

Community involvement

Protecting human rights
Training and development
Preventive measures for child
and forced labour

> Vendor management
& ETRIRERER
¢ ATEE

¢ RBAR

¢ REAE

¢ EFIEEE

¢ BIRRALTIH
bi=laEi=ich
HERER

Clean production
Use of raw materials
R E AR

R

Medium High
th 5
Importance to the Group
HAKENERMS
¢ Employee > Operation
¢ BIH@E > ZEHE
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SUSTAINABILITY TARGETS AEEREAR

To ensure effective implementation of our sustainability ABRAESCEERMOAIFEZRKE
strategies, the Board has formulated a set of 5-year targets ZEZ=E D PEW - B EE - s8R RKE R
of continuous improvement in the areas of emission, FAM#IE ETXRMHAERESEEH
waste reduction, efficiency of energy and water use, staff BHIFT—ERFBEZ  JIEREMNTE -
development and community investment to guide our #iTM T{E#RF - AF BZMF 1557
planning, execution and evaluation in the long run. Details of 20T :

the 5-year targets are set forth below:

Status in 2024 —ZZ—UFERR 5-year targets (2021-2025) A HIE (ZBE=-—FZ-F_-1%F)
EMISSION HERK

Reduce greenhouse emission (tonnes CO,e per HK$1 million of
@ ﬂ 13.7%* revenue) by 10.0%*
BEREHHE (M_StREE S1aRETKRE) FHL 10.0%*

WASTE REDUCTION ;i B&

Reduce disposal of hazardous and non-hazardous solid waste
ﬁ 0.3%* (tonnes/per HK$1 million of revenue) by 10.0%*

BEREZERENRE(W =1 888 TRE) D 10.0%

ENERGY USE EFFICIENCY &EiR{E R &zs

Reduce electricity consumption (MWh per HK$1 million of
ﬂ 19.9%* revenue) by 15.0%*
ECERR B1E8B W) HD 15.0%

m Increase the portion of renewable electricity in overall electricity
f 0.0%* consumption to 15.0%
\ TR B 5 BB RO BURFE 15.0%

WATER USE EFFICIENCY 7k & iR Fi %28

0 Reduce hazardous and non-hazardous wastewater (tonnes per
O ﬂ 15.6%* HK$1 million of revenue) by 5.0%*
o HEREERK (M, 5 1 BESTNE) WD 5.0%:

STAFF DEVELOPMENT E T # /R

(9] 14.3 Increase the average training hours per employee per year to
qIP HOIIJRS NES# 20 hours
¥ BEE T BFFIEIIREILIME20/ 0 K

COMMUNITY INVESTMENT #E&#&

9,7 40 Increase our involvement in knowledge sharing and charity

@ HOURS /J\BS* work to 1,500 hours in total per year
BERBNABEZRZEE THENEREUIEINZE,500/0 6

*

Based on the comparison of the relevant data of our Dongguan plant,  * EREBRMOREEZHE BLUEBEMEER

Heshan plant and head office in Hong Kong in FY2020 and FY2024 NEERR T _TFUBFER_T_NF
# Based on the relevant data of our Dongguan plant, Heshan plant and B S S RO A R B A B
head office in Hong Kong in FY2024 # BEBERMOREZERE - BILEEMEE &N

ERN-_F-OFEMBFEENERBE
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ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION
Management of emissions

The Group is mainly engaged in the manufacture and sale
of paper products including tabletop games, greeting cards,
educational items and premium packaging. We are fully
aware of the exhaust gas, wastewater, noise and various
wastes generated during our production process and daily
operation that bring a certain impact on the environment.
We believe that our long-term business growth and success
are closely linked to our efforts in maintaining environmental
sustainability and resources protection. Therefore, we are
committed to controlling our impact on the environment
through various means, including emission reduction,
efficient use of resources and fostering an environmentally
friendly culture in the workplace.

Our Environmental Management System (“EMS”) has
been certified with the international standard (ISO14001:
2015), which forms the basis for formulating the Group’s
environmental strategy and is fully implemented in all aspects
of our business operations. The Group’s environment
related measures and work guidelines are formulated
based on the significant environmental factors and risks
identified in accordance with the EMS, with the aim of
providing employees with guidelines to follow in business
operations. The system precisely clarifies the responsibility
of each position to facilitate the contribution of all staff to
environmental management.

During the Reporting Period, we were not involved in any
confirmed non-compliance incidents in relation to emissions
that had a significant impact on the Group.
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Management of exhaust gas and greenhouse
gas (“GHG”) emissions

The production process of printing and paper products
(such as offset printing, silk screen printing, paper surface
treatment, etc.) and the daily operation of the factories (such
as the use of kitchen and vehicle) generates certain exhaust
gases, including inorganic gases such as benzene, toluene,
xylene, volatile organic compounds and hot exhaust gas.
As a manufacturer in the printing industry, we are obliged to
comply with the “Air Pollution Prevention and Control Law
of the People’s Republic of China” and “Emission Standard
of Volatile Organic Compounds for the Printing Industry (E]]
RITTEBEEAR S WEENEZE®E) in the PRC, and the
“Environmental Protection Law” and “Decree on Mitigation
of Green House Gas Emissions and Protection of Ozone
Layer” in Vietnam. Therefore, the Group strives to implement
the measures stated in the “Administrative Procedures for
Emissions” to minimise the emissions generated during the
production process and daily operation. Specifically, we
adopt the following emission control measures. Organic
gases such as volatile organic compounds are collected
through gas collection hoods, purified through activated
carbon absorption devices, and emitted at high altitude in
accordance with regulations, with emission levels regularly
measured. Inorganic gases such as carbon dioxide, sulphur
dioxide and nitrogen oxides are first drawn out through
exhaust fans, discharged through dust collectors, and then
purified by eco-friendly air conditioners. We maintain our air
purification treatment equipment regularly to ensure their
continuous and effective operation. We continued to further
optimise and consolidate our production workshops and
dormitories to reduce exhaust gas treatment facilities. We
have installed a real-time monitoring system at the exhaust
vent of our Dongguan plant to measure the parameters
of volatile organic compounds to monitor and control the
gases emitted. We have introduced electric forklifts in our
plants. We engage qualified third-party organisations to
conduct external inspections to ensure compliance with the
emission standards of the relevant laws and regulations.
We have developed a rigorous internal mechanism for
quantifying, reporting and verifying GHG emissions, and have
completed the 1SO14064-1 Greenhouse Gas Accounting
and Verification, with which our data collection and reporting
become more systematic and compliant with the international
standards.
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During the Reporting Period, the Group’s total GHG MRBEHRN  AEEMEERELE KA
emissions amounted to approximately 23,358.71 tonnes of & & #923,358. 710 — & 1k #x & & ([ Wi
carbon dioxide equivalent (“tonnes CO,e”). The major GHG Z=—F{tmEE|) RPEHKPH T ER
emissions from our operations are from Scope 2 emissions, = @FEEENKEHE —_Hh s Y
which account for approximately 23,000.08 tonnes CO,e 23 .000.08MF —E/tixrE 2k B8
or approximately 98.5% of the total emissions. Our major  #798.5% - KM T B = {52 W B IE
air pollutants include nitrogen oxides, sulphur oxides and @& 4 - B R ER Y - DR %

particulate matter. During the Reporting Period, the Group’s iR AEEHTEESSDYE BN
major air pollutant emissions met the permitted level. EHATAKTE o

Type of pollutants
i 2024 2023
SRYER | |
Total GHG Emission
(Tonnes CO,e) 23,358.71
BERBHRES 17,956.08

(=R LRER)

Scope 1 Emission’
(Tonnes CO,e)
SE1HERE"

(W —E tmEE)
Scope 2 Emission?
(Tonnes CO,e)

gE 2P M E? 17,865.79
(H—E e EE)

23,000.08

Intensity (Tonnes CO,e per

HK$1 million of revenue) 19.29
BE (H-amEa/ 17.28
B1E8E )

0.40
0.43

Nitrogen oxides (Tonnes)

RA|fY (W)

Sulphur oxides (Tonnes) | 0-001
W LY (W) | 0.001

Particulate matter (Tonnes) | 0-020
FERIY) (WE) | 0.022

1 Scope 1 represents direct GHG emissions generated by the use of 1 HEVERBERTR  ERRBLBEESE
gasoline, diesel and refrigerant. MEZAZEREHERE -

2 Scope 2 represents indirect GHG emissions generated by the use of 2 HEEBBTAREEEHENRANES
purchased electricity from local power companies. FTEENMELEREERE -
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We are committed to continuously reducing the GHG emissions
generated from the Group’s operations and ensuring our
exhaust gas emissions meet the emission standards of the
relevant laws and regulations. We plan to carry out photovoltaic
projects in our factories to increase the use of renewable
energy. We will introduce more new energy vehicles in our
plants. Our Dongguan plant will conduct volatile organic
compounds (VOC) component testing on major raw materials
to identify areas of improvement. We will also review relevant
policies and measures from time to time and upgrade our
equipment where appropriate to further improve the Group’s
management of exhaust gas and greenhouse gas emissions.
The Group has set up a 5-year emission target (please refer
to reference section of “Sustainability Targets” for details) and
taken the abovementioned steps to achieve it.

Management of wastewater discharge

The Group complies with the “Water Pollution Prevention and
Control Law of the People’s Republic of China (#F #E A &
HAEF K FH8K) and the “Discharge Limits of Water
Pollutants (7K ;5 % #) 8E R {&)” in the PRC, the “Environmental
Protection Law” in Vietnam and other applicable laws,
regulations and standards. We have formulated relevant internal
policies, procedures and various emission reduction measures
to effectively control and manage the wastewater discharge of
all facilities such as production plants, offices, staff dormitories
and canteens. We regularly maintain wastewater treatment
facilities and pipelines to ensure their proper functioning
and prevent leakage, thereby reducing water wastage and
secondary pollution to the environment.
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Hazardous wastewater

Hazardous wastewater generated from the Group’s operations
mainly includes wastewater produced from the cleaning
of printing blankets and machinery, laboratory wastewater
and wastewater containing air compressor oil. We have
implemented and enhanced measures in different operational
departments to reduce industrial wastewater, including the
use of water reclamation and reuse systems in our plants
to improve the wastewater reuse rate in the production
process, the use of water recycling and filtration system in
the plate-making process to recycle and reduce wastewater,
purification of wastewater through our wastewater treatment
facility, and engagement of qualified contractors to collect and
recycle hazardous wastewater and sludge with hazardous
substances deposited in sedimentation tanks. During the
Reporting Period, the hazardous wastewater discharged
by the Group was approximately 214.92 tonnes and the
intensity of hazardous wastewater discharged increased by
approximately 15.7% to approximately 0.18 tonnes per HK$1
million of revenue.
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Non-hazardous wastewater

The non-hazardous wastewater produced in the Group’s
operations mainly includes domestic wastewater from offices
and staff dormitories, as well as oily wastewater generated in
canteens. The Group strictly complies with the relevant laws
and regulations, and actively maintains proper management
of non-hazardous wastewater. For oily wastewater, our
wastewater treatment facilities decompose the oil residues
so that the wastewater can fulfil the relevant standard to be
discharged together with domestic wastewater. In addition,
our plants are equipped with domestic wastewater septic
tanks to treat and discharge wastewater to local sewage
treatment plants. We conduct regular inspections and
maintenance on our wastewater treatment facilities and
water facilities, such as freshwater pipes, to prevent any
malfunction and avoid unnecessary domestic wastewater
due to water leakage. In order to ensure that our emissions
meet the legal requirements, we have installed a monitoring
system at the water outlet to measure the relevant
parameters of the discharged wastewater, including pH value
and electrical conductivity, in real time, and transmit the data
to the relevant local government departments simultaneously.
During the Reporting Period, the non-hazardous wastewater
discharged by the Group was approximately 203,774.42
tonnes and the intensity of non-hazardous wastewater
discharged increased by approximately 18.6% to
approximately 168.28 tonnes per HK$1 million of revenue.
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We will review the relevant policies and measures from time
to time and upgrade the equipment in due course and will
continue to optimise the production processes at our plants
to reduce industrial wastewater generation and further
improve the wastewater discharge management of the
Group.

Management of solid waste disposal

The Group strictly complies with all applicable environmental
regulations and policies,
“Environmental Protection Law of the People’s Republic of
China (2 A R £ H IR FR# %) and the “Environmental
Protection Tax Law of the People’s Republic of China
(FEAREMEIRFZIRER L) in the PRC, and the
“Environmental Protection Law” in Vietnam. We have
formulated internal waste management procedures to
standardise the process of all waste treatment and storage,
and require strict implementation by our employees to
ensure that our waste disposal complies with relevant
laws and regulations. We have also signed undertakings
with the relevant local governments to strive for excellent
waste management. We pay close attention to the updates
in national and local environmental protection laws and
regulations. During the Reporting Period, the Group was not
involved in any breaches of relevant laws and regulations in
relation to generation and discharge of hazardous waste and
non-hazardous waste that had a significant impact on the
Group.

including but not limited to the
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Hazardous solid waste

Hazardous or harmful solid wastes refer to the waste items
listed in the “National Catalogue of Hazardous Wastes”.
Chemicals are inevitably consumed during our production.
In order to minimise the impact of chemicals on the
environment and comply with relevant laws and regulations,
we have established guidelines for hazardous waste
treatment to manage the handling, disposal, transportation,
storage and recording of toxic and hazardous substances,
which are stored in properly labelled and sealed containers
located in assigned storage areas to avoid secondary
pollution caused by mixed wastes. The hazardous wastes are
handled by qualified professional environmental agents. We
use bags in chemical handling to reduce the use of plastic or
steel drums. During the Reporting Period, the Group’s plants
generated approximately 213.49 tonnes of hazardous solid
waste and the intensity of hazardous solid waste generation
decreased by approximately 20.5% to approximately 0.18
tonnes per HK$1 million of revenue.
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Non-hazardous solid waste

Non-hazardous wastes refer to wastes that are not listed in
the “National Catalogue of Hazardous Wastes”, which can be
divided into “recyclable waste” and “non-recyclable waste”.
The Group endeavours to promote recycling. A4 paper
waste is reused in the production process and in office, and
recyclable waste, including waste paper, waste pallets, waste
hot foil paper, waste printing blankets and waste zinc plates,
are sold to recycling companies. We have switched to using
paper bags for packing some of our inks and larger drums
for storing some of our heavily used chemicals. We have
also switched to the use of renewable activated carbon in
the exhaust gas treatment facility at our Dongguan plant. We
reduced the number of exhaust gas treatment facilities in our
plants so as to lower the generation of activated carbon. We
also installed activated carbon recycling systems for exhaust
gas treatment to reuse activated carbon. In addition, we have
set up environmental protection zones in our plants, offices
and dormitories for waste separation and recycling to reduce
unnecessary waste disposal. We enhanced waste separation
training to promote waste separation and recycling among
our employees, and promote environmental protection and
waste reduction in the workplace. Non-recyclable waste
mainly includes office waste, daily domestic waste, kitchen
waste, etc. They are placed in non-recyclable garbage
areas or garbage bins, and are transported to the health
department for handling. During the Reporting Period,
the Group’s plants generated approximately 8,485.55
tonnes of non-hazardous solid waste and the intensity
of non-hazardous solid waste generation increased by
approximately 9.5% to approximately 7.01 tonnes per HK$1
million of revenue.
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We are committed to continuously reducing the solid waste
generated from the Group’s operations. We will review
relevant policies and measures from time to time and
upgrade our facilities in due course to further improve the
solid waste management of the Group. The Group has set
up a 5-year waste reduction target (please refer to reference
section of “Sustainability Targets” for details) and taken the
abovementioned steps to achieve it.

Management of noise

The noise produced during the Group’s operations mainly
comes from production machinery and equipment, vehicles
and forklifts. The Group strictly complies with relevant
laws and regulations, including the “Emission Standard for
Industrial Enterprises Noise at Boundary (I 2 1 % i 77
IR 5 R R HE RIS )7 (GB12348-2008 Il) of the PRC and
the “National Technical Regulation on Noise — Permissible
Exposure Levels of Noise in the Workplace” in Vietnam,
and entrusts a third-party organisation to conduct annual
inspection on the noise conditions of the operating facilities.
We control the noise level and its impact on the environment
through enhancing the layout of production workshops,
prioritising the use of low-noise equipment, regularly
conducting repair and maintenance on machinery and
equipment and limiting the whistling noise from vehicles and
forklifts in the plant areas. We continued to enhance the
high-noise areas and production lines in the plant, which
includes high-pressure gas supply in the central area and
replacement of traditional air pumps with vacuum converters
to reduce the volume of machine operation. We have
installed sound-absorbing devices in the waste gas treatment
facilities to reduce the noise from motor operation, and
installed sound-absorbing doors for air compressor rooms.
Meanwhile, we provide earplugs and earmuffs to employees
who need to work in a noisy environment to reduce the
risk of occupational hearing loss. We are committed to
continuously enhancing noise management in the Group’s
operations. We will identify particular production machines to
perform noise optimisation. We will review relevant policies
and measures from time to time and upgrade facilities as
appropriate in order to further improve the Group’s noise
management.
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Management of resources utilisation

The Group attaches great importance to the effective
management and use of energy and resources. The energy
and resources used in the Group’s operations mainly include
gasoline, diesel, electricity, water and paper. The Group has
formulated and implemented various policies with respect to
energy and resources management based on the principle of
“reduction at source”, and strictly complies with the “Energy
Conservation Law of the People’s Republic of China (FF # A
R H A &5 48R K)"and the “Water Law of the People’s
Republic of China (% A R £ MBI 7K %) and other relevant
laws and regulations on resource conservation. The Group
is committed to continuously improving the energy and
resources management of various facilities of the Group
and reducing the impact of our business operations on the
environment. Adopting the ISO50001 energy management
system, we identify and evaluate the major sources and use
of energy and resources annually. We implement a number
of relevant measures in the production departments, offices,
staff dormitories, canteens and other facilities. We strive
to strengthen employees’ knowledge and awareness of
resource conservation, so as to encourage them to make
full use of resources, maximise their efficiency and reduce
the waste of resources. Every year, all relevant departments
formulate plans to boost energy efficiency to achieve the
Group’s overall energy conservation goals. Our measures for
efficient use of resources are as follows:
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Energy conservation
Electricity saving

Electricity is the major energy consumed in the Group’s
business operations. Therefore, we strictly comply with
the “Energy Conservation Law of the People’s Republic of
China (F#E AR HEFMEFH48EJR%)” in the PRC, the “Law
on Economical and Efficient Use of Energy” in Vietham and
other applicable laws and regulations, and implement a
series of energy-saving measures to enhance the Group’s
electricity management and reduce electricity consumption.
We have installed an online energy monitoring system in our
plants to obtain real-time data of electricity consumption
from different control points, and our administrative
department is responsible for monitoring and analysing the
data and taking action in case of abnormal situations. We
continued to evaluate and enhance the operation of our
workshops, including reducing the space of the workshops
and adjusting the start-up time, so as to reduce the use of
air-conditioning. We have introduced energy storage systems
in our Dongguan plant and Heshan plant to reduce electricity
costs. We have also increased the use of electric forklifts to
replace traditional diesel forklifts and installed sensor lights in
the facilities to save energy. During the Reporting Period, we
enhanced the air pressure system and piping in our plants to
shorten the transmission distance and improve the efficiency
of electricity consumption. We also increased the number
of blowers in the vacuum system at our Heshan plant to
enhance energy conservation. We also actively promoted
energy-saving and consumption reduction policies and
enhanced relevant awareness among employees to establish
good electricity consumption habits.
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During the Reporting Period, the Group consumed
approximately 30,189.58 MWh of electricity in its operations.
The intensity of electricity consumption increased by
approximately 16.2% to approximately 24.93 MWh per HK$1
million of revenue during the Reporting Period.

We are committed to continuously improve the efficiency
of electricity consumption in our operations. We will review
relevant policies and measures from time to time and
upgrade facilities as appropriate in order to further improve
the Group’s overall efficiency of electricity consumption.
The Group has set up 5-year energy use efficiency targets
(please refer to reference section of “Sustainability Targets”
for details) and taken the abovementioned steps to achieve
them.
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Conservation of gasoline and diesel

Gasoline is mainly used for vehicles, while diesel is mainly
used for forklifts (fork lift trucks) in our plants. The Group
has formulated various conservation measures to regulate
the use of gasoline and diesel, and its vehicles and forklifts
are regularly inspected and maintained by the administrative
department to ensure their energy efficiency are normal so
as to prevent unnecessary fuel consumption and exhaust
emissions due to mechanical failure. We have replaced hiring
of long-term limousine services with on-demand online ride-
hailing services to improve related transportation efficiency.

During the Reporting Period, the Group consumed
approximately 28,224.34 litres of gasoline and approximately
9,256.51 litres of diesel in its operations. The intensity of
gasoline consumption decreased by approximately 12.1%
to approximately 23.31 litres per HK$1 million of revenue
and the intensity of diesel consumption decreased by
approximately 8.3% to approximately 7.64 litres per HK$1
million of revenue during the Reporting Period.

Energy consumption

BORT & 17750 K 58
AMEBZRRAE - AR EERRK
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9,256.51 A Ft - R EHA - BB
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BERETE
Direct Energy — Mobile Fuel Gasoline
BEEGER — BERE =" TH
% Diesel
O e
Indirect Energy () Electricity
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2024

=t E3.F
Litres 28,224.34 27,543.02
AR
Litres 9,256.51 8,661.44
AR
MWh 30,189.58 22,288.40
S RS

We plan to replace diesel forklifts at our plants with electric
forklifts to reduce fuel consumption.
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Water conservation

We understand the importance of water resources to
production and daily life. Water used in our production
process is mainly related to the printing process. In order to
reduce water consumption in production and increase the
utilisation rate of water resources, we have installed a water
reuse system and a water recycling and filtration system in
our production plants to recycle and reuse wastewater in
the production process, and completed water balance test.
We have gradually phased out water-consuming equipment
and added rainwater harvesting systems to collect rainwater
for cleaning and irrigation. Our plants have been equipped
with the water meters and water-saving appliances. Also,
rainwater is collected for greening purposes. We also
conduct regular inspection and maintenance on water
facilities, such as freshwater pipes and water dispensers to
avoid water leakage.

During the Reporting Period, the Group’s water consumption
in operation was approximately 203,989.34 tonnes and the
intensity of water consumption increased by approximately
18.6% to approximately 168.46 tonnes per HK$1 million of
revenue. We plan to introduce enhancement works aiming to

facilitate the recycling of surface water in our Heshan plant,
so as to reduce the use of tap water. The Group has set up
a 5-year water efficiency target (please refer to reference
section of “Sustainability Targets” for details) and taken the
abovementioned steps to achieve it.
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Tonnes per HK$1 million of

203,989.34 147,605.95

168.46 142.04

The water used in all of the Group’s plants and offices is
supplied by the local water supply department. During the
Reporting Period, the Group did not encounter any issue in
water supply.
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Paper for production

Paper is the major raw material used in the Group’s
production. We have established internal policies and
procedures to regulate the process of raw material
procurement, usage, storage and quality inspection to
procure paper that meets the production and quality
requirements (please refer to reference section of “Supply
Chain Management” for details). The purchase and
distribution of paper are according to the production plan
that developed based on demand. Through our product
engineer’s analysis and calculation, we maximise the
utilisation of paper that help to reduce consumption. We
generate monthly reports on paper consumption and
conduct analysis and assessment on the purchase, usage
and production scrap rate, to ensure effective control
of paper consumption. During the Reporting Period, the
Group consumed approximately 28,611.26 tonnes of
paper for production. The intensity of paper consumption
for production increased by approximately 18.3% to
approximately 23.63 tonnes per HK$1 million of revenue
during the Reporting Period. We will continue to review
the relevant processes to improve the efficiency of paper
consumption.

Office paper
We are committed to building a “green office” and adopt a
series of measures to reduce the use of printing paper.

V Advocate a paperless office culture and encourage
employees to send and retain documents in electric
form to reduce printing.

QF Assign printing permissions according to job
requirements and preset printers to duplex printing
mode.

QF Make full use of paper that has been used on one side
for photocopying or printing.

Y Collect paper used on both sides with recycling bins
and deliver it to qualified recyclers for handling.

EF Reuse some of the waste paper produced in the
production process in the office.
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During the Reporting Period, the Group’s office paper
consumption was approximately 9.79 tonnes. The intensity of
office paper consumption increased by approximately 14.1%
to approximately 0.008 tonnes per HK$1 million of revenue
during the Reporting Period.

Use of packaging materials

Carton boxes and cardboards are the major sources of
our packaging materials. In order to promote recycling, we
provide production options of recyclable packaging materials
to our customers. We use biodegradable materials for some
of our product packaging such as bags and blister covers.
During the Reporting Period, the Group’s total packaging
material used for finished products was approximately
2,749.16 tonnes. The intensity of packaging materials used
for finished goods increased by approximately 5.3% to
approximately 2.27 tonnes per HK$1 million of revenue
during the Reporting Period.
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Environment and natural resources RERBRER

We understand that cutting down trees for the production of
paper may cause long-term environmental disturbance to the
forest habitats and may affect the biodiversity of animals and
plants, soil fertility and water quality. Therefore, we use paper
certified by the Forest Stewardship Council® (FSC®) in some
of our production to support sustainable forest management
practices, thereby protecting the forests and mitigating
our impact on the environment. We also encourage our
customers to use FSC®-certified paper.
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Climate change

The Group’s principal places of operation, including
production plants and offices, may be exposed to physical
risks and transition risks. Acute physical risks may include
weather-related events such as floods, fires, storms, etc, and
also chronic physical risks induced by longer-term changes
in the climate such as temperature changes, rising sea
levels, reduced water availability, etc. Transition risks may
include policy and legal risks, market risks and reputational
risks. Such risks may lead to adverse impact on the Group’s
business and operations including plant operations, staff
safety, material supply, order delivery, business development,
financial performance, financing, etc. Therefore, we have
formulated policies and response procedures in respect of
the relevant risks, implemented preventive measures and
taken out insurance to enhance the Group’s capabilities to
respond to climate-related incidents and reduce their impact
on the Group’s operations and finance. During the Reporting
Period, we introduced energy storage facilities in our
Dongguan plant and Heshan plant to reduce peak electricity
demand. We will also strive to reduce the greenhouse gases
generated in our operations and contribute to the mitigation
of global warming (please refer to reference section of
“Management of exhaust gas and greenhouse gas (“GHG”)
emissions” for details).

EMPLOYMENT

Employees are our most valuable assets. One of the
Group’s core values is to treat our employees with respect,
care, support and empowerment. The Group is an equal
opportunity employer. We are committed to providing
equal opportunities in all aspects of employment including
recruitment, remuneration, training and promotion of
employees. Adhering to the principles of equality, diversity
and inclusion, the Group’s human resources policies and
practices are strictly compliant with the applicable laws,
which include but not limited to the “Employment Ordinance”,
the “Sex Discrimination Ordinance”, the “Disability
Discrimination Ordinance”, the “Family Status Discrimination
Ordinance”, the “Race Discrimination Ordinance”, the “Labour
Contract Law of the People’s Republic of China (FF A K&
ME 4 E 4 [BJX)” and the “Labour Code” in Vietnam.
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As at 31 December 2024, our Hong Kong head office,
Dongguan plant, Heshan plant and Vietnam plant had a total
of 2,900 employees. All of them were contracted employees.
Detailed breakdown of our total workforce by gender, age
group, employment type and geographical region is as
follows:

Number of employee [EE&{H
Total & 2,900 (2024) 2,246 (2023)

By gender By age group
BRI D REwRARNE D

272
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2024

2023

B vale 21
Female Z 1%
By employment type By region
RIERENES R = E D
2024 2024
2,900
2023 2023
B Full-time 28
Part-time 38

BESHAFIND T

B Age below 30 308 LA T
Age 31-40 31Z405%

B Age 41-50 412505%

. Age above 50 505%5L &

. Hong Kong office &B AR
Mainland plants P9t =
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During the Reporting Period, the Group’s average turnover
rate was approximately 3.8%. Detailed breakdown of
our employee turnover rate by gender, age group and
geographical region is as follows:

Employee turnover rate

RBEESHA AEENFHRRIOE
3.8% ° RIMER - Fi AR Kb lERE 5
BERREHMAFINWT

EBERKN=

By gender & B & 2

Male B 3.8% 2.7%
Female 4% 3.8% 3.2%
By age group RERARNE D

Age below 30 30 AT 9.6% 8.6%
Age 31-40 31E405% 2.6% 1.9%
Age 41-50 41E508% 2.0% 1.2%
Age above 50 508% A £ 1.1% 31%
By region Ziw &S 5

Hong Kong office BEMRE 2.9% 2.5%
Mainland plants A H 5% 5 4.0% 3.0%
Vietnam plant iy 2.8% —

Note: the employee turnover rate is calculated by averaging the monthly
turnover rates. Monthly turnover rate is calculated by the number of
employees who left the Group/average number of employees during
the months times 100%. Employees who left the Group within a
month of the commencement of their employment are not counted.
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Compensation and benefits

We review employees’ remuneration packages with reference
to the comparable market level, employees’ performance
and the Group’s financial performance annually to ensure
our competitiveness in retention of high-caliber employees.
Employee remuneration includes basic salary, end of year
payment and discretionary bonus. In addition to the statutory
leave entitlement, our employees are entitled to extra
annual leave, sick leave, marriage leave and compassionate
leave. Apart from the statutory insurance schemes, eligible
employees are entitled to medical insurance and medical
check-up. The Group offers compassion gifts to employees
such as gift cheque for marriage and condolence money in
some special occasions. We also regularly organise festive
staff activities and staff recognition events to enhance
employees’ morale and sense of belonging.

As a family-friendly employer, we are concerned about
employees’ family life and well-being. Our family-friendly
employment practices include five-day work week, which
allows employees not only to spend more time with their
families, but also get sufficient rest and develop personal
interests. We also allow flexible working hours and special
work-from-home arrangement for employees who are in
need of flexibility to balance their family obligations and work
duties.
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OCCUPATIONAL SAFETY AND HEALTH

We attach great importance to occupational safety and
health, and are committed to creating a safe working
environment, so that all employees can receive the greatest
protection in the workplace. We strictly comply with the
occupational safety laws and regulations related to the
Group’s operations, including the “Occupational Safety
and Health Ordinance” of Hong Kong, the “Law of the
People’s Republic of China on the Prevention and Control of
Occupational Diseases (# # A & HF BB 2 % [576)%)", the
“Production Safety Law of the People’s Republic of China (-
FEARAMBE A EZL & L), the “Fire Protection Law of the
People’s Republic of China (F#E AR XFMEIEG %) and
the “General Specifications for Fire-fighting Facilities (JEF7
BB A E)” in the PRC, and the “Law on Occupational
Safety and Health” in Vietnam. In order to achieve better
safety risk management and control, we have established
an occupational health and safety management system
and passed the international standard of 1ISO45001:2018
certification. We have formulated and implemented a number
of safety policies and guidelines, safety objectives and work
plans for different areas, providing detailed and specific
safety guidelines to employees at all levels, standardising
daily operational practices and safety performance, and
eliminating potential risks as much as possible to prevent
accidents. We have a position-related occupational health
assessment mechanism in place that provides health checks
for employees prior to job rotation and risk assessment
of chronic illnesses related to high blood pressure, blood
glucose and blood lipids, etc, to prevent critical illnesses,
so as to safeguard their occupational health. In addition, we
have a degradation catalytic system in our plants to filter
the volatile organic compounds generated from the relevant
production processes. Safety policies and guidelines, safety
objectives and work plans are regularly audited and reviewed
by senior management. Meanwhile, we also conduct
internal safety audits annually to review our overall safety
performance.
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To ensure effective governance in occupational safety and
health, the Group has established the Occupational Safety
and Health Committee led by the Executive Directors, and
it has three functional teams to review and supervise the
performance in industry safety, occupational health and
environmental protection, with the aim of continuously
heightening the level of occupational safety and health and
minimising the number of work-related accidents and injuries.

Occupational safety in production operation

Identifying hazards and making improvements are the first
step to enhance occupational safety. Therefore, the Group
has established a hazard identification policy to set out
clear identification procedures. The identification work
covers various potential risks throughout the production
chain and the supporting departments. We actively conduct
risk assessment and prevention in all aspects of our
production operation. Considering that the Group uses a
variety of production machinery and machine safety risks
are common in occupational safety risks, we commission
our professional safety officer of our Safety Management
Department to regularly conduct comprehensive risk
assessment of production equipment to facilitate prevention
and reduction of relevant risks. We also increased the use of
automated machines to replace manual operation and avoid
work-related injuries caused by human negligence.

In addition to machine operation, different departments and
processes in our production operation may also involve
other hazards. Therefore, the Group strives to take various
measures to minimise the safety risks to its employees.
The identified hazards also include the generation of
dust and noise, falling objects, contact with objects and
equipment, use and disposal of chemicals, etc. During the
Reporting Period, we strived to improve the workplace
environment and the layout of production workshops and
implemented a number of measures in this regard, including
engaging a certified organisation to inspect and improve
the electrical infrastructure of our Dongguan plant; placing
the main circuit control switches of machines in separate
boxes; installing a real-time monitoring system and alarm
devices for high-temperature drying ovens to ensure that
emergency treatment can be carried out in a timely manner
in the event of an incident; enhancing the high-noise areas
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in the plant, including high-pressure gas supply in the
central area to eliminate the noise caused by high-pressure
pumps in the production workshops; providing earplugs
and earmuffs to employees working in the noisy areas to
reduce the impact on employees, etc. Meanwhile, we have
formulated and strictly implemented working guidelines on
the purchase, handling and storage of chemicals to ensure
that all chemicals used in our plants are purchased from
qualified chemical suppliers, and all hazardous materials
are stored in chemical storage areas with restricted access
and explosion-proof cabinets, with surveillance devices in
place to prevent accidental leakage. We provide employees
with qualified and sufficient occupational safety protective
equipment to ensure that they are free from occupational
hazards. In addition, we have set up a job safety
responsibility system, which sets out the grading criteria for
inspection management and promotes the implementation
of various occupational safety measures in the workplace
through an incentive system. At the same time, we employ
qualified safety officers to conduct internal safety inspections
on a daily basis and arrange cross-department safety
inspections no less than two times per month to ensure the
implementation of adequate preventive safety measures and
proper operations and to eliminate potential safety hazards
in the production process in a timely manner. In addition, we
have carried out an occupational health status evaluation to
ensure that the potential occupational hazards are effectively
identified, so that those related workers can receive effective
prevention and protection. We also pay attention to the
safety management of subcontractors, and ensure that
the operation of subcontractors complies with the Group’s
safety management requirements by conducting relevant
qualification examinations, safety training, and on-site safety
inspections.
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In order to further enhance occupational safety protection,
we will continue to evaluate our workflow from time to time
and increase the use of automated machines and improve
the workplace environment and the layout of production
workshops to further reduce the risks and potential hazards
in the working environment and operation process.

Safety training and emergency preparedness

Training is an indispensable part of building an occupational
safe working environment and culture. The Group strives to
provide occupational safety training courses and activities
to all employees to enhance their safety awareness and
enable them to acquire relevant practical knowledge and
qualifications. The scope of training includes occupational
health and safety management system, machine safety
and operation, work permit system, use and storage of
chemicals, etc., aiming at enhancing employees’ professional
knowledge of hidden dangers and hazards in the workplace
and allowing them to apply such knowledge in production
operation. We have strengthened the safety training for
production trainees to boost their safety knowledge and
awareness and eliminate unsafe behaviours during operation,
so as to reduce work injuries. We provide targeted safety
training and drills for high-risk work processes. We have
arranged some of our operational management staff to
attend the Certified Machinery Safety Expert programme
and to develop them to be qualified machinery safety
professionals, so that they can carry out daily inspections
and follow-up on machinery and equipment safety effectively.
Through cross-departmental safety inspections and safety
management training, employees’ safety awareness
and implementation of regular safety inspections and
management are enhanced. We have improved job-related
occupational health assessments and strengthened related
training and assessment. We organised large-scale safety
training courses and safety promotion activities in our plants
to raise the safety awareness of our employees. Furthermore,
we maintain regular communication between related
departments and formulate up-to-date occupational safety
measures accordingly.
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Regarding other preventive work, in addition to providing
safety awareness training for all employees, we have also
formulated detailed contingency plans to deal with fire,
chemical leakage and other emergency incidents. Emergency
drills, including fire drills and chemical spillage drills, are
held regularly to enhance workers’ awareness and ability to
handle unexpected situations. At the same time, we have
enhanced the investigation and follow-up of near misses to
comprehensively implement safety controls for work-related
hazards.

Work injury and work-related fatalities

During the Reporting Period, the Group recorded no
work-related fatalities and recorded a total of 572 lost days
due to work-related injuries.

EREMBH THE KRA2RETRH
ZEEHBIN  RATEHET M
MESTER AEHANX - E2MER
BEEMEZZ=WN I EHPRTRERSR
R BEEHBEERMEBRIINERES
R B THHBERMMEZE N - R -
BPEMEREEHNRFERRERE
FrEMH TIERE2RBETEERE -

IEREITH
AEBRHEHRAL BHESHETTH
ATHBRAEGLZEo72ETIERS -

Number of work-related & T - # A9 A 2 0 0 0
fatalities

Rate of work-related T UM =R N/A N/A N/A
fatalities TiE A i i A

Note: The rate of work-related fatalities is calculated as the number of work- A7 4% - TUSMMEERDERET TR A SR

related fatalities divided by the average number of employees in each
year.
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TRAINING AND DEVELOPMENT

Talent is an important cornerstone of sustainable development
of an enterprise. The Group has established relevant policies
and systems and continues to devote resources to promote
the training and competency enhancement of employees
at all levels, so as to facilitate the long-term development of
employees and the Group.

The Group has established a qualifications framework, which
sets out the required competency matrix and standards for
different departments and positions as the criteria for staff
qualification assessment and formulation of continuous
development and training. The Group has set up an internal
training centre to systematically plan, organise and execute
diversified employee training programmes and assessments,
and continuously improve the skills and qualifications of
employees to meet the development needs of employees and
the Group. The training programmes cover different areas
such as leadership and management, teamwork, production,
information technology, quality awareness, occupational
safety and health, culture of continuous improvement,
work ethics, etc. In order to be in line with the Company’s
business development, we have drawn up different levels
of improvement plans and goals to improve the quality and
quantity of training. We will continue to increase the average
annual training hours of our employees, resume some
practical trainings that were suspended due to the epidemic,
and organise more management skills training.

The Group has set up a 5-year targets for staff development
(please refer to reference section of “Sustainability Targets”
for details).
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Percentage of employees trained ZIEEBS

By gender &5l 8o
Male B 90.7%
Female 7 88.0%
By employee category BEEEENES
Senior Manager and above = AR R A E AR R 45.5%
Middle Management RRERE 80.2%
General Staff —fEBET 91.7%
Average training hours completed per BEAREEXTHAZTINFETEE
employee
2024

—E-_mEF
By gender =R 8D
Male S 14.4
Female pegid 14.2
By employee category BEEEERNE S
Senior Manager and above AR A £ &R 8.3
Middle Management RRERE 6.6
General Staff —MEBETL 15.5
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LABOUR STANDARDS

The Group exercises a policy of zero tolerance against child
labour and forced labour. Therefore, we implement a series
of stringent measures to prevent child labour and forced
labour and strictly comply with the national and regional
regulations and laws, including the “Law on the Protection
of Minors of the PRC”, the “Provisions on the Prohibition of
Using Child Labour”, and the “Labour Law of the PRC” in the
PRC, and the “Labour Code” in Vietnam.

We have formulated preventive procedures for our
recruitment and employment process. |dentity verification
and background check are included in the recruiting process
to ensure job applicants are fulfilling the legal working
age (i.e. 16 years old). For internships and on-job training
programmes offered to students, the Group will sign a
cooperation agreement with the partner colleges and student
participants to obtain consensus on the working terms and
conditions. In addition, all contracts are formulated based
on the applicable labour contract law and all employees
are required to sign the legally binding contracts before
commencement of work to prevent any form of forced labour.

Employees’ consent for working overtime is required to
prevent forced overtime work, and they are compensated in
accordance with the applicable labour laws and regulations.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of
any breaches of relevant laws and regulations related to child
and forced labour in our operations.

SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT

The Group attaches great importance to supplier
management and regards it as an important part of
our risk management strategy. Our suppliers are mainly
manufacturers of paper and auxiliary accessories. We
have formulated a series of policies and guidelines to
comprehensively standardise all supplier management
procedures, such as the identification, inspection, selection,
engagement and evaluation of suppliers, to ensure that the
production process, quality, safety, finance, occupational
health, environmental protection and other aspects of
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suppliers are in compliance with regulations and industry
standards, and also ensure that the relevant procedures are
carried out under the principles of transparency, fairness and
justice. We actively establish a close and mutually beneficial
relationship with approved suppliers who have passed the
assessment, so as to jointly improve the quality of products
and services and complement each other.

We select suppliers based on the factors such as their
product quality, quality system, product safety standards,
production capacity, code of conduct, service and price
competitiveness. Prior to becoming our approved suppliers,
potential suppliers are required to complete a thorough
questionnaire or undergo an on-site audit by our material
sourcing department, quality assurance department
and compliance department as needed to evaluate the
capabilities and track records of the suppliers in equipment
and processes of production and inspection, quality
management, compliance, financial status, access control,
network security, employee safety and environmental
protection and identify potential risks of the suppliers in these
areas. We give priority to suppliers who have established
systematic management approaches in product quality
assurance and environmental and social responsibilities
and are able to provide materials or alternative solutions
that meet environmental protection standards. In addition,
we also require our suppliers to obtain the “Customs-Trade
Partnership Against Terrorism” certification. Approved
suppliers are required to sign a declaration of compliance
and undergo our regular audits to ensure that they fully
understand and continuously meet our quality, management,
environmental, occupational safety and compliance
standards in all aspects. During the Reporting Period, the
Group had a total of 509 approved suppliers. The number of
suppliers by geographical region is as follows:

NUMBER OF SUPPLIERS BY REGION
EuER S HEFHRE

The PRC
O tm
’
\¢

373

Others
HAth

79

Vietnam

HiEg

o7
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PRODUCT RESPONSIBILITY

As a professional paper product manufacturing and printing
services provider, the Group is committed to meeting
customers’ needs by providing quality products and
customer-oriented services, and ensuring that the Group’s
products comply with relevant laws and regulations such as
the “Product Quality Law of the People’s Republic of China
(hE A RHEAMBEE 7 E E5A) in the PRC and the “Consumer
Protection Law” in Vietnam. We have formulated a series of
policies with respect to product responsibility, covering all
aspects of production operation such as production safety
management and specifications, product quality audit, brand
copyright protection, file management, employee code of
conduct, handling of customer complaints and product
return. In addition, we fully comply with the relevant laws and
regulations in relation to advertising and labelling, including
the “Advertising Law of the People’s Republic of China (&
FEARKAMEEEX), the Trade Descriptions Ordinance of
Hong Kong, and the U.S. Customs Regulations on Country of
Origin, etc., to deliver appropriate information to customers
without false, misleading or incomplete information and
misstatements.

Quality assurance

The Group is determined to continuously provide customers
with high-quality products to meet the expectations and
needs of international enterprises and brand customers
as well as individual customers, so as to maintain our
competitiveness in the industry and secure long-term
business growth, and to ensure strict compliance with
relevant laws and regulations such as the “Product Quality
Law of the People’s Republic of China (1 Z A R #£ A B & &
' &%) and the “Law of the People’s Republic of China on
the Protection of Consumer Rights and Interests (FZ A R
HMEEE E R X REIR) in the PRC and the “Consumer
Protection Law” in Vietnam.
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We have a comprehensive quality management system with
ISO9001:2015 certification, which covers three important
aspects, namely quality assurance, quality engineering and
quality control, to ensure that our entire production operation
process from product development, material procurement,
production to delivery meets the specified quality standards.
We have stringent quality control procedures in place to
control the quality of incoming materials, production process
and final products to ensure that our products meet our
internal standards and our customers’ quality requirements.
Our quality assurance team is accredited by ANSI-ASQ
National Accreditation Board under ISO 17020, which
demonstrates our technical competence in the fields of
calibration and testing. Product safety tests on raw materials
and products can be conducted by our own in-house
laboratory which is accredited by different international
professional bodies including China National Accreditation
Service for Conformity Assessment (CNAS), ANSI-ASQ
National Accreditation Board and U.S. Consumer Product
Safety Commission (CPSC). It also meets the requirements
of the international standard ISO/IEC17025:2005, and is
qualified to conduct tests in accordance with international
standards in relation to the toys, packaging and other goods
in the U.S. and Europe.

Customer feedback and complaints and
product recall

We have policies and procedures in place to collect
and handle customers’ feedback and complaints. Upon
receipt of a complaint relating to a product defect, our
customer service team will coordinate with the relevant
production department to conduct a detailed investigation to
determine the cause of the defect and discuss appropriate
solutions, including arranging exchange, return or refund
to the customer for product defects caused by us and,
if necessary, seeking compensation from our supplier or
subcontractor at fault. We conduct customer satisfaction
surveys with our original equipment manufacturer (“OEM”)
customers on a regular basis to collect customers’ feedback
on various aspects of our services, including product quality,
customer service, production lead time, operation capability
and material procurement and development, in order to
understand customers’ opinions and needs and constantly
improve our service level. We achieved an overall satisfaction

122 Q P GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED E£2&£EZERER AT

BMREE2ENEEETERBR I
¥ 131S09001 : 2015 F * W XMW E H
ERF mEIRMREEH=-@EFEEZE
WER BREMEERRAZE  MEK
BCAEIRNNBEEAESEREY
HEEEHNRERE - BMREERHD
DERERF BFHENRE  £ER
EhE&EKonE BREGFE
BMOABLEAREFPFANMEE K &
MHORERZFEFRCESEERRIZE
e — XEREHeREFRBRAEZE
ZI1SO 170203 % + 75 A7 E & 2 4 Bl <8
HHREMmeE N  c BMEEANLERE -
AHEEMBNEMETERT AR
WEEZEBHKREXRBERA]  2FF
B A& EB KRB AIZ B E(CNAS) - &
EERELEHE — XELEHEREFR
BRAZESGAEEBEEMLEZES
(CPSC) - HMMERENFERHKIEAE
ISO/IEC17025 : 2005K) &3k + W& BEIK IR
BEEEZEEBINER R MNEBITE -
B R EME A RS EITROR o

EFRENRFRERB W

BPREEBARREEFREMEER
PR 88 R ARG o U B B A G R P AR
AR RF AMANEPRGEEKS %
MHEREERFIETHFABEUETERE
RA YA EENBARLTER  BEHR
HEMERNERRBEAEFLZHRE -
REHEFR UREFTERABBRA
MEREEIDBEFIKEE - RAEH
ARAERBERER(OEM) EFETE
FmBE#E WEEPHHMSER
BEENKRE BEREMREE FPR
BHAERH 2EBRENARMBIRE
LkFRE UWTBREFNEARTE &
BRARMORBGKFE - EHEHNH
B RPINERMHEXRES% - XK
FHA - AW BIREOCEME P K uh
HEFEPIFFEE DB R51R K102 -



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

rate of 84% in our latest survey. During the Reporting Period,
we received 51 and 102 complaints from our OEM customers
and web sales customers, respectively, all of which were
properly followed up and responded by our customer service
team. During the Reporting Period, we did not record
any non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations or
product recalls due to quality or safety reasons.

Number of complaints received
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RENEENRFHE

OEM sales OEMEH & 51
Web sales Hub s s 102
Total 4 Et 153

Intellectual property and personal data
privacy protection

We emphasise the importance of the intellectual property
rights and personal data privacy of our customers and have
established relevant procedures and guidelines to safeguard
them. We strictly comply with laws and regulations relating
to intellectual property rights and privacy, including the
“Intellectual Property Law of the People’s Republic of China
(P #E AR FIE A0 3% E # %), the “Personal Data (Privacy)
Ordinance” in Hong Kong, the “Law on Intellectual Property”
and “Decree on Personal Data Protection” in Vietnam,
etc. We have formulated and strictly enforced policies and
procedures to manage the production process and monitor
documents and files provided by our customers to prevent
unauthorised copying, unlawful use or distribution or leakage
of product designs, specifications and other intellectual
property rights by employees, subcontractors and third
parties. The relevant measures include filing customer’s
digital files to a secure database with access restricted to
designated authorised staff only, destroying and disposing of
all printed and redundant finished products after completing
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the printing process, setting up 24-hour security controls
in our production facilities and warehouses; requesting the
contractors to strictly comply with guidelines and procedure
of handling intellectual property rights of our clients and
conducting regular site inspections to ensure measures
have been applied properly; providing regular training to
staff on personal data, intellectual property protection and
cyber security, etc. If we identify any suspicious contents or
images in the production files provided by customers, we
will ask the related customers for a letter of authorisation for
printing such content or images. Orders that do not pass our
in-house screening will be refunded.

We have established procedures and guidelines related to
the protection of personal data privacy to prevent employees
from copying, using, distributing or leaking customers’
personal data without authorisation. Our websites also
set forth our privacy policy with respect to the collection,
use and protection of customers’ private information of
customers on our websites. We also include confidentiality
clauses in our employment contracts to prohibit unauthorised
use, possession and leakage of any confidential information
and documents obtained at work. Furthermore, we maintain,
inspect and enhance the information security of our
computer systems regularly to prevent leakage of files and
information.

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not violate any
laws and regulations in relation to intellectual property rights
or privacy.
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ANTI-CORRUPTION

The Group firmly adheres to the highest standards
of business integrity and strives to maintain integrity,
impartiality, work accountability and transparency. We
have formulated our anti-bribery and corruption policy and
whistleblowing policy, and strictly implemented relevant
requirements to ensure that all business operations of
the Group comply with our integrity standards and the
requirements of relevant laws and regulations, including
the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance of Hong Kong and the
“Criminal Law of the People’s Republic of China (f# A
R HE A B %), to eliminate any form of illegal acts of our
employees, including corruption, bribery, extortion, fraud,
money laundering, etc. We require all employees to strictly
comply with the related policies and code of conduct and
requirements prescribed in the employee handbook, making
statement and declaration on conflict of interest. We have
established and implemented stringent regulatory and
approval processes to prevent misconduct or conflict of
interest due to procedural loopholes. We have dedicated
reporting channels in place and encourage employees
to report in writing or in person confidentially when they
identify or suspect relevant violations and conflicts of
interest. Reported cases will be investigated by our internal
investigation team and reviewed by the Audit Committee to
determine further actions, including disciplinary action and
immediate dismissal, in accordance with the established
procedures. On the other hand, we provided relevant training
to employees, including induction and on-the-job training
on work ethics and anti-corruption provided by the training
department, and arranged anti-corruption seminars provided
by the Independent Commission Against Corruption to
employees, especially those with direct contact with business
partners or involved in financial transactions, to enhance
their awareness of business integrity and anti-corruption.

During the Reporting Period, the Group and its employees
were not involved in any corruption-related cases or
litigations.
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COMMUNITY INVESTMENT

It is one of our corporate missions to contribute to the
betterment and sustainability of our community by always
acting with care. We adopt a policy to proactively identify
needs in different communities and devote efforts and
resources to demonstrate our community engagement and
support. During the Reporting Period, we pushed forward
various endeavours including donations, volunteering,
collaborations with external organisations and provision
of internship opportunities to demonstrate our support to
community services, youth development and humanitarian
services. During the Reporting Period, the Group made
a total of approximately HK$267,000 cash donations to
charitable organisations and a total of 9,740 hours of
involvement in knowledge sharing and charity work.

The Group has set up a 5-year community investment target
(please refer to reference section of “Sustainability Targets”
for details).

Donations to charities

The Group is committed to various charitable activities with
the aim of fulfilling its corporate social responsibilities. During
the Reporting Period, we supported the Hong Kong Red
Cross for the 16th consecutive years as the main sponsor
of its annual fundraising campaign “Pass-it-On” to support
its humanitarian aid and local community work. We also
provided pro bono printing services for the campaign’s
promotional materials to help them maximise the exposure
of its campaign at a lower cost. On the other hand, we also
supported youth work with monetary sponsorship for the
Hongkong Shine Tak Foundation, an organisation focusing
on youth development.
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Collaborations with charities and
organisations

The Group actively collaborates with different charities
and organisations who share the same visions to jointly
contribute to the society. During the Reporting Period, we
collaborated again with New Sight Eye Care, a registered
charity dedicated to restoring and protecting the vision of
people in the Republic of the Congo, for their annual desktop
calendar charity sales programme which aimed to raise
funds for their eye hospital project. In addition, leveraging
the Group’s capability and experience in board game
production, we supported the Heep Hong Society, a local
children’s education and rehabilitation organisation, to launch
an educational game set to promote children’s education
and rehabilitation, in which we provided professional advice
on product design and use of materials, and sponsored
the production costs of the board games. In addition,
we also collaborate with social service organisations to
organise volunteer activities. During the Reporting Period,
our volunteer team collaborated with an elderly centre to
organise a festive activity and deliver tangible support and
care to the elders in need. We also participated in Food
Angel’'s food preparation volunteer programme again in
which our staff helped sort raw vegetables and packed meal
boxes.

Knowledge sharing

We believe that knowledge sharing helps bring innovative
advancements to both the community and industry. During
the Report Period, we continued to carry out internship
programmes to provide opportunities for interns to gain
hands-on experience and practical knowledge in a real
business environment. We offered internship opportunities
in our different departments and business units with
extensive job exposure, on-the-job training and coaching
by experienced staff, with the goal of facilitating their
competency development and career planning.
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IRIE 2 NEAHRE

HONOURS AND CERTIFICATIONS

We have achieved diverse international standards of
operation systems, such as ISO 9001:2015, ISO 14001:2015,
ISO 50001:2018, etc, to maintain our product quality and
enhance our environmental and energy performance to
ensure our efficiency and compliance. In addition, we have
also been given a number of certifications and awards from

different organisations.

Certifications/awards

RE R

Awarding / authorising
organisations

M REME

HAMED AR B
ISO 9001 : 2015 -
50001

LB RIZE M
ISO 14001 : 2015 * 1SO
12018%  MRFBRMHEREE

A0 58 3R A B IR 48 e BE R AN RE - DABE
RPN RE R AR - o - FAPI TR

ESTREEERZ EREMER -

Awardees
b )N

ISO 9001:2015

SGS United Kingdom Limited

Q P Printing Limited/Dongguan
Zensee Printing Limited/Taunus
Printing (Heshan) Company
Limited/Q P Enterprise (Vietnam)
Company Limited

ERERABERAR,

HERORAERAR
BRI (BIL)BERAR
Q P Enterprise (Vietnam)
Company Limited

ISO 14001:2015
ISO 45001:2018

SGS United Kingdom Limited

Q P Printing Limited/Dongguan
Zensee Printing Limited/Taunus
Printing (Heshan) Company
Limited

ERHRBERAR,REEDEH
RIERDRE, BEDR (B
BRAA

ISO 50001:2018
ISO 14064-1:2018

SGS-CSTC Standards Technical
Services Co. Ltd.
BIEEZEERMRE AR QG

Dongguan Zensee Printing Limited
SEBEHR AR QA
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Awarding / authorising
organisations

M RERE

Awardees
b /N

Certifications/awards

AR RE

FSC® Chain-of-Custody SGS Hong Kong Limited Dongguan Zensee Printing
FSCeE i5 B2 & 32 EXEBARARERRAR Limited/Taunus Printing

(Heshan) Company Limited/

Q P Printing Limited/QP (HK)

Limited/Q P Trading Limited/

Q P International Limited/Q P

Sourcing Limited/Q P Enterprise

(Vietnam) Company Limited

REDHRERAT,

BEDR (B ARRTER

EDF'JEBE‘«A a/ ER(EE) AR
REl/ERESGERAR/ER

HEAEERA T/mui@iﬂ
9% B R A& /Q P Enterprise
(Vietnam) Company Limited

C-TPAT Validation
B — mARREEH
(C-TPAT) % &

China-United States Joint
Validation Team*

RXEARE A

Dongguan Zensee Printing Limited
SEBEHRER QA

ICTI Ethical Supply Chain
Program

ICTIf: fEsE BT /R &

The International Toy Industry
Association

BRI AXGS

Dongguan Zensee Printing
Limited/Taunus Printing
(Heshan) Company Limited/
Q P Enterprise (Vietnam)
Company Limited
REBHRAERAT,
BEER (85 1L) BRDF,
Q P Enterprise (Vietnam)
Company Limited

China Environmental
Labelling Product
Certification*

China Environmental United
(Beijing) Certification Center
Co., Ltd

Dongguan Zensee Printing Limited
EERHRERA

PEIRIF IR E MR 8 RRB A (ER)RBEBEPLERA

7
G7 Master Facility Targeted Idealliance Dongguan Zensee Printing
GTEREERE" BRENEE > R Limited/Taunus Printing

(Heshan) Company Limited
EM/U\EUFlﬁﬁE —J/
BEER (B BRA

Certificate of Industry 4.0
Maturity Recognition
Level 2i

TE402AEERRE"

Hong Kong Productivity Council/
Fraunhofer Institute of
Production Technology

BELEENRER TBHAELE

BREERMT AR

Q P Printing Limited
ERHRBRA
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Certifications/awards

AR RE

Awarding / authorising
organisations

M RERE

Awardees
EEATE

High and New Technology
Enterprise Certificate

AR EEE

Department of Science and
Technology of Guangdong
Province, Department of
Finance of Guangdong
Province, Guangdong
Provincial Office of the SAT
and Guangdong Local Taxation
Bureau

BREAEBBRIME  BEREVK
B BREXTEERERETK
PRERAMFHER

Dongguan Zensee Printing
Limited/ Taunus Printing
(Heshan) Company Limited
SEERIHRABRRA /
BZEERI (B 1L)BR A

15 Years Plus Caring
Company Logo
156FPlus [ R ERBIEIF

The Hong Kong Council of Social
Service

FetaRsEe

Q P Printing Limited
ERHRARAA

Caring Certificate

ELMIEEE

Federation of Hong Kong
Industries

EEIxES

Q P Group Holdings Limited
BEZERERA

rL':llu\7i<

Standard Chartered
Corporate Achievement
Awards 2024 — Digital
Transformation Corporate
Outstanding Award

BT FE AR N 882024 —
BIEEA PR RE

Standard Chartered Bank
BITIRTT

Q P Group HoIdings Limited
I"-':I/\_/\;%.T HXEBE

iRecycle Sustainability Award
B[O AT #5 4B B R K 82

iRecycle Charity Foundation
FOWEEESD

Q P Group Holdings Limited
FU]/L/\%.T HXEBE(/&j

Learning Enterprise Award
BE2EUEHE

Professional Validation Council of
Hong Kong Industries

BEIXEXTER

Q P Group Holdings Limited
EREEERERA

Good MPF Employer Award
BeifEE

Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Authority
BEMERAEERTEERER

Q P Printing Limited/QP (HK)

Limited/DPI Laboratory Services

Limited/Product Innovator

Limited/Printer’s Studio Limited

EBRHRAERRAR,
EREB)ERARS
ERRARBERAF,
E'J%EDD%E%'ZEQE/
Printer’s Studio Limited

# The Chinese translations of the names are for reference only. #
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BRRRABERE

ENVIRONMENTAL PERFORMANCE
DATA SUMMARY

2024

“E_mE
GREENHOUSE (“GHG”) BERBERE
EMISSIONS
Scope 1" E
Total “g Tonnes CO,e  M—&tHEE 358.63 90.29
Intensity 3 nEe Tonnes CO,e  MW—&ftHEE 0.30 0.09
Scope 2 2 gE—2:
Total wE Tomnes CO,e M- @ltiiEe 2300008  17,865.79
Intensity 3 ZE Tonnes CO,e  MZ—&ftiEE 18.99 17.19
AIR EMISSIONS BREBRE
Nitrogen oxides A8y Tonnes i 0.40 0.43
Sulphur oxides &y Tonnes i 0.001 0.001
Particulate matter BRY Tonnes i 0.020 0.022
HAZARDOUS WASTES BEREY
Solid Wastes Generated: E4LMEBEY:
Total BE Tonnes i 213.49 230.55
Intensity 3 BE Tonnes 5 0.18 0.22
Wastewater Discharged:  HERBIE K :
Total Hmeg Tonnes W 214,92 159.43
Intensity ¢ BES Tonnes i 0.18 0.5
NON-HAZARDOUS BEEY
WASTES
Solid Wastes Generated: E4LWEBEY:
Total HE Tonnes 1 8,485.55 6,648.46
Intensity ¢ BEs Tonnes W 7.01 6.40
Wastewater Discharged: SR BBk :
Total He Tonnes W 203,774.42 147,446.52
Intensity 3 REs Tonnes W 168.28 141.88
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2024

—FCmF

PACKAGING MATERIALS B mfAEEMH
USED FOR FINISHED

GOODS

Total He Tonnes 1 2,749.16 2,240.84

Intensity * BES Tonnes i 2.27 216

ENERGY AND HERKERAE

WATER RESOURCES

CONSUMPTION

Electricity: Eh:

Total HE MWh K F B 30,189.58 22,288.40

Intensity ¢ RES MWh KE & 24.93 2145

Gasoline: i

Total #e Litres AH 28,224.34 27,543.02

Intensity 3 REs Litres N 23.31 26.50

Diesel: L

Total “ag Litres D 9,256.51 8,661.44

Intensity 3 BES Litres N 7.64 8.33

Water Resources: KER:

Total He Tonnes 1 203,989.34 147,605.95

Intensity 3 BREs Tonnes W 168.46 142.04

PAPER CONSUMPTION REE

Production: EE:

Total hE Tonnes W 2861126 20,750.70

Intensity 3 BEs Tonnes 5 23.63 19.98

Office: BAE:

Total HE Tonnes W 9.79 7.36

Intensity 2 RE Tonnes 3 0.008 0.007
Notes: i -

1 Scope 1 represents direct GHG emissions generated by the use of 1 HE—EBRERARHR LR RBEL
gasoline, diesel and refrigerant. MEZAEREHENE -

2 Scope 2 represents indirect GHG emissions generated by the use of 2 HE_EABFRAREEEHENRTANE

Nl

purchased electricity from local power companies. NEANEELERESEKE -

3 The emission/production/consumption intensities are calculated in 3 hhE HES /HEHRERENSIEEST
terms of every HK$1 million of revenue. WaatE o
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Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide Index

(B5 #ERERBER) RS

Reference Section

S8

Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPIs

IREE EE -REERBRANER

A. Environmental
A BE

Aspect Al: Emissions

General Disclosure: Information on the (a) policies; and (b) compliance with relevant
laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer relating to air
and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water and land, and generation of
hazardous and non-hazardous waste.

Management of emissions

BN ER

BEA:HFHY “REE-EHERRREREBHN MARLHNET BEERESENNE
EEN: @QER ROETHETABEAYENEBEERADINEH -
KPI A1 The types of emissions and respective emission data. Management of exhaust gas

B ANERAL

BB LA EE -

KPI A1.2
AR ENERAL2

Greenhouse gas emissions in total and intensity.
BEREBENAZLEE -

and greenhouse gas
(‘GHG") emissions
BRRBEZREHNNER

KPI A1.3
BRENEERALS

Total hazardous waste produced and intensity.
MELRERNBEREE -

KPI A1.4

Total non-hazardous waste produced and intensity.

Management of wastewater
discharge, Management
of solid waste disposal

BAHMMER BREY

BRYEEAL FELEERNERRLE BEHER
KPI A1.5 Description of emission target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them Management of emissions

BREWERALS

HECREHMBEREKREGH SR -

HRMNEE

KPI A1.6

BREMERALL

Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are handled, and a
description of reduction target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them.

REREEEREZBNO )L HUECRERERRREKERN SR -

Management of solid waste
disposal

BEENEENEE

Aspect A2: Use of

General Disclosure: Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy,

Management of resources

Resources water and other raw materials. utilisation
EEA2 ERER —RBEE ERERER(BEER KREMRME) OB E ERERANER
KPI A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type in total and intensity. Energy conservation
BB MRIRA21 RENEAMERR /AR REEEREE - AR
KPIA2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity. Water conservation
BREWERA22 BRKEREE - FHIRK
KPI A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them. Energy conservation
BREERAS BAERERREBURAERERERNIR - B4R
KPI A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that is fit for purpose, | Water conservation

water efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them. EIEIEN

BB MERA2Y

HERBER KR LUBEARE EREAEREANGAELEKBFOTR -
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Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide Index

Reference Section

(R HERERGEHD R

Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPIs

IZER BE -RHERBRENER

;&%szm—

KPI A2.5

BB MERALS

Total packaging material used for finished products and, if applicable, with
reference to per unit produced.

RRmAAeEHNAE R(NER) BEEBNEE -

Use of packaging materials

BEMHNER

Aspect A3:
Environmental and
Natural Resources

EBHAS:BER
RARER

General Disclosure: Policies on minimizing the issuer’s significant impacts on the
environment and natural resources.

—REE RERTAURERRAERENEATENRE «

KPI A3.1

BB IRA3I

Description of the significant impacts of activities on the environment and natural
resources and the actions taken to manage them.

HEEBRDURARARERNEATY ERCRBEREHYENTD -

Environment and natural
resources
RERARER

Aspect A4: Climate

General Disclosure: Policies on identification and mitigation of significant climate

Climate Change

Change related issues which have impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer. AEEL

EEH A REEL —RRE BA R EHE AR e HETAEAVENEARKEBFENSX

KPI Ad.1 Description of the significant climate-related issues which have impacted, and those
which may impact, the issuer, and the actions taken to manage them.

BREANERAL BECERAReHETAELYENEARGRESE  REHTY

B. Social

B.#8&

Employment and Labour Standards

BRREIER

Aspect B1: Employment | General Disclosure: Information on the (a) policies; and (b) compliance with | EMPLOYMENT
relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer relating | E18

to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working hours, rest
periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, and other benefits and
welfare.

EEB1 Ef —RBE-BREMREE TRERER IERE RY TEKe k.
REGURERGEREMG: @BR: ROETHRTABEAY ENERE
BRADIMEH -

KPI B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type, age group and geographical region.

B A MIERBI RIER - BEER  FRANRMEESNESLY -

KPIB1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and geographical region.

BRBUERBRI2

BIR - FRANMBEADHEERAILE -
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Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide Index

Reference Section

(R HERERGEHSD R

Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPIs
TZEHE EE -REERBRENEE

;&%zm—

Aspect B2: Health and General Disclosure: Information on the (a) policies; and (b) compliance with | OCCUPATIONAL SAFETY
Safety relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer relating AND HEALTH
to providing a safe work environment and protecting employees from occupational | Bi¥% % Rk
hazards.
EEB2:#EHZ2 —REE:FRRUEZITERERRBEEREBENREN: @KE: kD)
BYHETABEAT ENRBEERADINES -
KPI B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in each of the past three years
including the reporting year.
BB MEEB21 BEZF(BRGEFE)BFERITHHAGRILE -
KPIB2.2 Lost days due to work injury.
BRENERB22 THERATIERE -
KPI B2.3 Description of occupational health and safety measures adopted, how they are
implemented and monitored.
BREWERB2S BRFRANBERREAR2ER IREBRTRERLE -
Aspect B3: Development | General Disclosure: Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for | TRAINING AND
and Training discharging duties at work. Description of training activities. DEVELOPMENT

JEH B3 : &R R

—BEE BERAEEECIERENANZRREARE M5 -

KPI B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by gender and employee category.
B & MR B3 RUNREERANESNXIIEERA L
KPI B3.2 The average training hours completed per employee by gender and employee

BREWIEERS2

category.

BEGREERAED  BREEZKFINFORH -

Bl R ¥R

Aspect B4: Labour
Standard

EEB4:STEH

General Disclosure: Information on the (a) policies; and (b) compliance with
relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer relating to
preventing child and forced labor.
~RBE:BBHLEIARTSDN : @QBR
REEERADNER -

ROETHETABEATEN

KPI B4.1

B2 B MR 12 B4

Description of measures to review employment practices to avoid child and forced
labour.

Bk REEANERAREETIREHSY -

KPI B4.2
BRERERB42

Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when discovered.

HEERRERBNRRRAERNARRN SR -

LABOUR STANDARDS
LIEE
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Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide Index

Reference Section

(R HERERGEHD R

Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPIs

IZER EE -RHBERBRENER

9288

Operating Practices

EEEH
Aspect B5: Supply Chain | General Disclosure: Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the | SUPPLY CHAIN
Management supply chain. MANAGEMENT
BHEBS: EHER ~BRE ERERENRE R SRR - REREE
KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region.
B & MR RBS. ROEESMEEREE -
KPI B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, number of suppliers where
the practices are being implemented, how they are implemented and monitored.
B ENUERB5.2 BREERRRERNEN RARTEBEEMNRERLE  UREBRTR
ERRE-
KPIB5.3 Description of practices used to identify environmental and social risks along the
supply chain, and how they are implemented and monitored.
BRENIEIEB5.3 ERAERAEEESARSORERLEARNEDN U RERRTRERNE -
KPI B5.4 Description of practices used to promote environmentally preferable products and
services when selecting suppliers, and how they are implemented and monitored.
BREB NS854 EREREREARRESARRERRRENED  URBBRTRERAE -

136 Q P GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED E£2&£EIZERER AT




ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANGE REPORT
R g REAWE

Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide Index Reference Section

(R HERERGEHSD R S8

Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPIs
TZEHE EE -REERBRENEE

Aspect B6: Product General Disclosure: Information on the (a) policies; and (b) compliance with relevant | PRODUCT RESPONSIBILITY
Responsibility laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer relating to health | & & EE
and safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters relating to products and
services provided and methods of redress.
EEB6 EmEE —REE AEMRMERAREORRERS BEE BERLEEENRHA
WAEN: (@ BE: ko) ETHETABEAYENRBZERAMINER -
KPI B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to recalls for safety and health
reasons.
B 2 WU 1RB6.1 BEACEREMARTRR 2 ERERAMARDKNA AL -
KPI B6.2 Number of products and service-related complaints received and how they are
dealt with.
BRENIEEB62 EREBRERRBRENRFHAIREL L -
KPI B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing and protecting intellectual property
rights.
B A NIERB6. HRREERRENZEEEANEDN -
KPI B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and recall procedures.
B R AR 1RB6.4 HREERTARRERRNER -
KPI B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies, and how they are
implemented and monitored.
B EANUERB6.S BREBEARRERAEEE UREBRTRERRE -
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Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide Index

Reference Section

(R HERERGEHD R

Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPIs
TZEE EE -REERBRENEE

328§

Aspect BT7: Anti-
Corruption

EEBT:RES

General Disclosure: Information on the (a) policies; and (b) compliance with relevant
laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer relating to bribery,
extortion, fraud and money laundering.
—REE-BEMLBER PR RFRAEEN @ BE R BFHEGA
REAYENEBARRROINEH -

KPI B71

BB IR 1B

Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices brought against the
issuer or its employees during the Reporting Period and the outcomes of the cases.

RBEANHETARARERIYCRENA K ARENUBRFDAER -

KPI B7.2

BB MIERR2

Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing procedures, how they are
implemented and monitored.

BEhBEHRERRF URERRATRERNE -

KPI B7.3
B EMEERTS

Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors and staff.
EAREEREIRENRETE -

ANTI-CORRUPTION
k&R

Aspect B8: Community

Investment

EHEBS HERE

General Disclosure: Policies on community engagement to understand the needs
of the communities where the issuer operates and to ensure its activities take into
consideration the communities” interests.
—RBE:BRNHEZ2ARTREBMEMERENRREEBEDEZRM
ENROHE -

KPI B8.1

BB MR RBe.

Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, environmental concerns, labour needs,
health, culture, sport).

EIRRHEB(WHE BRREEE SIFK BE YL EF)-

KPI B8.2
AR ENEERS2

Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the focus area.

EZIERABRAR(NeEARA) -

COMMUNITY INVESTMENT

HERE
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INDEPENDENT

B 2 A RS

AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the Shareholders of Q P Group Holdings Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION
What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of Q P Group Holdings
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”),
which are set out on pages 146 to 251, comprise:

° the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 December 2024;

° the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income for the year then ended;

° the consolidated statement of changes in equity for
the year then ended,;

° the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended; and

° the notes to the consolidated financial statements,
comprising material accounting policy information and
other explanatory information.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of
the Group as at 31 December 2024, and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”)
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

HEREEERBERARARKRR
(REESHEZME LA ERLF])

=R
EAECEITHARAR

EREEERAERART ATHEIEAR )
REWMBARUATHBEIEER]) &
REBENCEB1ENERAMBHRE 21

] RZTE-_NFEF+_A=+—HHE
BRI E:

«  BERALFEMGARERAL
2EREE

s EBEZRALFENGAERZIK:

s HEZBLFENGARSRER:
54

N

s KHAWBHmXRWE BREXRE
AARREEREMBEEESR -

EFHER

BHMRA ZEHEVBBRROBRES
BEAMAS(EEEFAAE])HEM
MEABVBHREEN(EBMBREE
RIDEEmMREHR®RT EEER_-F
THME+T A=+ -HENEEHBRR
LEBEZBLIFENKEAMBEREAR
HERLRE AEBRBREBAAGKDI
MEBEREZLRBE
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (‘“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the
Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities
in accordance with the Code.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period.
These matters were addressed in the context of our audit
of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and
in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a
separate opinion on these matters.

The key audit matter identified in our audit is related to
revenue recognition — sales of paper and other products.

Key Audit Matter

Matter
BEETEE

RENE#R
BPEREEFLSFAMAGHEMNER
B EN(EBBFERDETES
BPMEZSLEATAENEEEELRR
SIRBMRBAGEMBERRAENE
Tk PR — PR

HFIHEE RMMESHNERELL
RIEGEEMSRMANETERIRHER -

Bt
REBLEAMASEMO(EX S A
BRESTADUATEEISFRALD  RMABL
R BEEE YEBTTRFANEMLE
XEREEE-

FAEETER

AREAZTRAERERMANEXHE -
RBHARRAMBREANEARS/E
ENER ELEERAERMEAER
HAMBHRRMEABRRETREMN -
BT U EL=RERERNER -

BPERSAPIENNEREAFTEZSH
R iER — HERM R R EMBER °

How our audit addressed the Key Audit

EMNEFUIMNEERRETS R

Revenue recognition — sales of paper and
other products
WA -HEARIREMBLER

=2

Refer to Note 5 to the consolidated financial

In addressing this key audit matter, we performed
the following procedures:
MREBAEBBESAFTER  HMA2ETTIRE

statements. °
F2HREMBWMEAMEES -

Understood management’s process in
respect of revenue recognition policies of
original equipment manufacturer (“OEM”)
sales and web sales;

. THREREREBYHRGREHEH(OEM) iH
ERBEHHEEN KRS ERBERAME

° Understood and tested, on a sample
basis, management’s internal controls over
revenue recognition from OEM sales and
web sales;

. AT TE R EIEEHOEMIEE
Ko 48 it 81 6 U 25 T SR O N BB AR
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Key Audit Matter

HEEITEE

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'’S REPORT
B BEN RS

How our audit addressed the Key Audit
Matter
BMNEFUNEEFARENSE

Revenue from sales of paper and other products
amounted to HK$1,211 million for the year ended
31 December 2024. Revenue from the sale
of paper and other products is recognised at
the point in time when control of the goods is
transferred to the customer.
HE-_ZTZ-_NEF+-_A=+—BHIFEE " HEK
Sk EMERNBRBI2IESET - HER
EmkEMERNBEREMEFEERERP
B T IARERR o

We focused on this area due to its large volume
and large number of customers involved with goods
distributed to different locations. Furthermore,
the amount of sales of goods is significant to the
consolidated financial statements. Therefore, we
identified revenue recognition — sales of goods as
a key audit matter.

BB T T mEHRNE SN DHETR M
EmBERBMENAERF - i HEEYR
REZAMBHRERMEBEKN - Bt - HMABEF
WHER - HEEWRERETEE -

° Conducted testing of revenue, on sample
basis, by examining the relevant supporting
documents including but not limited to sales
orders, invoice and goods delivery notes;
and

. AT AR ETAR SHERE
BXH BRETRNEE]E R

REE R

° Tested, on a sample basis, revenue
transactions from the sales of products
recognised before and after the financial
year end to delivery documents to determine
whether revenue from the sales of products
had been recognised in the appropriate
financial period.

. UHMEFREMREELERNEBRABNE
mEHERERHETASR  UREEER
KE NEFTERHEREZZEEERES
SHHEIRER -

Based on our audit procedure performed, we
considered that the revenue recognition from sales
of paper and other products to be supportable by
the available evidence.

ERBFRATHETEF  RMRBABERERE
XEHERH DI EME RN KR ER -
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all of the
information included in the annual report other than the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does
not cover the other information and we do not express any
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in
this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS
AND THE AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that
give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued
by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal
control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

The audit committee are responsible for overseeing the
Group’s financial reporting process.
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Hibfz 2
ERREFRAHEMERAR - HibfE
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TRAPANEESES °
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a body,
and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level
of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted
in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis
of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant
to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by the directors.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'’S REPORT
B BEN RS
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F-AEREILB/KFHMRE  BTHE
REZBRB BN ENETNEN - &
X-—BABRMRATFERBEZR - 8
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o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’
use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether
a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to
the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions
may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and
content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the
consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

° Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business units within
the Group as a basis for forming an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible
for the direction, supervision and review of the audit
work performed for purpose of the group audit. We
remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the audit committee regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our
audit.

We also provide the audit committee with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence, and to communicate with them
all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be
thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

144 Q P GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED E£2&£EZERER AT

e HEERAKBLESTERN
ta 8 M 1F A e MR IR BT 2 BLAY
B RE O MERAFHEEARE
Y BERENFERKERINE
EERRENERXBFTABEAAH
EATHEEE - MRHEMABRF
EERTHEENE  HBALRERH
MRETiREFEEREIESEA M
BHRETHHEBRE - REEHEN
BEAR  AEREMOER - &K
MEmEENZBM®REA L
PTEVSEIERHERRE - A - RKF
BRERAIEEY EEETEER

G 4 A
B o

s FHERAMBHmRMERIIHRS I
BBNMAR BREE ULESE
MBHRREETERRERZS M
FIH -

e FEMBMTEEE AEDRH
B BEEERNERHEBEEMYG
EENRATNEENETERE A
HEEMBHRERTEKEFERRE
HER -BMEERE EENE
BREBEZEFMAITHETLE -
BHRBEAERAERREAL -

BHPEREZZEEEAT(EREE) A
SMEHLE HHEHLH EAFSH
RE - BREBMESER &5 G5 R ERE
i 1 (E /] & K ERFA o

HMEMNBEXZESRIBH  FHHAR
MENAEREBLENEBEERERE
Ko WwERMFABBAEAESEMERR
SR ERPIELENMAREMEMER -
AREBBOBRT - AR Y B
HEEBRBNTH RN HBEE



From the matters communicated with the audit committee,
we determine those matters that were of most significance
in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a
matter should not be communicated in our report because
the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Ho Chun Yu.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 24 March 2025
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CONSOLIDATED | #r&t8m M
STATEMENT OF PROFIT | 3 Jﬂjiﬁﬂﬁ 3 IR
OR LOSS AND OTHER | #====s#r=A=rauss
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

For the year ended 31 December 2024

2024
—E-NE

Note HK$’000
P &£ FTRERT

Revenue e 5 1,210,937 1,039,199
Cost of sales 85 & A AR (774,762) (683,107)
Gross profit £ F 436,175 356,092
Other gains, net H b Uy %5 % 58 6 4,060 8,428
Other income E bl A 7 12,776 10,154
Selling and distribution expenses HEMDHRAX (104,718) (101,603)
Administrative expenses THRAX (202,837) (182,650)
Operating profit LR 145,456 90,421
Finance income BEWA 10 7,419 7,794
Finance costs A& KA 10 (3,772) (3,997)
Finance income, net mEUW A HER 3,647 3,797
Profit before income tax B A 48 B Al s R 149,103 94,218
Income tax expense gt 11 (21,822) (15,950)
Profit for the year FRER 127,281 78,268
Attributable to: MT&FEA:

Equity holders of the Company NN b g 129,116 80,099

Non-controlling interests IR A (1,835) (1,831)

127,281 78,268

Earnings per share for profit D 7] BE 23 IR IR 4l 0

attributable to equity holders FHOZRER

of the Company
— Basic and diluted earnings per — BREARAREERT

share (expressed in HK cents per (AR BAL5 =)

share) 12 24.27 15.06
Other comprehensive loss, Hth2mEE B (BRBIE)

net of tax
Item that may be subsequently BB HDHEER

reclassified to profit or loss fE Z 15 5
Currency translation differences BB E =R (21,245) (20,129)
Total comprehensive income for F R H W & £ 5

the year 106,036 58,139
Attributable to: -2 A

Equity holders of the Company RRRRERIRE 107,871 59,970

Non-controlling interests FE 12 AR 2 (1,835) (1,831)

106,036 58,139

The notes on pages 153 to 251 are an integral part of these & 15312515 el D =N N S
consolidated financial statements. WMERMMEKE D

146 Q P GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED E£2&£EZERER AT



CONSOLIDATED | #r& BIFS AR R

STATEMENT OF | #=%-m#t=A=t-8
FINANCIAL POSITION

As at 31 December 2024

2024 2023
—E-NEF T =F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FH& T FET
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets RBDEE
Property, plant and equipment Y WMENEE 15 427,514 426,181
Investment property REME 17 2,135 2,135
Right-of-use assets FRESEE 20 144,783 149,876
Intangible assets EREE 18 27,187 28,995
Deposits, prepayments and other e BEREBEREAM
receivables JE W2 7% 38 23 19,957 33,086
Deferred income tax assets EILEFTEHERE 31 7,039 5,931
Equity investment at fair value BEAFEGFABERD
through profit or loss g X 19 500 500
629,115 646,704
Current assets REBEE
Inventories T8 21 76,309 65,130
Trade receivables =0 T & 22 151,582 163,323
Deposits, prepayments and other Be - BEAREREAM
receivables J& W 5K 18 23 56,484 49,209
Debt instruments at amortised cost % 5 84 B 2 71) BE 59
BEELIAE 19 7,733 3,900
Income tax recoverable A Ug [B] FiT 15 Fd 3,184 2,026
Cash and bank balances Be MIR{TE R 24 246,481 160,365
541,773 443,953
Total assets EEH#E 1,170,888 1,090,657
EQUITY =
Equity attributable to equity AATEZERRENS
holders of the Company =
Share capital Ji% 7 16 5,320 5,320
Share premium & 190 B 25 139,593 139,593
Reserves (e 25 738,074 688,738
Shareholders’ funds [ RE & 882,987 833,651
Non-controlling interests FE 1 IR 2 (751) 1,069
Total equity B 882,236 834,720

The notes on pages 153 to 251 are an integral part of these & 7 15322518 2 Mi 5= B A4 & B 7%
consolidated financial statements. WEMABKEI S -
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
e BRI

As at 31 December 2024

RZZE-MFE+—A=+—H

2024 2023
—E-mEF T =
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
LIABILITIES aE
Non-current liabilities ERBERE
Deferred income tax liabilities BEFFHER 31 14,277 15,184
Lease liabilities HERE 20 1,627 1,138
15,904 16,322
Current liabilities REAEE
Trade payables 2 SN RIE 26 75,227 64,436
Accruals, provisions and other JETER  BELEM
payables FES 3k 1E 27 97,803 97,351
Contract liabilities BREE 5 21,417 17,101
Current income tax liabilities BNEAFTIS i B & 9,195 11,037
Liabilities under supplier finance HEPNBREZHIETH
arrangements afE 30 16,601 —
Borrowings & 28 50,150 47,879
Lease liabilities HERE 20 2,355 1,811
272,748 239,615
Total liabilities BEHE 288,652 255,937
Total equity and liabilities ExhkaEHEE 1,170,888 1,090,657

The consolidated financial statements on pages 146 to 251 F146E251E NG A MK HREED R -
were approved by the Board of Directors on 24 March 2025 —HAF=A-t+HBEESe#t T H

and were signed on its behalf. NTEERABEE -
CHENG Wan Wai YEUNG Keng Wu Kenneth
R 2 ¥ 858
Director Director
= =

The notes on pages 153 to 251 are an integral part of these & M 15322518 2 M 5= B A 42 & B 7%
consolidated financial statements. WEMBKE D ©
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CONSOLIDATED | #r & #EzsiE sk
STATEMENT OF BE-_T-mME+-A=+—AILEE
CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the year ended 31 December 2024

Attributable to owners of the Company
i ik
Share Share Capital Statutory Non-
capital premium reserve reserve  Translation Retained  controlling
reserve earnings GIER

(Note (Note 25)
J g EXGth AR E
Wit ‘ iz BERE  RERM
HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000

At 1 January 2023 RZE-=£-F-H
Profit/loss) for the year Enighl /(B8
Other comprehensive H2ERA

income
Currency translation differences E%AEZE

AL BT BT T Tin T

5,320 139,508 (3,686) 36,909 2.29) 667,003 - 842,841

80,099 (1,831) 78,268

_ _ - - 20,129) - - 20,129)

Total comprehensive income 2ERALE

- - - - (20,129) 80,099 (1,831) 58,139

Transactions with ownersin  £E&ANEERA
their capacity as owners ~ FHEFHRS

Contrioutions from non- FERERILE
controlling interests - - - - - - 2,900 2,900
Dividends paid Vot 1) ERREWZ1) - - - - - (69,160) - (69,160)
Statutory reserve EERE - - - 3,868 - (3,869) - -
- - - 3,808 - (73,028) 2,900 (66,260)
At 31 December 2023 RZEZZE1ZR
=t-f 5,320 139,593 (3,686) 40,777 (22,421) 674,074 1,009 834,720

The notes on pages 153 to 251 are an integral part of these & X F153F 2518 2 M 5= B AN 45 4 B 7§

consolidated financial statements.

WRHVAKED ©
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

= A EE > 454
%ﬂ'\ [m=) *& fm A2 @J %
For the year ended 31 December 2024

BE-T-MET-ASt-BLFRE

Attributable to owners of the Company

FAREARE

Share Share Capital  Statutory Non-
capital  premium reserve reserve Other Translation  Retained controlling

(Note 16/ (Note23)  (Note25)  (Note 24 reserve reserve  earnings  interest Total
Bx  ROEE  EARE  iRRE
W) (i) (WE2)  (Wd2s) BtRE BERE  RERN  #BRER it
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HK§'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$000
Thn Tin Thn Tin Thn T Thn T Tin

At1 January 2024 RZE-mE-5-B 5,320 139,593 (3,686) 40,717 - (22421 674,074 1,069 834,720
Profit/oss) for the year FRgfl/ (BB - - - - - - 19116 (1838 127,281

Other comprehensive Ap2EKA

income
Curency franglation differences  EXHEZE - - - - - (129 - - (145
Total comprehensive income 2R\ &% - - - - - (21,45 129,116 (1,835 106,036

Transactions with ownersin - EEEANEERA
their capacity as owners ~ SHEFHRS

Contributions fiom non- FEREALE
controlling inferests - - - - - - - 15 18
Transactions with
non-contraling inerests - - - - (15) - - - (19)
Divicends paid (Aore 1) - - - - - - (58,520) - (58,520)
Statutory reserve - - - 1,783 - - (1,783) - -
- - - 1,783 (15) - (60,303) 15 (58,520)
At 31 December 2024 H-E-mELZR
=t-A 530 139,593 (3,686) 42,560 (15)  (43672) 742,887 (751) 882,236

The notes on pages 153 to 251 are an integral part of these & R E153E251H 2 M 5T A AN 47 4 B 7%
consolidated financial statements. WMEMABKE S -
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CONSOLIDATED | #r 8l ®mE xR
STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS

For the year ended 31 December 2024

BEZ-NMFt-A=t—HILFE

2024 2023
—E-_MF —E =%
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5 FET FAT
Cash flows from operating RETBBSRERE
activities
Cash generated from operations KEMERE 32(a) 230,984 116,010
Income tax refunded BIR TS 1,964 7,355
Income tax paid =EIIECE (28,849) (11,229)
Net cash generated from e TEESER e FE
operating activities 204,099 112,136
Cash flows from investing REZDHFBSREERE
activities
Interest received B U F B 6,424 7,339
Purchase of property, plant and BEME BEKL
equipment and deposit for B A R -
property, plant and equipment WBENEE IS (74,482) (119,333)
Proceeds from disposals of HEME BWEK
property, plant and equipment Btz TISRIE 32(b) 191 553
Purchase of intangible assets BABRBEEE (440) (1,888)
Acquisition of debt instruments at W i 32 8 35 X AR 51 BR &Y
amortised cost BEELTE (7,427) —
Acquisition of equity investment WA TFEFAER
at fair value through profit or loss B IR IS & - (500)
Proceeds from redemption of debt & 81 3% #f £ 5k 7K 71] BR #Y
instruments at amortised cost B TEMAEHRE 3,896 11,722
Net cash used for placement in time 1 A31E A & Z| 8 #9 & HA
deposits maturing after three GEREARE FRE
months 4,796 (92,885)
Net cash used in investing activities & & E & IR & %48 (67,042) (194,992)

The notes on pages 153 to 251 are an integral part of these

consolidated financial statements.

HNFEIBEB1E 2 WX R AR E M
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
meHeRER

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-T-MF+-A=t+-ALFE

2024 2023
—E-NEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Cash flows from financing RMETHMESESRE
activities
Proceeds from borrowings EE7IECT ¢ 32(c) 147,058 30,805
Repayment of borrowings BEEXN 32(c) (143,948) (99,275)
Proceeds from supplier finance HERMRELHRE
arrangements FRIE 32(c) 22,759 -
Repayment of supplier finance EEHEERELH
arrangements 32(c) (5,833) —
Dividends paid to the Company’s B ARR KR
shareholders % 2 13 (58,520) (69,160)
Payment for lease liabilities HEBEMNK 32(c) (2,336) (2,318)
Interest paid SXNERS 32(c) (3,528) (3,825)
Contributions from non-controlling ~ JE#E AX#E 25 £ &
interests 900 175
Net cash used in financing activities Bt & E T IR & F 58 (43,448) (143,598)

Net increase/(decrease) incash HERREEEY

and cash equivalents i, R FE8E 93,609 (226,454)
Cash and cash equivalents at FURekAEHF

beginning of the year By 67,480 294,721
Effect of changes in foreign [EXEFHm L

exchange rates (1,677) (787)
Cash and cash equivalents FRASRAEE

at end of the year B 24 159,412 67,480

The notes on pages 153 to 251 are an integral part of these & M 15322518 2 M 5= B A4 & B 7%
consolidated financial statements. WEMBKE D ©
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2.1

NOTES TO THE
CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

GENERAL INFORMATION

The Company is an investment holding company and
its subsidiaries are principally engaged in manufacturing
and trading of paper products.

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands
on 19 April 2018 as an exempted company with limited
liability under the Companies Law (Cap. 22, Law 3 of
1961 as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands.
The address of the Company’s registered office is 71 Fort
Street, P.O. Box 500, George Town, Grand Cayman KY1-
1106, Cayman Islands.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollars (‘HK$”) unless otherwise stated.

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The basis of preparation and other potentially material
accounting policies applied in the preparation of
these consolidated financial statements are set out
below. These policies have been consistently applied
throughout the years presented, unless otherwise
stated.

Basis of preparation

The principal accounting policies applied in the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements
which are in accordance with the Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) and disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
Cap. 622 are set out below. The consolidated financial
statements have been prepared under the historical
cost convention, except that investment property and
equity investment at fair value through profit or loss are
measured at fair value.

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements
in conformity with HKFRSs requires the use of
certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires
management to exercise its judgement in the process
of applying the Group’s accounting policies. The areas
involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or
areas where assumptions and estimates are significant
to the consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB MR M

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)
()  Amendments to HKFRSs and interpretation

adopted by the Group

The following amendments and interpretation

to standards are mandatory for the first time for

the financial year beginning 1 January 2024 and

currently relevant to the Group:

Amendments to HKAS 1
or Non-current

FAR G ERIE (BFTA)

Amendments to HKAS 1
EE SR B8 (BT A)

Amendments to HKFRS 16

Leaseback

BBV B ®REERE165%
(BETA)

HK Interpretation 5 (Revised)

21

Classification of Liabilities as Current
HEEDEBME IR E

Non-current Liabilities with Covenants
MEERENIERBAE

Lease Liability in Sales and

ERMENBEERE

Presentation of Financial Statements

RAUEERHEMAEERS
ATERCREE (F)

mBLE (&

(i) AEERMNNLEEITESH
HREER R ZE
THSBEENZETARRZE
TR E-_NF—A—HH®
ZUHBMEEERESRMARE
AIEL NS E AR -

1 January 2024
—E_MF—-—HA—H

1 January 2024
—ZT-mME—-HF—H

1 January 2024

—E-MF—H—H

1 January 2024

— Classification by the Borrower
of a Term Loan that Contains a
Repayment on Demand Clause
MBHRENER — REXADED
BERFEIGRNEHER

EERBESR(KERD) —E-NE—-A—H

Amendments to HKFRS 7 and

HKAS 7
EEVBRERYFREFTAN) HEBBELH
LBEBEHENETRETA)

The application of the amendments to HKFRS
and interpretation in the current year has had no
material impact on the Group’s financial position
and performance for the current and prior
years and/or on the disclosures set out in these
consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND

SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY

fre SRR M

2 RREERHMBITEEARS
TR E ()

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

(if)
adopted by the Group

Amendments to HKAS 21 and
HKFRS 1

BERGFENFE21HR BT A &
BB B RE LR FE15% (BT A)

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and
HKFRS 7

EEUBRELEFEIREFTA) &
FRMBEHREENETRUEFTA)

Amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 7,
HKFRS 9, HKFRS 10 and HKAS 7

EREVBRELEEIRUETA)
BREMBHRELNETHRUEFTA)
FEMBRELEFIRUEFTA)
FAEYHHREERF105E EFT )
REBEAENETHR(EFTA)

HKFRS 18

& M % R & 2 B 1857

New and amendments to HKFRSs not yet

mEBLE E(EF)
iy AEBERMRRAOITERL
CHESC TR e

Effective for
annual periods
beginning on

or after
RT5 A%
ZEBRERN
FEHBER

Lack of Exchangeability 1 January 2025

Rz ERE —ET-h¥—H—H

Amendments to the Classification
and Measurement of Financial
Instruments

M ITASBENFTEZERT

1 January 2026

—E-RF—H—H

Annual Improvements to HKFRS
Accounting Standards —
Volume 11

BEMBRELN G ERZ
FRBE — F111H

1 January 2026

—E-RF—H—H

Presentation and Disclosure in
Financial Statements
WK 2 25 R E

1 January 2027

—E-t+F—A—H
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR BTSRRI EE

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND 2 GUEERHMAUEERS
SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY TR E(E)
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued) 21 FEEE(EK)
(i)  New and amendments to HKFRSs not yet (i) KB R AR AT &g

adopted by the Group (Continued) (BRI B BT B R EER(E)

Effective for
annual periods
beginning on

or after

RT 5 B

ZEREN

FEHBEX

HKFRS 19 Subsidiaries without Public 1 January 2027
Accountability: Disclosures

ERMBREERFE195% FAHARFTEAZMBART - —T=—tF—A—H

[

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and Sale or Contribution of Assets To be determined

HKAS 28 between an Investor and its

Associate or Joint Venture
BEBUBHRELERFICRUBEI AR REEEREBEREGERAIZMH
A FIERFE2858 (BFT ) MEEDEREZA

N
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

(if)

(i)

New and amendments to HKFRSs not yet
adopted by the Group (Continued)

Certain new and amendments to HKFRSs have
been published that are not mandatory for 31
December 2024 reporting period and have not
been early adopted by the Group. These new and
amendments to HKFRSs are not expected to have
a material impact on the Group in the current or
future reporting periods and on foreseeable future
transactions.

Change in accounting policy on classification of
borrowings

As a result of the adoption of the amendments to
HKAS 1, the Group changed its accounting policy
for the classification of borrowings:

“Borrowings are classified as current liabilities
unless, at the end of the reporting period, the
Group has a right to defer settlement of the liability
for at least 12 months after the reporting period.
Covenants that the Group is required to comply
with, on or before the end of the reporting period,
are considered in classifying loan arrangements
with covenants as current or non-current.
Covenants that the Group is required to comply
with after the reporting period do not affect the
classification.”

This new policy did not result in a change in the
classification of the Group’s borrowings. The
Group did not make retrospective adjustments as
a result of adopting the amendments to HKAS 1.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB MR M

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

2.2 Subsidiaries

2.2.1 Consolidation

A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity)
over which the Group has control. The Group controls
an entity when the Group is exposed to, or has rights
to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity
and has the ability to affect those returns through its
power over the entity. Subsidiaries are consolidated
from the date on which control is transferred to the
Group. They are deconsolidated from the date that
control ceases.

(a) Business combinations

The Group applies the acquisition method
to account for business combinations. The
consideration transferred for the acquisition
of a subsidiary is the fair values of the assets
transferred, the liabilities incurred to the former
owners of the acquiree and the equity interests
issued by the Group. The consideration transferred
includes the fair value of any asset or liability
resulting from a contingent consideration
arrangement. Identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a
business combination are measured initially at their
fair values at the acquisition date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANGIAL STATEMENTS
KRB MR M

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND 2 RBEEERHMIUEERR
SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY TR E (&)
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

2.2 Subsidiaries (Continued) 22 B AT (&)

2.21 Consolidation (Continued) 221 BN (&)

(a) Business combinations (Continued) @ EHFE&G(E)

The Group recognises any non-controlling interest
in the acquiree on an acquisition-by-acquisition
basis. Non-controlling interests in the acquiree that
are present ownership interests and entitle their
holders to a proportionate share of the entity’s net
assets in the event of liquidation are measured
at either fair value or the present ownership
interests’ proportionate share in the recognised
amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets.
All other components of non-controlling interests
are measured at their acquisition date fair value,
unless another measurement basis is required by
HKFRSs.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as
incurred.

If the business combination is achieved in stages,
the acquisition date carrying value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is re-
measured to fair value at the acquisition date; any
gain or loss arising from such re-measurement are
recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred
by the Group is recognised at fair value at the
acquisition date. Subsequent changes to the
fair value of the contingent consideration that is
deemed to be an asset or liability is recognised
in accordance with HKFRS 9 in profit or loss.
Contingent consideration that is classified as
equity is not remeasured, and its subsequent
settlement is accounted for within equity.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RA MBS ERARMEE

==

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

2.2 Subsidiaries (Continued)
2.2.1 Consolidation (Continued)

(@) Business combinations (Continued)

The excess of the consideration transferred, the
amount of any non-controlling interest in the
acquiree and the acquisition-date fair value of any
previous equity interest in the acquiree over the
fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired is
recorded as goodwill. If the total of consideration
transferred, non-controlling interest recognised
and previously held interest measured is less than
the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary
acquired in the case of a bargain purchase, the
difference is recognised directly in the profit or
loss.

Intra-group transactions, balances and unrealised
gain on transactions between group companies
are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also
eliminated. When necessary, amounts reported by
subsidiaries have been adjusted to conform to the
Group’s accounting policies.

2.2.2 Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost
less impairment. Cost also includes direct attributable
costs of investment. The results of subsidiaries are
accounted for by the Company on the basis of dividend
received and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries
are required upon receiving a dividend from these
investments if the dividend exceeds the total
comprehensive income of the subsidiary in the period
the dividend is declared or if the carrying amount of the
investment in the separate financial statements exceeds
the carrying amount in the consolidated financial
statements of the investee’s net assets including
goodwill.
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2.3

2.4

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner
consistent with the internal reporting provided to the
chief operating decision-maker. The chief operating
decision-maker, who is responsible for allocating
resources and assessing performance of the operating
segments, has been identified as the executive director
of the Company that make strategic decisions.

Foreign currency translation
(@) Functional and presentation currency

[tems included in the consolidated financial
statements of each of the Group’s entities are
measured using the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the entity operates
(the “functional currency”). The consolidated
financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars (“HKD” or “HK$”), which is the Company’s
functional and the Group’s presentation currency.

(b) Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into
the functional currency using the exchange rates
at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange
gains and losses resulting from the settlement
of such transactions and from the translation of
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies at year end exchange rates are
generally recognised in profit or loss. They are
deferred in equity if they relate to qualifying cash
flow hedges and qualifying net investment hedges
or are attributable to part of the net investment in
a foreign operation.

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate
to borrowings are presented in the profit or loss,
within finance costs. All other foreign exchange
gains and losses are presented in the profit or loss
on a net basis within other gains, net.
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2.4
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ARE BRI R

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

2.4 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(o)

Transactions and balances (Continued)

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair
value in a foreign currency are translated using
the exchange rates at the date when the fair value
was determined. Translation differences on assets
and liabilities carried at fair value are reported as
part of the fair value gain or loss. For example,
translation differences on non-monetary assets
and liabilities such as equities held at fair value
through profit or loss are recognised in profit
or loss as part of the fair value gain or loss and
translation differences on non-monetary assets
such as equities classified as fair value through
other comprehensive income are recognised in
other comprehensive income.

Group companies

The results and financial position of all the group
entities (none of which has the currency of a
hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional
currency different from the presentation currency
are translated into the presentation currency as
follows:

()  assets and liabilities for each statement of
financial position presented are translated at
the closing rate at the date of that statement
of financial position;

(i) income and expenses for each statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income are translated at average exchange
rates (unless this average is not a reasonable
approximation of the cumulative effect of
the rates prevailing on the transaction dates,
in which case income and expenses are
translated at the rate on the dates of the
transactions); and
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2.4

2.5

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Foreign currency translation (Continued)
(c) Group companies (Continued)

(i) all resulting currency translation differences
are recognised in other comprehensive
income.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets
and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at
the closing rate. Currency translation differences
arising are recognised in other comprehensive
income.

Property, plant and equipment

The Group’s accounting policy for property, plant
and equipment is explained in Note 15. All property,
plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less
depreciation. Historical cost includes expenditure that is
directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s
carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset,
as appropriate, only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the item will flow to
the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is
derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance are
charged to profit or loss during the financial period in
which they are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ARE BRI R

2.5

2.6

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment
(Continued)

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of
each reporting date.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately
to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount
is greater than its estimated recoverable amount.

Gain and loss on disposals are determined by
comparing the proceeds with carrying amount. These
are included in profit or loss.

Construction-in-progress represents buildings and
plant and machinery under construction and pending
installation, and is stated at cost less impairment
losses. Costs comprises direct construction costs, the
cost of plant and machinery and applicable borrowing
costs incurred during the construction period. No
provision for depreciation is made on construction in-
progress until such time as the relevant assets are
completed and ready for intended use. When the
assets concerned are brought into use, the costs are
transferred to other property, plant and equipment and
depreciated in accordance with the policy as stated in
Note 15.

Investment property

Investment property is held for long-term rental
yields and is not occupied by the Group. Investment
property is initially measured at cost, including related
transaction costs and where applicable borrowing
costs. Subsequently, it is carried at fair value. Changes
in fair values are presented in profit or loss as part of
other gains, net.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

2.7 Intangible assets

(@)

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on the acquisition of subsidiaries
represents the excess of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interest in the acquiree and the acquisition-date
fair value of any previous equity interest in the
acquiree over the fair value of the identified net
assets acquired.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill
acquired in a business combination is allocated
to each of the cash-generating units (“CGUSs”"), or
groups of CGUs, that is expected to benefit from
the synergies of the combination. Each unit or
group of units to which the goodwill is allocated
represents the lowest level within the entity
at which the goodwill is monitored for internal
management purposes. Goodwill is monitored at
the operating segment level.

Computer software

Computer software licenses are stated at
historical cost less accumulated amortisation and
impairment losses. Amortisation is calculated
using the straight-line method to allocate the cost
over their estimated useful lives, which are five
years.

Golf club membership

Golf club membership is stated at historical cost.
The club membership has an indefinite useful life
which is not subject to amortisation and is tested
annually for impairment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RA MBS ERARMEE

2.8

2.9
2.91

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets

Goodwill and intangible assets with an indefinite useful
life are not subject to amortisation and are tested
annually for impairment, or more frequently if events
or changes in circumstances indicate that they might
be impaired. Other assets are tested for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An
impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which
the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable
amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an
asset’s fair value less costs to disposal and value in
use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets
are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are
separately identifiable cash inflows which are largely
independent of the cash inflows from other assets or
groups of CGUs.

Non-financial assets other than goodwill that suffered
an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the
impairment at each reporting date.

Financial assets
Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following
measurement categories:

() those to be measured subsequently at fair value
(either through other comprehensive income, or
through profit or loss); and

(i) those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the entity’s business
model for managing the financial assets and the
contractual terms of the cash flows.

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial
asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial
asset not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition of
the financial asset. Transaction costs of financial assets
carried at fair value through profit or loss are expensed
in profit or loss.
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2.9
2.9.1

29.2

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification (Continued)

For assets measured at fair value, gain and loss
will either be recorded in profit or loss or other
comprehensive income. For investments in debt
instruments, this will depend on the business model in
which the investment is held. For investments in equity
instruments, this will depend on whether the Group
has made an irrevocable election at the time of initial
recognition to account for the equity investment at fair
value through other comprehensive income.

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and only
when its business model for managing those assets
changes.

Recognition and measurement
Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends
on the Group’s business model for managing the asset
and the cash flow characteristics of the asset. There
are two measurement categories into which the Group
classifies its debt instruments:

o Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection
of contractual cash flows where those cash flows
represent solely payments of principal and interest
are measured at amortised cost. A gain or loss on
a debt investment that is subsequently measured
at amortised cost and is not part of a hedging
relationship is recognised in the profit or loss when
the asset is derecognised or impaired. Interest
income from these financial assets is included in
finance income using the effective interest rate
method.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ARE BRI R

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Recognition and measurement (Continued)

Debt instruments (Continued)

2.9
29.2

° Fair value through profit or loss: Assets that do
not meet the criteria for amortised cost or financial
assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income are measured at fair value through profit
or loss. A gain or loss on a debt investment that is
subsequently measured at fair value through profit
or loss and is not part of a hedging relationship is
recognised in profit or loss and presented net in
“other gains, net” in the period in which it arises.

2.9.3 Derecognition

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights
to receive cash flows from the financial assets have
expired or have been transferred and the Group has
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership.

2.9.4 Impairment of financial assets

The Group has the following types of financial assets
subject to HKFRS 9’s expected credit loss model:

o Trade receivables

° Other receivables

° Debt instruments at amortised cost

o Cash and cash equivalents

The Group assesses on a forward looking basis the
expected credit losses associated with its assets
carried at amortised cost.

For trade receivables, the Group applies the simplified
approach permitted by HKFRS 9, which requires

expected lifetime losses to be recognised from initial
recognition of the receivables.
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2.9
294

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Impairment on other receivables is measured as either
12-month expected credit losses or lifetime expected
credit loss, depending on whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
then impairment is measured as lifetime expected credit
losses.

To manage risk arising from cash and cash equivalents,
the Group only transacts with state-owned or reputable
financial institutions. There has been no recent history
of default in relation to these financial institutions.

2.10 Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net
amount reported in the consolidated statement of
financial position when there is a legally enforceable
right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an
intention to settle on a net basis or realise the asset and
settle the liability simultaneously. The legally enforceable
right must not be contingent on future events and must
be enforceable in the normal course of business and
in the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy of the
Company or the counterparty.

2.9
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RA MBS ERARMEE

2.11

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Trade receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers
for merchandise sold or services performed in the
ordinary course of business. If collection of trade and
other receivables is expected in one year or less (or in
the normal operating cycle of the business if longer),
they are classified as current assets. If not, they are
presented as non-current assets.

Trade receivables are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method, less
provision for impairment.

2.12 Cash and cash equivalents

In the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash
and cash equivalents include cash in hand, deposits
held at call with banks, other short-term highly liquid
investments with original maturities of three months or
less, and bank overdrafts. In the consolidated statement
of financial position, bank overdrafts are shown within
borrowings in current liabilities.

2.13 Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of
new shares are shown in equity as a deduction, net of
tax, from the proceeds.

2.14 Trade payables

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or
services that have been acquired in the ordinary
course of business from suppliers. Trade payables are
classified as current liabilities if payment is due within
one year or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the
business if longer). If not, they are presented as non-
current liabilities.

Trade payables are recognised initially at fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND

SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

2.15 Borrowings and borrowing costs

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value,
net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are
subsequently carried at amortised cost; any difference
between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the
redemption value is recognised in the profit or loss over
the period of the borrowings using the effective interest
method.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are
recognised as transaction costs of the loan to the
extent that it is probable that some or all of the facility
will be drawn down. In this case, the fee is deferred
until the draw-down occurs. To the extent there is no
evidence that it is probable that some or all of the
facility will be drawn down, the fee is capitalised as a
pre-payment for liquidity services and amortised over
the period of the facility to which it relates.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of
the liability for at least 12 months after the end of the
reporting period.

General and specific borrowing costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or
production of a qualifying asset are capitalised during
the period of time that is required to complete and
prepare the asset for its intended use or sale. Qualifying
assets are assets that necessarily take a substantial
period of time to get ready for their intended use or
sale.

Other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in
which they are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ARE BRI R

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

2.16 Current and deferred income tax

The tax expense for the period comprises current and
deferred tax. Tax is recognised in profit or loss, except
to the extent that it relates to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this
case, the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, respectively.

(@) Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on
the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively
enacted at the statements of financial position
date in the countries where the Group operates
and generates taxable income. Management
periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns
with respect to situations in which applicable
tax regulation is subject to interpretation. It
establishes provisions where appropriate on the
basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax
authorities.

(b) Deferred income tax
Inside basis differences

Deferred income tax is recognised, using the
liability method, on temporary differences arising
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and
their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial
statements. However, deferred tax liabilities
are not recognised if they arise from the initial
recognition of goodwill, the deferred income tax is
not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition
of an asset or liability in a transaction other than
a business combination that at the time of the
transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable
profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined
using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the consolidated
statement of financial position date and are
expected to apply when the related deferred
income tax asset is realised or the deferred
income tax liability is settled.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

2.16 Current and deferred income tax
(Continued)

(0)

Deferred income tax (Continued)
Inside basis differences (Continued)

Deferred income tax assets are recognised only
to the extent that it is probable that future taxable
profit will be available against which the temporary
differences can be utilised.

Outside basis differences

Deferred income tax liabilities are provided
on taxable temporary differences arising from
investments in subsidiaries, except for deferred
income tax liability where the timing of the reversal
of the temporary difference is controlled by the
Group and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised on
deductible temporary differences arising from
investments in subsidiaries only to the extent that
it is probable the temporary difference will reverse
in the future and there is sufficient taxable profit
available against which the temporary difference
can be utilised.

Offsetting

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset
when there is a legally enforceable right to offset
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and
when the deferred income tax assets and liabilities
relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority on either the taxable entity or different
taxable entities where there is an intention to settle
the balances on a net basis.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ARE BRI R

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

2.17 Employee benefits

(@)

Retirement benefits

The Group operates a defined contribution
Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefit
scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance
for those employees who are eligible to participate
in the MPF Scheme. Contributions are made
based on a percentage of the employees’ basic
salaries and are charged to profit or loss as they
become payable in accordance with the rules
of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF
Scheme are held separately from those of the
Group in an independently administered fund.
The Group’s employer contributions vest fully
with the employees when contributed into the
MPF Scheme. Where employees leave the MPF
scheme prior to the full vesting of the employer’s
contributions, the amount of forfeited contributions
cannot be used to reduce the contributions
payable by the Group.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which
operate outside Hong Kong are required to
participate in the central pension schemes (the
“Pension Schemes”) operated by the respective
local governments. The subsidiaries are required
to contribute certain percentages of their payroll
costs to the Pension Schemes. The only obligation
of the Group with respect to the Pension Schemes
is to pay the ongoing contributions under
the Pension Schemes. The contributions are
charged to profit or loss as they become payable
in accordance with the rules of the Pension
Schemes.

Bonus plans

The Group recognises a liability and an expense
for bonuses, after taking into consideration of the
profit attributable to the Company’s shareholders
and certain adjustments. The Group recognises
a provision where contractually obliged or where
there is a past practice that has created a
constructive obligation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

2.17 Employee benefits (Continued)

()

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave and long
service leave are recognised when they accrue to
employees. A provision is made for the estimated
liability for annual leave and long service leave as
a result of services rendered by employees up
to the date of consolidated statement of financial
position.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity
leave are not recognised until the time of leave.

Long service payments

Employees who have completed the required
number of years of service to the Group are
eligible for long service payments.

A provision is recognised in respect of the
probable future long service payment expected
to be made. The provision is measured as the
present value of expected future payments,
consideration is given to expected future wage and
salary levels, experience of employee departures
and periods of service.

2.18 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a
present legal or constructive obligation as a result of
past events; it is probable that an outflow of resources
will be required to settle the obligation; and the
amount has been reliably estimated. Provisions are not
recognised for future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the
likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement
is determined by considering the class of obligations as
a whole. A provision is recognised even if the likelihood
of an outflow with respect to any one item included in
the same class of obligations may be small.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB MR M

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

2.18 Provisions (Continued)

Provisions are measured at the present value of the
expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and
the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in
the provision due to passage of time is recognised as
interest expense.

Contingent asset is not recognised as receipt of the
amount remains uncertain.

2.19 Leases

Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a
corresponding liability at the date on which the leased
asset is available for use by the Group. Each lease
payment is allocated between the liability and finance
cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or loss over
the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic
rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability
for each period.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially
measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities
include the net present value of the following lease
payments:

o fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments), less any incentives receivable; and

° payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if
the lease reflects the lessee exercising that option.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest
rate implicit in the lease, if that rate can be determined,
or the entity’s incremental borrowing rate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iR B B R M

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND 2 MBAEBERNHMUEKEERS
SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY TR E(E)
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

2.19 Leases (Continued) 219 HE (&)

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising FTHAREERKAGE  BEFEUT

the following: B

e the amount of the initial measurement of lease s HEBBENVIFHELE:
liability;

e any lease payments made on or before the e MNHEWBBES ZATFTERNEMR
commencement date less any lease incentives MENK  REMSOEMHAE
received; and B8R &

e any initial direct costs. e EWRUIMBEEMKAR -

Details about the Group’s leasing policies are provided FEAAEBEHERENFBH NN

in Note 20 for the right-of-use assets and lease 20 AEEEREERE -

liabilities.

2.20 Research and development expenses 220 FEE B X
Research expenditure and development expenditure TEERENERNCAELEED
that do not meet the criteria to capitalise as an MERIREESTER AR Y - &
intangible assets are recognised as an expense as Al 1 58 73 B 2 B [ 35 A0 AR R H 12 B
incurred. Development costs previously recognised MTEeRRRBEE °

as an expense are not recognised as an asset in a
subsequent period.

2.21 Dividend distribution 2.21 R E 2K
Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders DETARARENRE  RAR
is recognised as a liability in the Group’s consolidated AR ES(WNEB R ERER
statement of financial position and the Company’s HRARNEAEENGAMERRE
financial statements in the period in which the dividends RARGBHHBHREFERBEE -

are approved by the Company’s shareholders or
directors, where appropriate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A RTREHI

AR

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

2.22 Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair
value where there is a reasonable assurance that the
grant will be received and the Group will comply with all
attached conditions.

Government grants relating to costs are deferred
and recognised in the profit or loss over the period
necessary to match them with the costs that they are
intended to compensate.

Government grants relating to the purchase of property,
plant and equipment are included in non-current
liabilities as deferred income and they are credited to
profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the expected
useful lives of the related assets.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
Financial risk factors

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial
risks: market risk (including foreign exchange risk and
cash flow and fair value interest rate risk), credit risk
and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk management
program focuses on the unpredictability of financial
markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects
on the Group’s financial performance. The Group
does not use any derivative financial instruments for
speculative purposes.

Risk management is carried out by management of
the Group. Formal and informal management meetings
are held to identify significant risks and to develop
procedures to deal with any risks in relation to the
Group’s businesses.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
Market risk

(@)

()

Foreign exchange risk

The Group operates mainly in the People’s
Republic of China and Hong Kong (“PRC”)
with most transactions denominated in either
Renminbi (“RMB”), HKD, United States dollars
(“USD”) or Euro (“EUR”). The Group is exposed
to foreign exchange risk primarily through sales
and purchases transactions that are denominated
in a currency other than the functional currency
of the relevant subsidiary. The Group considers
its foreign currency exposure mainly arises
from the exposure of RMB and USD. As HKD is
pegged to USD, the Group believes the exposure
to transactions denominated in USD which are
entered into by group companies with a functional
currency of HKD to be insignificant.

The Group manages its exposures to foreign
currency transactions by monitoring the level
of foreign currency receipts and payments. The
Group ensures that the net exposure to foreign
exchange risk is kept to an acceptable level from
time to time. The Group also regularly reviews
the portfolio of local and international customers
and the currencies in which the transactions
are denominated so as to minimise the Group’s
exposure to foreign exchange risk. The Group
intends to use derivative financial instruments
to manage the foreign currency exposure. The
derivative financial instruments must be in the
same currency as the hedged item.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB MR M

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3 HMBEREKRERE(E)
(Continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 31 EREBEZR(E)
(@) Market risk (Continued) (@ TmimE k(&)
(i) Foreign exchange risk (Continued) () SMEEJE Bz (&)
At 31 December 2024 and 2023, if RMB had RZEB_MNFR_FT_=F
strengthened/weakened by 5% against HKD with all TZA=+—8B - EMmMAEHM
other variables held constant, pre-tax profit for the year BERFIENBEILT WA
would have been approximately HK$16,973,000 and REH B TE?HE/EZTES% - Bl
HK$16,338,000 lower/higher respectively, mainly as a Eiﬁif B Bx B AR A 78 9 Bl
result of foreign exchange loss/gain on translation of B # 0 #916,973,0005 JT
trade receivables, inter-company balances and cash 116,338,000 7T * Jh = & M
and cash equivalents denominated in non-functional EA BRERBEE QT AT
currency of the relevant group companies. BE®GTENE S EKRNKIE

ANEREESRESZEY
B AR KB -

At 31 December 2024, if Japanese yen (*JPY”) had RZEZNMF+ZA=+—H"
strengthened/weakened by 5% against HKD with all Eﬁﬁﬁﬁfﬂ@égﬁ BrErE
other variables held constant, pre-tax profit for the AT WBE(EED ST
year would have been approximately HK$407,000 FE BB AZEFEN
higher/lower respectively (2023: the impact is B B A& T A8 9 Bl 18 ﬁﬂ//W’J\
immaterial), mainly as a result of foreign exchange #49407,0008 L (ZE =5
gain/loss on translation of trade receivables and BEW DEEHRHKEME F&ﬁ
cash and cash equivalents denominated in non- EEARRIUEREBED
functional currency of the relevant group companies. BoRWHREBRReEREE

BYREEEL KR EHE -

The directors of the Company are of the opinion RARARESRAEBARBRITHE
that the impact on exchange difference for the BB MR TN EFERZ
EUR is immaterial as at 31 December 2024 and T _=F+Z_HA=+—HB" ' H
2023 due to the minimal amount of balances, and BMTTELANEXEEBEMMA -
accordingly no sensitivity analysis is performed. Bt EETHREAR -

(i) Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk (i) HzmERNFEFER R
The Group’s interest rate risk mainly arises from $'§ Ea A XE ke EEREF
borrowings of floating rate. The Group is exposed SER - RFEMNERFHR
to cash flow interest rate risk in relation to variable- TEREAEEAZEERE
rate bank borrowings. The Group’s cash flow ﬂTJ—LIZ cAEEAXMNE S
interest rate risk is mainly related to the fluctuation MEMNERREIZHAEERN
of Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate (‘HIBOR”) &R E iﬂ’]%ﬁé RITRIZERE
and Loan Prime Rate (“‘LPR”) arising from the (f§ BRITEER %J)&E%ﬂ
Group’s borrowings. MEHRENE(ERTHERE

*U$J)E’J/)§§)JEE§J
As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, if interest fisd A = | FHal T FE501E & &
rates increased or decreased by 50 basis points mMAABEHEMEERFTE
and all other variables were held constant, the AAEBER_T_WEK_Z
Group’s pre-tax profit would decrease or increase Z=F+ZA=+—HBHKH
by approximately HK$334,000 and HK$235,000 Al g ) 1% l B FEEE M
respectively as a result of increase or decrease in s Rk A Bl R A 3 1E i A9
net interest expense. 334,000%7@)32285,0005%73 °
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3.1
(@)

MNESTOTHECONSOUDMEDFNANCMLSWWEMHWS

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

Financial risk factors (Continued)
Market risk (Continued)

(i) Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk
(Continued)

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate
risk in relation to fixed rate short-term bank
deposits (Note 24). The Group currently does not
have an interest rate hedging policy. However,
the management monitors interest rate exposure
and will consider other necessary action when
significant interest rate exposure is anticipated.

As the Group has no significant interest-bearing
assets except for the cash and bank balances,
the Group’s income and operating cash flows are
substantially independent of changes in market
interest rates. However, the exposure in this regard
is considered to be minimal as the bank balances
are all short-term in nature. It is the Group’s policy
to keep its borrowings at floating rate of interest
so as to minimise the fair value interest rate risk.

Credit risk

Credit risk arises mainly from cash deposited with
banks and financial institutions, trade receivables, other
receivables and debt instruments at amortised cost.

Credit risk on trade debtors is managed by the
management of the individual business units and
monitored by the Group’s management on a group
basis. Most customers are sizable and renowned
companies. Management assesses the credit quality
of smaller customers by considering their financial
position, past experience therewith and other relevant
factors. The utilisation of credit limits is regularly
monitored.

The Group has set up long-term cooperative relationship
with these customers. In view of the history of business
dealings with the customers and the sound collection
history of the receivables due from them, management
believes that there is no material credit risk inherent in the
Group’s outstanding receivable balance due from these
customers. Management makes periodic assessment on
the recoverability of trade and other receivables based
on historical payment records, the length of the overdue
period, the financial strength of the debtors and whether
there are any disputes with the debtors. The Group’s
historical experience in collection of trade receivables
falls within the recorded allowances and the directors are
of the opinion that adequate provision for uncollectible
receivables has been made.

RA MBS ERAR MR

Bt % R B E E ()

B % = b B & (&)

mHE R (&)

(i) f/(é%///b_;i'& 218 E R g
oK o5 8 7 B B 72 R
17 HAAM 2 A
(P 3x24) - REE

K REK o A

5 I 1% 5
=y

i3
Rt

.

12 ) = L B 3 A
B T8 B E A B

o

Ei%%%ﬁ
ERE S B
bl
T

{Eﬁ
JiEH

H
Pl
— P
A

S
>
X
EH
25 i E
Rk
B gy

- A :
T RE nE OH

s
>
% b

N
REA]

=

&
I

QN
R
i

]

&
> S
BN
i

EL

Y

=

fai

>
oo EE S S R

3z
=)
F35
[
%

ZE
\_ént
=4
v

&% I
i
pah
oF 57 S
23

E'I\_
Wi em &
- W

@ B E
- 3B

B MO -
5 ¢ B D I o

3
R
>4|I]

EE Rk

FEEERREIEXREFRNRIEER
%%mﬁ% B EKRIE - Hil
& W 3R TR I 4 8 5 B AN 51 B B {5

>

'—H

ik
e
B
0

i

o & 00 0%

fm | 1
13 o XA
S

[E!

TE]

QH
S S o 3 S
ginpsapeatEbul D

%N - N

m Ee)
i
@
o
N
\\\\ =
7/

al’
=

=

= R i A
0 58 0 > B A

H?EE .

33 65 2 B O
TV ol 2 B
I 30t 58 TN IO M

\
/

\mi Tl
usiSin)
oA
o .)_NH,\
e
o 3 o

[

- T

2t SH 00 T A

s T =% 1 3 It
)

@H
o B R = A

o R 2 m Ry
4 20559
St % 5 4 0
> S D HEE Y
o M B ¥ T

B
2
}%I
B T

y

2 [ AR I 5 75
HEE MHBE
Aﬁ&&ﬂﬂﬁ
Ho At J& WOIE B
g5

ﬁ

\

T

~

=

B

>_
3
r:NEJ

\ A,

| A Y s Y S A

b=1]
-+

3z

oF O & 555 34 aF f 0D

g -

\
7

=3

ﬁ%mm\
R
TTH&Z@E’J

W5

=

hb
-
e
&
W5

T A
EEBHE -
S B

i %L

{

S (58 M N0 ok & 0 SR B 8 B
@m&%%%ﬁﬁ%%?ﬂ@%

m@mﬁw

ANNUAL REPORT 2024 3 181



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RA MBS ERARMEE

==

3.1
(o)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

Financial risk factors (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued)

In respect of cash deposited with banks and financial
institutions, the credit risk is considered to be low as
the counterparties are banks with high credit ratings
assigned by international credit rating agencies.

The Group considers the probability of default upon
initial recognition of asset and whether there has been
a significant increase in credit risk on an ongoing basis
throughout each reporting period. To assess whether
there is a significant increase in credit risk, the Group
compares the risk of default occurring on the asset
as at the reporting date with the risk of default as at
the date of initial recognition. The Group considers
available reasonable and supportive forwarding-looking
information. Especially the following indicators are
incorporated:

o internal credit rating
° external credit rating

° actual or expected significant adverse changes
in business, financial or economic conditions that
are expected to cause a significant change to the
customers’ ability to meet its obligations

o actual or expected significant changes in the
operating results of customers

° significant increases in credit risk on other financial
instruments of customers

o significant changes in the expected performance
and behavior of customers, including changes in
the payment status of customers in the Group and
changes in the operating results of the customers.
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MNESTOTHECONSOUDMEDFNANCMLSWWEMHWS

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(b) Credit risk (Continued)
(i) Trade receivables

The Group applies the simplified approach to
provide for expected credit losses prescribed by
HKFRS 9, which permits the use of the lifetime
expected loss provision for all trade receivables.
The Group considers the credit risk characteristics
and the days past due to measure the expected
During the years ended 31
December 2024 and 2023, the expected losses
rate for customers of sales of goods is minimal,
given there is no history of significant defaults from
customers and insignificant impact from forward-
looking estimates. The assessed expected credit
losses for the trade receivables are not material.

credit losses.

The Group made no write-off of trade receivables
during the years ended 31 December 2024 and

2023.

The Group has significant concentration of credit
risk from customers. As at 31 December 2024 and
2023, 80% and 79%, respectively of total trade
receivables was due from the Group’s five largest
customers. Based on the past payment history,
the directors believe that the credit risk inherent
in Group’s outstanding trade receivables from this

group of customers is low.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ARE BRI R

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued)

(o)

(1)

(i)

(iif)

Trade receivables (Continued)

The Group monitors the outstanding debts from
its customers individually due to the concentration
of credit risk. Based on historical payment trend,
there is no correlation between the risk of default
occurring and the collection past-due status as
long as there is no significant change in the credit
rating of the customers. Historically, the Group’s
loss arising from risk of default and time value of
money is negligible.

Other receivables and debt instruments at
amortised cost

Other debt instruments at amortised cost include
other receivables and debt instruments at amortised
cost.

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, management
assessed that the expected credit losses for the
other receivables and debt instruments at amortised
cost are not material when they do not have default
history and the issuer has a strong capacity to meet
its contractual cash flow obligations in the near
term.

Cash and cash equivalents

To manage the risk arising from cash and cash
equivalents, the Group only transacts with
reputable commercial banks which are all high-
credit-quality financial institutions. There has been
no recent history of default in relation to these
financial institutions. The expected credit loss of
cash and cash equivalents is close to zero.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

Financial risk factors (Continued)

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk refers to the risk that an entity will
encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated

with financial liabilities that are settled by delivering
cash or another financial assets.

Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining
sufficient cash and cash equivalents, the availability of
funding from an adequate amount of committed credit
facilities from leading banks.

Due to the dynamic nature of the underlying businesses,
the Group’s management aims to maintain flexibility
in funding by maintaining availability under committed
credit lines.

Management monitors rolling forecasts of the Group’s
liquidity reserve which comprises cash and cash
equivalents (Note 24) and undrawn banking facilities
(Note 29) on the basis of expected cash flows.

The table below analyses the Group’s financial
liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the
remaining period at the end of the reporting period to
the contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in
the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows.
Balances due within 12 months equal to their carrying
amounts as the impact of discounting is not significant.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB MR M

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3 HKREKRERE(E)
(Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 31 BiEREZE(E)

(c) Liquidity risk (Continued) c mBELRBK(E)

Within
1 yearor Between Between
repayable 1 and 2 2and 5 Over
on demand years years 5 years Total

UL
BRERME -FEME MEEEF  EEMLE @
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TR TR TAT  T#R

As at 31 December 2024 R-ZT-%
+=ZA=+-H

Trade payable BAEMNFE 75,227 - - - 75,227
Accruals, provisions and other [T E M - BERE

payables (excluding accrued b & Z A (T &

staff costs, other taxes BEFEINA

payables and provision for H fth B B8 Rt

social insurance and housing &RBRIERERATE

provident fund) SRE) 32,764 - - - 32,764
Borrowings b 50,150 - - - 50,150
Supplier finance arrangements i /8 75 g0 & 4t 16,601 - - - 16,601
Lease liabilities HEERE 2,510 1,275 338 - 4,123

177,252 1,275 338 - 178,865

As at 31 December 2023 R=-ZE=-=
+=A=1+-~H

Trade payable BSREMNFE 64,436 - - - 64,436
Accruals, provisions and other [Ezt & - BEHE L E

payables (excluding accrued b & F A (T &

staff costs, other taxes EREFEINA

payables and provision for H B 538 Rt

social insurance and housing &RB MIEREATE

provident fund) SEE) 32,394 - - - 32,394
Borrowings EE 47,879 - - - 47,879
Lease liabilities HEER 1,915 1,164 - - 3,079

146,624 1,164 — - 147,788
As at 31 December 2024, the Group had no outstanding RZZEZWMFE+ZRA=+—H ' &%
forward foreign currency contracts (2023: nil) which REHRMAFERNRBINESH(Z
settle in gross within 12 months. T =@ M2 B R

BAEE

I
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3.2

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)
Capital risk management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern in order to provide returns for shareholders
and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an
optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.
The Group uses its capital and bank borrowings to
finance its operations.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the
Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to
shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new
shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

Consistent with others in the industry, the Group
monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. This
ratio is calculated as debt divided by total capital.
Debt is calculated as total sum of borrowings, supplier
finance arrangements and lease liabilities. Total capital
is calculated as “equity” as shown in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

3.2

fre SRR M

Bt % R B E E ()

B EE
AEBEREANBERERRELAE
BRFELENRED R AKRIRE
B R 3 /3 Eo A F) 25 40 BE & 1R A
BARFRFTREERRBAREE
TR REEFBEBEE S LR
TERASBEXHRHES -

RERAHBERNRE AKEA
FHEIRNTERROKE - MERE
BERN BIOTHRIEEEENR

D&

S

)

HERNEMAR —K  NREBEITTIR
BEEABBELITEREAN ZLX
NEBBR AR BESE - EHIR
A HERNRERHLEERR
MBMGE - RARBERES Y
ARILR TR [ ek 5T -

As at 31 December

R+=—A=+-—A”

2024 2023
—E-_mEF

HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FE T
Supplier finance arrangements HEEREZH 16,601 —
Borrowings EEA 50,150 47,879
Lease liabilities HERE 3,982 2,949
Debt & 7% 70,733 50,828
Total equity B 882,236 834,720
Gearing ratio ERBELE 8.0% 6.1%
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ARE BRI R

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)
3.3 Fair value estimation

Fair Value Hierarchy

Financial instruments that are measured at fair
value are disclosed by the level of the following fair
value measurement hierarchy:

Level 1 — quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2 — inputs other than quoted prices included
within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or
liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e.
derived from prices).

Level 3 — inputs for the asset or liability that
are not based on observable market data
(unobservable inputs).

The fair value of financial instruments traded in
active markets is based on quoted market prices
at the date of the statement of financial position. A
market is regarded as active if quoted prices are
readily and regularly available from an exchange,
dealer, broker, industry group, pricing service, or
regulatory agency, and those prices represent
actual and regularly occurring market transactions
on an arm’s length basis. The quoted market
price used for financial assets held by the Group
is the current bid price. No financial instrument is
included in Level 1 as at 31 December 2024 and
2023.

The fair value of financial instruments that are not
traded in an active market is determined by using
valuation techniques. These valuation techniques
maximize the use of observable market data where
it is available and rely as little as possible on entity
specific estimates.
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3

3.3

3.4

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

Fair value estimation (Continued)

i. Fair Value Hierarchy (Continued)

The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers into
and out of fair value hierarchy levels as at the end
of the reporting period.

During the years ended 31 December 2024 and
2023, there were no transfer between the Level
1 and Level 2 fair value measurements, and no
transfer into or out of Level 3 from or to Level 1 or
Level 2 fair value measurements.

i.  Valuation techniques used to determine fair
values

Specific valuation technique used to value financial
instrument includes the present value of future
cash flows based on forward exchange rates at
the balance sheet date for derivatives.

Offsetting financial assets and financial
liabilities

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, there were no
financial assets or financial liabilities which were subject
to offsetting, enforceable master netting or similar
agreements.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
AND JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and
are based on historical experience and other factors,
including expectations of future events that are believed
to be reasonable under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions
concerning the future. The resulting accounting
estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related
actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have
a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next
financial year are addressed below.

3

3.3

3.4

RA MBS ERAR MR

Bt % R B E E ()

"%Z{Eﬁ*f(na)

. AFEBRGE)
REBNHRZR &S B R
RAFEBENEAREH -

BE-ZTC Ei&fzf—i
TZA=+T—RHLFE"

BRE-EATENE LAY
R TREASEE=E

EEL LEL S
AFEHER -

EBo%E—

i. AREBEEAFESNGERMN

AREeRTAGKENTERE
RMBEERTETAREE
BEXRANEHERZ RKR
TREMIBRE -

EHEEHEEREREAERE

NZ_E-_WMER_E-_=F+=_H
=+t—H BEsHEEXSRE
BEATHE - —hﬁﬂﬁ B H K & Bk
HEUBE -

BA 58 & 5t fd 5T &

BREBILBRLREMRZ(BREE
RRBAEBRTEHRKEFNTER)
ARG R S K -

$§l£$X¢ﬁﬁﬁ&F“°}
REE SN EtREARIEE
#Fﬁﬁﬁawﬁ% XX ES A
REEHAH NMEAYRFENE
F&ﬁﬁ%%ﬁ@#ﬁ%ﬁﬁ%m
fHEr RRER -

ANNUAL REPORT 2024 3} 189



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ARE BRI R

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
AND JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

(a)

(b)

(c)

Estimated allowance on inventories
Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated
selling price in the ordinary course of business,
less estimated costs of completion and applicable
selling expenses. These estimates are based
on current market conditions and the historical
experience of manufacturing and selling products
of a similar nature. It could change significantly
as a result of changes in customer taste and
competitor actions in response to industry cycles.
Management reassesses these estimates at the
end of each reporting period.

Useful lives of property, plant and
equipment

Management determines the estimated useful lives
and related depreciation charges for its property,
plant and equipment. Such estimate is based on
the historical experience of the actual useful lives
of property, plant and equipment of similar nature
and functions.

Impairment of non-financial assets

The Group tests annually whether goodwill has
suffered any impairment. The recoverable amount
of a CGUs is determined based on value-in-use
calculations which require the use of assumptions.
The calculations use cash flow projections based
on financial budgets approved by management
covering a five-years-period. Cash flows beyond
the five-year period are extrapolated using the
estimated growth rates. These growth rates are
consistent with forecasts included in industry
reports specific to the industry in which each
CGUs operates. Details of impairment charge, key
assumptions and impact of possible changes in
key assumptions and impact of possible changes
in key assumptions are disclosed in Note 18.
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(a)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB MR M

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES 4 BABRETRAEGE)
AND JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

(c) Impairment of non-financial assets (c) k&mEERMEE)
(Continued)
Judgement is required to determine key ETRARBERNOEERR
assumptions adopted in the valuation models FTER PR A A SR R 2R 75 N DA 1 i o
for impairment review purpose. Changing ERETHRERMERNR
the assumptions selected by management in HEeHIREHBENANER
assessing impairment could materially affect EFEATE My ELAE
the result of the impairment test and as a result BRI R EEELE - M
affect the Group’s financial condition and results ZEBERRBRIBEEARNTHNE
of operations. If there is a significant adverse B BINREEBAARARA
change in the key assumptions applied, it may be B@mAp e

necessary to take additional impairment charge to
the profit or loss.

REVENUE AND SEGMENT 5 WumEkoHER
INFORMATION
Revenue (a) Wz

Year ended 31 December
BEZE+t=-A=+—HLEE
2024 2023

—E_mF ==
HK$’000 HK$’000
B JT T 7T

Revenue I =

Sales of paper and other products HEAR MK HEMEM 1,210,937 1,039,199
Sales of goods are recognised at the point in time when HEBYREBRERBHEERIMNE
a group entity has delivered products to customers and PYREITHEGHNRTENMBEREL
fulfilled all the performance obligations as stipulated in BER TLAER -

the sales contracts.

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, all performance RZZEZ_WMFERZTE_=F+=A
obligations not yet satisfied by the Group were from —t+t—B AXEERKBITHMRE
contracts with original expected duration of less than BHABEHRERTEHER DR —
one vear. FHEL -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RA MBS ERARMEE

(a)

==

REVENUE AND SEGMENT
INFORMATION (Continued)
Revenue (Continued)

Management has determined the operating segments
based on the reports reviewed by the chief operating
decision-maker that are used for making strategic
decisions and assessing performance. The chief
operating decision-maker is identified as the executive
directors of the Group. The executive directors assess
the performance of the operating segments based on
a measure of gross profit for the purposes of allocating
resources and assessing performance. These reports
are prepared on the same basis as the consolidated
financial statements.

The management has identified two reportable segments
based on sales channels, namely (i) web sales and (ii)
original equipment manufacturer (“OEM”) sales.

Accounting policies of revenue recognition:

The Group principally derives revenue from sales of
products.

Revenue from the sales of products is recognised
when control of the products are transferred to
customers. Revenue is measured at the fair value of the
consideration received or receivable, and represents
amounts receivable for goods sold, stated net of
discounts, returns and value-added taxes. The Group
recognises revenue when specific criteria have been
met for each of the Group’s activities, as described
below.

(a) OEM sales

Revenue from OEM sales (mainly including
products of greeting cards, tabletop games,
educational items and premium packaging items)
directly to customers is recognised when control
of the goods has transferred, in accordance with
relevant shipping terms, to customers.
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(a)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REVENUE AND SEGMENT
INFORMATION (Continued)

Revenue (Continued)

Accounting policies of revenue recognition: (Continued)
(b)  Web sales

Revenue from web sales (mainly including
products of playing cards, tabletop games and
puzzles) directly to customers is recognised when
control of the goods has transferred, being when
the products are accepted by the customers, to
customers.

Upon entering into a contract with customer, the
Group obtains rights to receive consideration from the
customer and assumes performance obligations to
transfer goods to the customer. The combination of
those rights and performance give rise to a net asset
or a net liability depending on relationship between
the remaining rights and performance obligations.
The contract is an asset if the measure of remaining
conditional rights to consideration exceeds the satisfied
performance obligations. Conversely, the contract is a
liability and is recognised as a contract liability if the
measure of remaining performance obligations exceeds
measure of the remaining rights.

(a)

fre SRR M

WK o EHER (&)

= (&)
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RA MBS ERARMEE

5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT
INFORMATION (Continued)

(b) Segment information

The segment information provided to the executive
directors for the years ended 31 December 2024 and

2023 are as follows:

5 WERIBER(E)

(b) 7 & &E #
ARTEFRENBE_B N
—B_=FT-A=t+—AILEE
15 H AR BIIIT

Year ended 31 December 2024
BE-_Z_NF+-_A=+—HILLEFE

Web sales OEM sales Total
ML E OEME & # st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FaET FHET FERT
Segment revenue from KEIINBEFH
external customers 7 2P UL == 226,100 984,837 1,210,937
Cost of sales iR DN (41,531) (733,231) (774,762)
Gross profit EF 184,569 251,606 436,175
Other gains, net H b 0z 5 58 4,060
Other income H A g A 12,776
Selling and distribution HEMDIHERAX
expenses (104,718)
Administrative expenses THRAX (202,837)
Finance income, net g U AT R 3,647
Profit before income tax B AT 15 5 A1 g A 149,103
Income tax expense FTisfimx (21,822)
Profit for the year F N A 127,281
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(b)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REVENUE AND SEGMENT
INFORMATION (Continued)

Segment information (Continued)

I\/ \ I:l E\ZT%%%&%M#%\E

5 WERIBER(E)

(b) 2 #E&EF (&)

Year ended 31 December 2023
BE-_ZTZ-_—E+-_A=+—BHItEE

Web sales OEM sales Total
48 uf 5 & OEMEH & @t
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
T T FA& T
Segment revenue from REINE P
external customers 7 BB W = 193,418 845,781 1,039,199
Cost of sales 4 € B AR (33,282) (649,825) (683,107)
Gross profit E A 160,136 195,956 356,092
Other gains, net EH bW %5 0F 5 8,428
Other income Ha g A 10,154
Selling and distribution HERDHEAX
expenses (101,603)
Administrative expenses THHX (182,650)
Finance income, net B E U AT R 3,797
Profit before income tax B FIT 15 %4 A1 i ) 94,218
Income tax expense Fris B (15,950)
Profit for the year F RN F 78,268

Revenue from major customers who have individually
contributed to 10% or more of the total revenue of the

Group are as follows:

Customer A ZEA
Customer B ZFB
Customer C ®FC

KEXTEEFP(EMHAKHE
10% A £) Bz o T

D20
[ 22U %=

Year ended 31 December
BE+-A=+t-ALEE

2024 2023
—E-mE
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
274,561 191,056
364,360 263,793
78,274 106,154
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KRE B TR R MR

5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT 5 WakaIER(E)
INFORMATION (Continued)

(b) Segment information (Continued) (b) 2 EER(E)

Revenue from external customers by location, based on
the destination of delivery, are as follows:

HEFREDT

RIFRM BRI - B D25

Year ended 31 December
BEt-A=+t-BLEFE

2024

—E-MmE
HK$’000
FERT

ENBARBETEBRD

The United States of America

2023
—E-=%F
HK$’000
TE T

(the “USA”) 772,747 695,088
Europe M 198,277 173,903
The PRC s 106,423 79,981
Others Hib 133,490 90,227

1,210,937 1,039,199

Non-current assets, other than deferred income tax
assets and equity investment at fair value through profit
or loss, are located as follows:

NFEFARS
BT

FRBDEEREMEMREE kiR
o H AR AE 4R B BRSO L

Year ended 31 December
BEt-A=+t-BLEE

2024 2023

—¥-omE —T_=F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHBxT F& T

The PRC s 510,716 540,596
Vietnam e 110,860 99,677
621,576 640,273
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(c)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iR B B R M

REVENUE AND SEGMENT 5 WEkoIER(E)
INFORMATION (Continued)

Contract liabilities (c) &HAE

The Group has recognised the following liabilities AEEDHEPREANERAUTE

related to contracts with customers: & :

As at 31 December

R+=-A=+-—A”
2024 2023
—E-MEF —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FHET
Advances received from customers BREFBR 20,957 16,935
Customer loyalty programme EERMEE 460 166
21,417 17,101
The following table shows how much of the revenue TREVBREFEECENNEHES
recognised relates to carried-forward contract liabilities HEEmMERN K= :

that were satisfied in a prior year:

Year ended 31 December
BE+T-A=+t—HLEE
2024 2023

—E-mEF —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FB T

Advances received from customers BEEFRR 16,801 16,504
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KRB MR M

6 OTHER GAINS, NET

H U 25 75 88
Year ended 31 December
BE+-HA=1t—HLEE

pL P 2023
—E_NmEF T_=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FER FHET
Other gains, net Htt = 558
Foreign exchange gain b H & 2,406 7,109
Gain on disposals of derivative financial H&E$T4 &/ TE Z W
instruments 2,043 1,343
Loss on disposals of property, plant and HEWE¥ - BE L REZ
equipment (Note 32) & 18 (K7 i£32) (389) (24)
4,060 8,428

7 OTHER INCOME

Hib W A

Year ended 31 December
BE+-HA=1+t—HLEE

2024 2023
—E-@mEF T =

HK$’000 HK$’000
FHBx T

Other income Hipg A
Rental income e WA 53 51
Sales of scrap materials K & BE K 8,169 7,150
Government grants (Note) T # B) (f1 22) 4,079 2,753
Others HAh 475 200
12,776 10,154

Note:

There are no unfulfilled conditions or other contingencies attaching to
these grants. The Group did not benefit directly from any other forms
of government assistance.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group received a
government grant of RMB2,931,000 related to a subsidy for the
purchase of machines. The grant will be credited to profit or loss on
a straight-line basis over the expected useful lives of the machines.
During the year, RMB1,960,000 was recognised as other income.

The remaining government grants primarily consist of miscellaneous
grants provided to subsidiaries located in the PRC.

Rental income from investment property is recognised
on a straight-line basis over the term of the leases.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iR B B R M

EXPENSES BY NATURE 8 EMEESHEX

Expenses included in cost of sales, administrative AEERE THRAREERD
and selling and distribution expenses are analysed as HRATMRAZ AT :

follows:

Year ended 31 December
BE+-HA=1+t—HLEE
2024

—R_lEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTHET THET

Employee benefit expenses (including EERFHAXZ(BIEES

directors’ emoluments) (Note 9) B &) (#1i#9) 381,304 343,897
Depreciation of property, plant and ME - BMERKETE

equipment (Note 15) (H12£15) 55,032 51,275
Amortisation of right-of-use assets FREEE®N

(Note 20) (1 #20) 5,789 6,206
Auditor’s remuneration % EEm B &

— Audit services — BZR 2,329 2,190

— Non-audit services — EEZRS 490 490
Short-term lease expenses (Note 20) MEEER (M i7F20) 2,089 1,507
Provision for inventory obsolescence T E B aE21)

(Note 21) 1,923 1,433
Amortisation of intangible assets BmEEAEEENHZ18)

(Note 18) 1,426 1,233
The research and development expenses charged for HEZFT-_MEFR-_T_=F+=AH
the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 were ST BLEFEXNNAER S
approximately HK$28,939,000 and HK$28,036,000, B 49 /528,939,000 7T % 28,036,000
respectively, which mainly comprised of employee BT EFTIEEFEREERMNAE
benefit expense, raw materials and consumables used, FTRERMB R EFERRITE -

and depreciation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR BTSRRI EE
9 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES 9 EERINBEXX(BEESMH
(INCLUDING DIRECTORS’ &)
EMOLUMENTS)
Year ended 31 December
BZ+=-A=+—HLEE
2024 2023
—E-_MF —E-=F
HK$°000 HK$’000
FEx FHET
Salaries, bonuses and allowances e feA RER 321,736 283,657
Pension costs defined contribution plans ER& fk & — REH R
& & 44,514 45,778
Other employee benefits H g B8 A 15,054 14,462
381,304 343,897
(a) Independent non-executive directors (@) BYUFHITES
The fees paid to independent non-executive ERTERABIFENTESE
directors during the years were as follows: T :

Year ended 31 December
BE+-HA=1t—HILEE
Name of directors pL P 2023

—E-FE —TE-=%F
HK$’000 HK$’000
TERx T T

Independent non-executive BIYFHITESE

directors
Mr. Chan Hiu Fung Nicholas, PREEIE LA wgmezs.
BBS, MH, JP REHE  AFHL 300 300
Prof. Cheng Man Chung Daniel, X » szrgz.
BBS, MH, JP gEEHE A FHL 300 300
Mr. Ng Shung, RETE  xF#+
JP (Australia) (A FY5E) 300 300
900 900
There were no other emoluments payable to the FRN - -BEEMENEIIFERN
independent non-executive directors during the TEEMS(ZT_=F:8]) -
year (2023: nil).
Mr. Chan Hiu Fung Nicholas, Prof. Cheng Man PREEIE A BXREHE R
Chung Daniel and Mr. Ng Shung were appointed RELRER=ZZE—NEFE+=A
as independent non-executive directors of the “THEZAERARRAIE LI
Company on 20 December 2019 with effect from WITEE B_T-_ZTF—A8
11 January 2020. +—HEEK-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iR B B R M

9 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES 9 EEEFEXX(BREEML)

(INCLUDING DIRECTORS’ (#&)

EMOLUMENTS) (Continued)

(b) Executive directors and the chief (b) MITEEREFETHAE
executive
The remuneration of the executive directors for the BHE-Z-_MFR-_T-_=F
years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 are set +Z A=+ —HILFE AT
out below: EEMHMMEI DT

Year ended 31 December 2024

B2 3 MET-A=T-ALEE
Employer’s
Allowances  contribution
Discretionary  and benefits  to pension

Name of directors Fees Salaries honuses in kind scheme Total
BBR  EImBfe

fe ke g Lk e @it

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

THx Thx THx THx Téx TEx

Executive directors H7gs

Mr. Cheng Wan Wai PRELE - 1,166 - 1,213 - 2,379
Mr. Yeung Keng Wu Kenneth % %64 - 2211 - 403 - 2614
Ms. Liu Shuk Yu Sanny Eamat - 1,951 - 857 18 2,826
Ms. Hui Li Kwan FAERT - 650 700 167 18 1,535
Mr. Chan Wang Tao Thomas B2 & %4 - 1,697 1,400 543 18 3,658
Mr. Mak Chin Pang REHERE - 1,306 1,400 3 18 3,101

- 8,981 3,500 3,560 72 16,113
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KRB MR M

9 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES
(INCLUDING DIRECTORS’
EMOLUMENTS) (Continued)

(b) Executive directors and the chief
executive (Continued)

Name of directors Fees Salaries

§e
HK§ 000
TR

Executive directors H7Es

BEEANAX(BREEEHNE)

(#%&)

(b)

HITEBERTETHAER
(&)

Year ended 31 December 2023
R ZETTAST-ALER

Discretionary

Employer's
Allowances and  contribution to

Mr. Cheng Wan Wai JEERA - 1,167 - 1,158 12 2,337
M. Yeung Keng Wu Kemneth %64 - 2211 - 415 17 2,643
Ms. Liu Shuk Yu Sanny AT - 1951 - 829 18 2,798
M. Hui Li Kivan FHERL - 650 500 128 18 1,296
Mr. Chan Wang Tao Thomas~ BZE %% - 1,697 1,000 620 18 3335
Mr. Mak Chin Pang AR - 1307 1,000 468 18 2793

- 8983 2500 3618 101 15,202

Mr. Cheng Wan Wai, Mr. Yeung Keng Wu Kenneth,
Ms. Liu Shuk Yu Sanny, Ms. Hui Li Kwan, Mr. Chan
Wang Tao Thomas and Mr. Mak Chin Pang were
appointed as executive directors of the Company
in January 2019.

The remuneration shown above represents remuneration
received from the Group by these directors in their
capacity as directors or employees of the subsidiaries
of the Group. No directors waived any emolument
during the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

9 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES
(INCLUDING DIRECTORS’
EMOLUMENTS) (Continued)

(b) Executive directors and the chief

(c)

executive (Continued)

No director fees were paid to these directors in
their capacity as directors of the Company or the
operating companies and no emoluments were
paid by the Company or the operating companies
to the directors as an inducement to join the
Company or the operating companies, or as
compensation for loss of office during the years
ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

Five highest paid individuals

The five individuals whose emoluments were the
highest in the Group include four directors and five
directors for the years ended 31 December 2024
and 2023, respectively, whose emoluments were
reflected in the analysis presented in Note 9(b).
The emoluments payable to the remaining one
individual for the year ended 31 December 2024
(for the year ended 31 December 2023: nil) is as
follows:

Salaries, allowances and benefits in # &

fre SRR M

9 EERIRX(BEEEME)

(nﬁ)

(b) MITEEREFETHAE
(#&)
REBEZEZE-_ZE-_NFEFR_T-=

(c)

CERREY A S

FH+ZA=1+—B1FE #
EHIEAARRNTXNEERAE
%ﬁﬁrﬁ?:%%iﬁi%@i '
MARF k& ERRINERE
%?Zﬁ@1$f’l5%ﬂﬂj\$ A=
EERNAICRBIIERBERE

h
g -

EFEEEHFAL
HE-_Z-_MER_T-=4F
+T-_A=+—HBILEE A&
EREReFATH B BEN
FEERNTEEE HMER
B 529(b) 2 7| K 5 4 R R Bk o
HE-_ZT-_ME+-_A=+—
HEFEE BNE#HK—BAL
W E (BE-_T-_=F+_A
=+—HIEFE:8)WT:

Year ended 31 December
BE+-—A=1t—HLFE
2024 2023
—FE - =s
HK$'000
TE T

“E-MF
HK$’000
FERT

kind 1,041 .
Discretionary bonus 15 IE 4L 1,672 —
Employer's contribution to pension & = [A] iE K & 5t & 4 3

scheme 18 —

2,731 -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR e ISR M EE
9 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES 9 REEREMNEX(BIEESHE)
(INCLUDING DIRECTORS’ (&)
EMOLUMENTS) (Continued)
(c) Five highest paid individuals (c) EEZEEEF AL (E)
(Continued)
The emoluments of the individual fell within the ZATHME N FUATEHE:

following band:

Number of individual

A"
2024
—E-mE
HK$2,500,001 — 2,500,001%8 T &

HK$3,000,000 3,000,000/ JT 1 —
No emolument was paid by the Group to the AEBEHMERZALTZNEM
individual as an inducement to join or upon joining B & VE BN AR & B =k AR
the Group or as compensation for the loss of SEREERBEREE -
office.

(d) Directors’ retirement and termination (d) EEEKRKEBER
benefits
No retirement benefits were paid to or receivable REBEE-_Z_MOFEFER_ZT ==
by any directors in respect of their other services FH+ZA=F+—BLEFE #
in connection with the management of the affairs BEEREBBATEARAN
of the Company or its subsidiaries’ undertaking HB AR EBHB 2 EMRBEMm
during the years ended 31 December 2024 and T A Sk W TR ARAE A -
2023.
No payment was made to the directors as REBEEZT-_NFR-_FT==
compensation for early termination of appointment F+_A=T—BLEFE" #
during the years ended 31 December 2024 and EREERAIKLEZENSN
2023. EfmfHfE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

9 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES
(INCLUDING DIRECTORS’
EMOLUMENTS) (Continued)

(e)

(f)

(9)

Consideration provided to third
parties for making available directors’
services

No payment was made to any former employers
of the directors for making available the services
of them as a director of the Company during the
years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

Information about loans, quasi-

loans and other dealings in favour of
directors, controlled bodies corporate
by and connected entities with such
directors

There were no loans, quasi-loans or other dealings
in favour of the directors, controlled bodies
corporate by and connected entities with such
directors during the years ended 31 December
2024 and 2023.

Directors’ material interests in
transactions, arrangements or
contracts

Save as disclosed in Note 34, no significant
transactions, arrangements and contracts in
relation to the Group’s business to which the
Group was a party and in which a director of the
Company had a material interest, whether directly
or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the years or
at any time during the years ended 31 December
2024 and 2023.

fre SRR M

9 EERIRX(BEEEME)
(#%&)

(e) REAEERBEDE=F
RERE

REBEZ2-FT-_NFEFER T - =
F+ZA=+—HBLFEE #
BERESFHEARAIEZESZMM
EEMIAEREIFHNESTIMNE
] 3k 18

() BRERES IzsZE
FEH AN BB R R

%E%ﬁﬁﬁ?@ﬂ?%ﬁ-ﬂ’]ﬁ
CBUERREMRS
E’Jﬁﬂ

REE-_ZTZ-_NNEER_FT =
F+—_A=Z+—BHIEFE
mELRES XREEEEA
FEANERBEREZEEEAHE
HHNEREBNER iEME Rk
HMZ5 o

(9) EERXEZ THIEN
R E KE R

PR iESAFTH B E N AEE
MEITVEASEEKEBA
ARRZEEEEKMEERES
BHEEAERMARFRIESR
—E_NERZZE-=F1+=
A=+ BULEFETMAERT
BRNEARS  THRAELH -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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10 FINANCE INCOME, NET 10 REW AN FE
Year ended 31 December
BZ+=-A=1+t—HILEE
2024 2023
—EB-_NE ZT-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHBxT FA& T
Finance income B & WA
Bank interest income H|ITH BB A 7,058 7,485
Interest income from debt instruments & T EF| B Uk A 361 309
7,419 7,794
Finance costs &' KA
Interest expense on bank borrowings WITERAERXZ (3,385) (3,945)
Interest expense on supplier finance HEEREZHNBERX
arrangements (239) —
Interest expense on lease liabilities HEBEMBERX
(Note 20) (K7 7#20) (148) (52)
(3,772) (3,997)
Finance income, net MEWANFEE 3,647 3,797

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest

MEBWARAERN SRR -

method.
11 INCOME TAX EXPENSE 11 EFHEX
Year ended 31 December
BZ+=-A=+—HLEE
2024 2023
—EoQmE -
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FHET
Current income tax B ER AT 15 Bt 23,819 9,147
Deferred income tax (Note 31) EREFT1S B (A7 7£31) (2,057) 7,868
Under/(over) provision in prior years, net AFFE B H L, (%) 5t
F 48 60 (1,065)
21,822 15,950

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime of Hong
Kong profits tax, the first HK$2 million of assessable
profits of a qualifying group entity in Hong Kong will be
taxed at 8.25%, and assessable profits above HK$2
million will be taxed at 16.5%. The assessable profits of
group entities in Hong Kong not qualifying for the two-
tiered profits tax rates regime will continue to be taxed
at a flat rate of 16.5%.
206 Q P GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED S25BERER AR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)

The subsidiaries established and operated in the PRC
(excluding Hong Kong as mentioned above) are subject
to the PRC Corporate Income Tax at the rate of 25%
during the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulation in the PRC,
the Group’s subsidiaries, Dongguan Zensee Printing
Limited (RE&BEIRI AR AF]) and Taunus Printing
(Heshan) Company Limited* (f& 2 EN Rl (#5 L) B R A 7))
were accredited as high-tech enterprises from 2017 and
2021 respectively, and both of them are entitled to the
preferential tax rate of 15%.

Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations in the
PRC, certain entities of the Group were qualified as
small-scale and marginal profit enterprises. As a result,
they were entitled to preferential income tax rate of 5%
for taxable income of first RMB3 million for the year
ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

The subsidiaries established and operated in Vietnam
are subject to the Vietnam Corporate Income Tax
(“CIT”) at the rate of 20% for the years ended 31
December 2024 and 2023.

Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations in Vietnam,
the Group’s subsidiary, Q P Enterprise (Vietham) Company
Limited, which was undertaking a new investment
project in an industrial park, and is entitled to tax
holiday under which its taxable income would be fully
exempted from CIT for two years from the first year an
enterprise has taxable income from a new investment
project eligible for tax incentives after offsetting prior
year tax losses, followed by 50% reduction in CIT in
next four years. If an enterprise has no taxable income
for the first three years, counting from the first year if
it has turnover from a new investment project, the tax
exemption or reduction duration shall be counted from
the fourth year.

*

The English translation of company name is for reference only.
The official name is in Chinese.

11

fre SRR M

B (&)
REE_ZE-_NFER-_FE-_=ZF+=
A=+—BLEFE RPR@IEX
Frift - T BIEEB) KL K& & BB
B AR BIR25% M) B R G B
EmMBH -

BEFREBEERER  ~AEE
MWB AR REEBENR B RA A
MEgEORELBRAR DR A
TE 4 ER T FEHRERE
ESFBEMAO¥  BHZEE15%E
B o

BEFEEBEERER ~&5EF
ATERGERKANEMA D -
At B2 _WER - - =
F+-_A=Z+—HIEFE #ERY
ARMBEIEETHERBTE WM AZES%
HEZMEHBIE -

(2T ECNFER_E - =F+ A
=+ —HBLIEFE - EHEKMZML
EHBARAMMEECEMS
HMAISEFREBH]  HELE20% -

BEWENEBEEEEZR ~A5E
& B A& Q P Enterprise (Vietnam)
Company Limited 7 T % & [& & 5 37
REBBULEELBH  HERM
WAREL2BHREBMNEERSEH
ME BAZECERITZABBES
RIS ETEEPEB BRI AGK
HE—FHIEEEER O EFE
HOBENFHNPEMSHIESR
B0% © i E R E = F I & ER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB MR M

11 INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued) 11 Fr5 BB < (&)

Pursuant to the laws and regulations of the British BEABHEBAHES(XBERER
Virgin Islands (“BVI”) and Cayman Islands, the Group is BEDEHASHEEERER K
not subject to any income tax in the BVI and Cayman EEREE_ZE_NFER-_ZFT=-=
Islands for the years ended 31 December 2024 and FH+-_A=Z=+—HULEFEDBEER
2023. BHBRHELFASHESHMEM
FRiS Mt o

The tax on the Group’s profit before income tax differs R & B Bk BT 13 TR & F A A IR B iR
from the theoretical amount that would arise using the EBRRGEEERGSMNERNEH
tax calculated at domestic tax rate applicable to profits MEFENERSBEEUATER:

in the respective countries/jurisdictions as follows:

Year ended 31 December
BE+-A=+—HLEE
2024 2023

—E-_NEF —E =4
HK$’000 HK$’000
F# T FHE T

Profit before income tax Br BT 15 B4 Bl A 149,103 94,218

Tax calculated at domestic tax rates REBER & AER
applicable to profits in the respective }Ei R i@ B8 & i =R

countries/jurisdictions HISHMBIE 23,151 15,064
Expenses not deductible for tax purpose I~ T?D TR i 2 1,583 1,652
Income not subject to tax BARB WA (1,168) (917)
Tax effect of deductible temporary IR R AT 0 0R L B

differences not recognised ERNMBEE 1,315 185
Additional tax deduction for research B 2% 5B AN T HOR

and development (2,838) (2,841)
Tax losses not recognised RIERIEES Té 854 4,169
Utilisation of previously unrecognised A2 A ARTER

tax losses WIEEE (970) (132)
Tax exemption ) (165) (165)
Under/(over) provision in prior years, NAFEREBL ()5

net F R 60 (1,065)
Income tax expense Frs B 21,822 15,950
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

12 EARNINGS PER SHARE FOR PROFIT
ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY HOLDERS
OF THE COMPANY

The calculation of the basic earnings per share is
based on the profit for the year attributable to ordinary
equity holders of the Company of approximately
HK$129,116,000 (2023: approximately HK$80,099,000),
and the weighted average number of ordinary shares
of 532,000,000 for the years ended 31 December 2024
and 2023, respectively.

The Group had no potentially dilutive ordinary shares in
issue during the years ended 31 December 2024 and

2023.

The calculations of basic and diluted earnings per share
are based on:

Earnings

Profit attributable to equity holders of
the Company

fre SRR M

12 ARG EBERREMLEN D
BERERN

FSRELRBANTDIEREARDF
TEETBREELFRNRFLY
129,116,000 L(Z & = = F: &
80,099,000 L) KB E T M F
F—E - =F+_A=+—HIW
1 £ JE #9532,000,000 A% & 38 A% AN 4
FHEETHE o

]

KREFBREBEZEZE-_ET_MWMER_-_Z
=+ A=t+-—BILFETE
BBITHEBEHELRAN -

BREARANEBERNIIERIATIEA

Bt

2 F
Year ended 31 December
BE+-A=+—ALEE
2024

2023
—E-lF
HK$’000
FTHERT

HK$’000
TAET

RN B A 5 AR R FE AR s A

129,116 80,099

Shares

Weighted average number of ordinary
shares in issue (thousands)

P (T )

q)

Year ended 31 December
BE+-A=+t-ALEE

Number of share

Bt BB

2024 2023
—E_MEF —E-=

EEITE BB INEFY

532,000 532,000

Earnings per share (HK cents per share) & % 2 7| (& I & 1L)

24.27 15.06
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB MR M

13 DIVIDENDS 13 RE
Year ended 31 December
BE+t-A=+—RHLEE
pL P 2023
—EB-MMF —E=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAT
Interim dividend declared and paid MAFEED B IR &Kt
in respect of the current year of NHHREARERE
HK3.0 cents (2023: HK2.0 cents) per BRIOBI( ===
ordinary share 2.0 1) 15,960 10,640

Final dividend declared in respect of the Ft F— A KFED S
previous financial year, approved and A R F AR R B

paid during the year of HK8.0 cents KN RKRERE

(2023: HK11.0 cents) per ordinary B% & @ AR8.08 L (=F

share Z=F 11.05800) 42,560 58,520

58,520 69,160

Final dividend proposed after the end of R4 H 45 R 18 2 s 0 23

the reporting period of HK11.0 cents AR EREREBER

(2023: HK8.0 cents) per ordinary H.OBW(ZE==%F:

share 8.0/ 1) 58,520 42,560
Final dividend proposed after the end of the reporting R EHERERZZNEHRRER
period is not recognised as a liability as at the end of WMERERERERRABAE -

the reporting period.
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14 SUBSIDIARIES

NOTESWDTHECONSOUDATH)HNANCMLSDMEMENTS
iR B B R M

14

Details of the subsidiaries as at 31 December 2024 and

2023 are as follows:

Name of subsidiary

WRAFAE

Directly held

EERA
QP Holdings Limited

Indirectly held
BERE

QP International Limited

ERARLXARAT

QP Sourcing Limited
ERNMBREERLA

Q P Printing Limited
ERARIERAT

(i) Country of incorporation/
establishment;

(ii) Principal country of operations;
(iii) Date of incorporation/
establishment

Issued share
capital/registered
capltal

(i3
UME%ﬂi ‘KBS

BVI/ Hong Kong / HK$77,400
10 March 1998

ABEmAEE/BE/ 77400
“AANE=RTH

Hong Kong / Hong Kong / HKS$1
16 March 2006

B/ EE/ 18T
ZERREZATAR

Hong Kong / Hong Kong / HK$10,000
2 April 2002

EB/EB/ 10,0007
“FEEMACH

Hong Kong / Hong Kong / HK$37,000,000
5 July 1985

B/ ER/ 37,000,000% ¢
-AEELARA

Hong Kong / Hong Kong / HK$10,000
2 April 2002
B/ BB/ 10,0007
“Z2_EMAZA

¥ 8 2 &
R-E-_MER-FT-=F+_5
St-BNMBARFENT:

Effective interest
held as at

RIIREEEN

L1

2024

B

2028

ZECmE —F-cF

100%
100%

100%
100%

100%
100%

100%
100%

100%
100%

100%
100%

100%
100%

100%
100%

100%
100%

100%
100%

Principal activities

IRER

Investment holding

RERR

Trading of paper products
and investment holding

BRREIRREER

Sourcing of materials and
products

WRRERRE

Trading of paper products
and investment holding

BHREARREER

Trading of paper products
and investment holding

BRREIRREER
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14 SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 14 B QTR (&)

(i) Country of incorporation/
establishment;

(ii) Principal country of operations; Issued share
(iii) Date of incorporation/ capital/registered  Effective interest
Name of subsidiary establishment capital held as at Principal activities
(i) EE R ER L/ B BRI
EELLES B5/  RTHRSEEN
WEARER (i) EMAYL/HIAH ifEx ERER TEER
2024 2023
Z8CRE ZToF
Indirectly held (Continued)
BAESE(R)
QP Trading Limited Hong Kong / Hong Kong / HK$10,000 100% 100%  Trading of paper products
21 May 2013 and investment holding
ERZ5ARLT EB/BE/ 10,0007 100%  100% AERERREELR
ZE-ZFRACT-A
Dongguan Zenseg Printing PRC/PRC/ HK$232,780,000 100% 100%  Manufacturing and trading of
Limited' 15 January 1992 paper products
RERARERAT EI:I/ﬁinl/ 232,780,000 ¢ 100%  100% #ELPERES
“WAZE-ATHE
QP Enterprises Limited Hong Kong / Hong Kong / HK$10,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
16 November 2017
ERLEARAT ER/ER/ 10000~ 100%  100% HERR
i Sl & B R N
Taunus Printing (Heshan) PRC/PRC/ US$8,800,000 100% 100%  Manufacturing and trading of
Company Limited" * 17 November 2006 paper products
B e (B BR AR RE /8 8,800000% T 100%  100% #ERPERES
“EENET-AHLE
DPI Laboratory Services Limited  Hong Kong / Hong Kong / HK$1 100% 100%  Provision of laboratory
22 June 2010 test mg services
ERRAREERAR ak/BR/ 17T 100% 100% REERZRIRE
“E-TERAZTCH
Product Innovator Limited Hong Kong / Hong Kong / HK$370,000 100% 100%  Trading and retalling of
26 September 1996 merchandise and
investment holding
HEERERERAT ER/ER/ 370,000 7 100%  100% BREFRTENURRES
“NARERAZTRA B
Printer’s Studio Limited Hong Kong / Hong Kong / HK$10,000 100% 100%  Sales of website products
19 October 2009 )
ER/ER/ 10000~ 100%  100% REKEEES
ZEENETATAE
makeplayingcards.com Limited*  Hong Kong / Hong Kong / HK$10,000 100% 100%  Sales of website products
20 September 2021
EB/BR/ "2 -FAA-TH 10,0007 100%  100% HEUEEER
createjigsawpuzzles.com Limited” Hong Kong / Hong Kong / HK$10,000 100% 100%  Sales of website products
20 September 2021 )
EB/BA/-5--ENAZTA 10000~ 100%  100% REKEEES
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB MR M

14 SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Name of subsidiary

WEARER

Indirectly held (Continued)
BELE(R)

boardgamesmaker.com Limited*

Multi International Investment
Group Limited
BEERRESEERAA

Eternity Year Investment Limited

Archer Praise Limited

LERRAT

Radiant Keen Limited

EAERAT

Tiandin ZenSee Technology Co.,
dW
REERNRBRAR

Shenzhen Zen Seg Information
Technology Co., Ltd2*
EMBERAA:

/ﬂiﬂ”r\ﬂ/J

Dongguan ZenSee Product
Testing Limitec?
%mm{mu EDD*“ E‘Jﬁ E
2

(i) Country of incorporation/
establishment;

(ii) Principal country of operations;
(iii) Date of incorporation/
establishment

RIEX,

()EmRL/
(i) £ &
(i) EMA L/ BB

Hong Kong / Hong Kong /
20 September 2021
/%/E/%/— 3 _EHH:-"E

Hong Kong / Hong Kong /
3 March 2015
%/@%/
“Z-1%-A=H

Hong Kong / Hong Kong /
24 October 2014

EB/EE/
“E-BETAZTEA

Hong Kong / Hong Kong /
6 March 2015

EB/EB/
ZZ-n%E-A5A

Hong Kong / Hong Kong /
13 March 2015
%/%%/
—1%=RT=H

PRC / PRC / 19 May 2006

RE/ 48/
“RERFRATIA

PRC /PRC /9 May 2014

RE/ 48/
“E-RERANA

PRC/PRC/
9 February 2010
¢I/¢I/
“Z-ZE-ANA

14 MEQT(HE)

Issued share
capital/registered
capital

R

k%,
g g

HKS10,000
10,0007% 7T
HK$2
2T

HKS2
28T

HKS2
2ET

HKS2
28T

HK$30,000,000
30,000,000 ¢

RMB100,000
AR 1000007

RMB4,000,000
AK%4,000,0007

Effective interest
held as at

RISIRBERN
ERER

2024 2028

“8IpE —F-cF

100% 100%

100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%

100% 100%

100% 100%
100% 100%

100% 100%

100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%

100% 100%
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Principal activities

IEER

Sales of website products
RBUHEER

Property holding
nEER

Property holding
nEEk

Property holding
EIE

Property holding
nEER

Trading of paper products
H2mE5

Provision of information
technology support for
web sales

BEMRERARINAS

Provision of laboratory
testing services

REERERARS



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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14 SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 14 &2 aE (&)

(i) Country of incorporation/
establishment;

(ii) Principal country of operations; Issued share
(iii) Date of incorporation/ capital/registered  Effective interest
Name of subsidiary es:}ebli&hment capital held as at Principal activities
IELEAEAE
EELEL] KTAEESEY
HEARER (ifi)ZE AR/ 5 L A 8 EREL TEERK
2024 2023
Z8CRE —T-CE
Indirectly held (Continued)
BEsE(E)
QP Holdings (Vietnam) Limited* ~ BVI/ Hong Kong / USD50,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
10 September 2020 \
EBERRER/BE/ 5000050 100% 100% REZR
“EZZENATH
QP Trading (Vietnam) Company  Vietnam / Vietnam / Vietnamese dong 100% 100%  Trading of paper products
Limited* 16 January 2020 (‘VND") 300,000,000
Hm/aE/ 300,000,000 100%  100% #ERES
ZEIRE-RT5H HEE(HEE)
QP Technology Development Hong Kong / Hong Kong / HK$10,000 100% 100%  Information Technology
Limited 20 May 2021
ERHRERARAR B/ BE/ 10,0007 ¢ 100%  100% EaABE
“E--%1A-1A
Billion Space Development Hong Kong / Hong Kong / HK$2 100% 100%  Property holding
Limited 24 Qctober 2014
EERXRERAA B/ EE/ kT 100% 100% NEERK
ZE-METAZTRA
Brighten Wish Limited Hong Kong / Hong Kong / HK$2 100% 100%  Property holding
13 March 2015
2EERLA EB/ER/ 25T 100%  100% #EER
“E-RFZATEH
Goldenway Fortune Limited Hong Kong / Hong Kong / HK$2 100% 100%  Property holding
3 March 2015
SHERERAT EB/EB/-F-1F=R=A 2ET 100%  100% #ERR
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14 SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

(i) Country of incorporation/
establishment;

RA MBS ERAR MR

14 KB F(H&)

(ii) Principal country of operations; Issued share
(iii) Date of incorporation/ capital/registered  Effective interest
Name of subsidiary esgblghment capital held as at Principal activities
()EME Y,/
(EX:EFLES RTGIAHEEH o
KHEARER (i) FRAYL/HIAH ERER IEXE
2024
ZBIQmE -%
Indirectly held (Continued)
BESE(R)
Mega Access Capital Resources  Hong Kong / Hong Kong / HK$2 100% 100%  Property holding
Limited 16 March 2015
ERERARAT EB/ER/ 2T 100% 100% WxEK
ZE-RE=ATA
Universe Oriental Enterprise Hong Kong / Hong Kong / HKS$2 100% 100%  Property holding
Limted 16 March 2015 o \
BREH L EARAA ER/ER/ 2B 100%  100% MEERK
ZE2-RE=AT/A
QP TRADING ASIAPTE. LTD#  Singapore / Singapore / Singapore dollars 100 100% 100%  Wholesale of paper and
26 April 2021 paper products, and
. packaging materials
g/ %,/ 10037 %% 7 100%  100% 4% #EpRes
:;:—i@ﬂ_ﬂﬁ %ﬂﬁt%
Q P Enterprise (Vietnam) Vietnam / Vigtnam / VND110,437,697,568 100% 100%  Manufacturing and trading of
Company Limited? 7 December 2021 H paper products
m/m/_q_ 110437697 5681470 & 100% 100% “EnEERES
ZAtH
CM Concepts Limited* Hong Kong / Hong Kong / HK$1,500,000 70% 70%  Design services
31 July 2023
AB/EH/B_ZEtA=T-H 1,500,000 7C 70% 0% HERE
Light Security Consulting Limited  Hong Kong / Hong Kong / HK$5,000,000 76% 51%  Cyber security services and
3 August 2023 o ~ solutions \
BARRHEAARAR ﬁé/m/_y:‘ﬁ NAZR 5,0000007% ¢ 76% 51% BEREBEREAGE
QPMN Trading (Canada) Limited* Canada / Canada / 30 May 2023 Canaclin doler (CAD) 1 100% 100%  Sales of website products
nex/mek/-5-=1A=1H MEAT 100% 100% RERHEER
(mexzl)
Dongguan Zensee Trading PRC / PRC / 12 December 2024 RMB100,000 100% N/A Trading of materials and
Limitec? products
REEREAARAT hE/RE /B RETZATZE AB#1000007T 100%  TE% W&Eém
Notes: B et -
1. These are wholly-owned foreign investment enterprises 1, ZEIIEBE AT TR EFEMAE L -

registered in the PRC.

These are wholly-domestic owned enterprises under the PRC
law.

The English translation of the names of the companies and the
types of legal entity types are for reference only. The official
names/types are in Chinese.

The Chinese name of these companies are not available.

ZEENERF TR E R B LEEM
BRI e

KX EBREHRS2E ZSRA/ R
ERBEANENEWBPX

ZERNBBEPEHR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB MR M

15 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15 W% - BMERRE

Leasehold Plant&  Furniture & Motor  Construction
Buildings  improvements machinery equipment  vehicles in progress

BT RENREE  HERHE  BARRE nE EBIE

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 ' HK$'000 HK$'000
FEnL Thn Thr i BT Thr
Year ended HE-E-=F
31 December 2023 t-R=t-A

LEE
Opening net book value ENERTE 138,833 40,990 132,49 35,115 2,651 40,754 390,839
Additions TE - 2 8,047 5,250 1,140 81,369 96,433
Disposal hE - - (107) (106) (364) - (577)
Transfer &y 64,930 - - - - (64,930) -
Depreciation ot §) TEWHs) (9,009 (8,556) (24,6%9) (8.260) (667) - (51,275)
Echenge edlgment 2% 3.105) 1,000) 6.262) 697 ] 1169 0239
Closing net book value EXERZE 191,560 31,461 113,075 31,302 2,754 56,024 426,181
At 31 December 2023 "

+-A=t+-H
Cost AR 264,205 92,611 464,945 100,154 12,330 56,024 990,269
Aocumuleted depreciation ~ 237 12,640 BB B51870) 688 (0578 _ 408
Net book value FHEE 191,560 31,461 113,075 31,302 2,754 56,024 426,181
Year ended HE-3-pE

31 December 2024 tZAZt-H

LEE
Opening net book value ENERFE 191,565 31,461 113,075 31,302 2,754 56,024 426,181
Additions NE 2,500 297 33,957 8,844 599 24,339 70,536
Disposal HE - (12) (503) (65) - - (580)
Transfer £l 1,747 483 634 - - (2,864) -
Depreciation Vot §) nEe (11,194) (7,941) (26,300) (8,738) (859) - (5508
Exchange realignment ERHER (5,057) (790) (4,652) (769) @ 2319 (18,59)
Closing net book value EREMFE 179,561 23,498 116,211 30,574 2,490 75180 427514
At 31 December 2024 RZE-mE

+ZA=t-A
Cost i 261,329 90,421 478,472 105,734 12,393 75180 1,023,529
Accumulated depreciation  £3t#7E (81,768) (66,923) (362,261) (75,160) (9,903) - (596,015)
Net book value FREE 179,561 23,498 116,211 30,574 2,490 75,180 427,514
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

15 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(Continued)

Depreciation expenses of approximately HK$31,034,000
and HK$27,967,000 have been charged in “Cost
of sales”, and approximately HK$23,998,000 and
HK$23,308,000 have been charged in “Administrative
expenses” for the years ended 31 December 2024 and
2023 respectively.

Buildings with a net carrying amount of approximately
HK$63,337,000 and HK$69,527,000 were pledged as
collateral for the banking facilities granted to the Group
(Note 28 and 29) as at 31 December 2024 and 2023
respectively.

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, formal real estate
ownership certificates have not been obtained for
certain of the Group’s properties with total carrying
value of approximately HK$1,110,000 and HK$1,413,000
respectively. The Group has taken remedial actions
and is in the process of obtaining the necessary real
estate ownership certificates. In the opinion of the
directors, the absence of formal title to these real estate
ownership certificates is not an indicator for impairment
in the value of these properties as the Group has paid
the full purchase consideration for these buildings and
the probability of being evicted on the ground of an
absence of formal title is remote.

Depreciation method and useful life

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is
calculated using the straight-line method to allocate
their costs to their residual values over estimated useful
lives as follows:
— Buildings useful life of the building, or over term
of the land use right certificate,
whichever is the shorter
10 years, or over lease
term, whichever is the

— Leasehold improvements

shorter
— Plant and machinery 5-10 years
— Furniture and equipment 5-10 years
— Motor vehicles 5 years

RA MBS ERAR MR

156 W% - BEKRE(E)

&i_v_mﬁﬁ_$:_$+zﬂ
=+ —HIEFE 5 5/431,034, ooo
7B 7T 27,967,000/ JT E’J ?ﬁ 5
XEFAMEE XX &5 54
23,998,000/ T &23,308,0005% JT
MITERIERAITERAS] -

8 ® JF B 463,337,000 T &
69,527,000 T EF 2 HFER
AEEBRIR-_ZTE_NEFER_-ZE
=+ -_A=1+—HEERKNIETT
B & (M 28K 29) WK M o

R-ZE-_NMER T -=ZF+—
A=+—HB Xx&EBEI Rz E B
IR E 2 Bl £ A1,110,0005 7T &
1,413,000 L &/ T W E S EX
FHERRE - ANEEDRIGE R
M BEEERBEMENEHEREFE -
EERE BRASEBEEXNZSE
EFN2HBERERARIDER
XEMBEEREOATEMEEMN At
ROZEFMEEFNENZEL
EPZEMENEBELIARE -

TEERTERAFH
WE BERRBINERBEKZL
AEC LRI TNERAERFHA
DEEFREEZ KA

— EF BFHRE A F sk
+ Mo {5 A EE B A BR
(A& A %)

— HEWEXRE 10FIRHEEH
(A& EE A E)

— Bk Es 5104
— REREE 5104
— "= 54
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16 SHARE CAPITAL

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB MR M

2024 2023
—¥-mE —T-_=fF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FER FHET
Authorised: ERE
2,000,000,000 (2023: 2,000,000,000) 2,000,000,000%
ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each (ZE=%:

2,000,000,0000%)
G EE0.0178 7T HY

i 20,000 20,000
Issued and fully paid: [RELEEPSE S
532,000,000 (2023: 532,000,000) 532,000,000 (=& = =

ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each E 532,000, OOOHx)

i @Hﬁ 5,320 5,320

17 INVESTMENT PROPERTY 17 BREWE
As at 31 December
R+=ZB=+—H
2024 2023

—E-MF =
HK$’000 HK$’000
FH T T& T

Non-current assets — at fair value ¥ HREB&EE — H A F@E
At beginning of the year E/\E%ﬂ 2,135 2,135
Fair value changes NEEE - —

At end of the year REXR 2,135 2,135
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NOTESWDTHECONSOUDATH)HNANCMLSDMEMENTS

17 INVESTMENT PROPERTY (Continued)

Investment property is situated in Hong Kong and
rented out under operating leases. Amounts recognised
in profit or loss for investment property are as follows:

RA MBS ERAR MR

17 REWXE(E)

REMELNETE REEHOE
HepREVERBRABRRBNE

BN

Year ended 31 December

BEt-A=+T—-HLEEE

2024

—E_mEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET

Rental income recognised in 7 E Ath 4 A HE SR &Y

other income HME®RA 53 51
Direct operating expenses HiEZEEMY (6) (6)
47 45

The directors performed a valuation of the investment
property under the market comparable approach using
the current market price and adjusting for factors
regarding the location and size of the property to
determine the fair value as at 31 December 2024 and
2023. No change in fair value of investment property
was recognised for the years ended 31 December 2024
and 2023.

The fair value measurement is categorised in Level 3
of the fair value hierarchy, and there were no transfers
between Level 1, 2 and 3 during the years ended 31
December 2024 and 2023.

The key inputs as at 31 December 2024 and 2023 are
average market price of similar investment properties
after adjusting for age, location, condition and
surrounding facility. The higher the market price, the
higher the fair value.

EEREMSAILRA LA FHE
AIMEREBEBEZYDEMNERRE
MAERRZEREMFEETMHE
NEETR-ZE-_NFER-_ZE-_=F
+ A=+—H®HAFE -#HEZ

TWERZE_=F+-_A=+—
EtEE HEMEN A FELE
B o

ATEHERARTEERNES
R HREESF-meRce
SEEFAS+—HLEERE -

B EoRRE=E WL -

RZE-_NFR-_FE-_=ZF+=A
=t+—HNEEHARIBEARIER
VE MARBERBEELARZR
WEUEEMENFEEATE -TE
e AFEES -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB MR M

18 INTANGIBLE ASSETS BREEE

Golf club

Membership  Computer

Goodwill (Note) software
B K

LES-£
B (Hat) ShEa#s
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TRT THT TET

Year ended 31 December BE-E-=H£+-8

2023 Z+-ALEE
Opening net book value ¢ MEEEE 24,565 943 3,564 29,072
Additions ANE - - 1,888 1,888
Amortisation (Note 8) B 8) - - (1,233) (1,233)
Exchange realignment fE 5 (695) - (37) (732)
Closing net book value EREEFE 23,870 943 4,182 28,995
At 31 December 2023 R-ZEB-=5+=A
=t+-H

Cost X AR 23,870 943 7,635 32,448
Accumulated amortisation g i - - (3,453) (3,453)
Net book value EHFE 23,870 943 4,182 28,995

Year ended 31 December BE-Z-mE+=HA

2024 =t-HLEEE
Opening net book value ¢ MEEFE 23,870 943 4,182 28,995
Additions NE - - 440 440
Amortisation (Note 8) B (h i) - - (1,426) (1,426)
Exchange realignment i 58 (786) - (36) (822)
Closing net book value FREMFE 23,084 943 3,160 27,187
At 31 December 2024 R-Z-ME+=A
=t+-—H

Cost X AR 23,084 943 7,750 31,777
Accumulated amortisation R £ - - (4,590) (4,590)
Net book value REFE 23,084 943 3,160 27,187
Note: Golf club membership is stated at historical cost. The golf HizF: BRXELBEETIREL KN

club membership has an indefinite life which is not subject to e BERNALNEGEF YL

E - BASE  BSFETRENR
THREEARESEREARTE
MEEKRE BEELZ2EERMX
BN eBxZFalENHENS R

amortisation and is tested annually for impairment and applied
fair value less costs to sell when determining its recoverable
amounts. The management determines the fair value less

costs to sell by using the market approach with reference to B E B T I A T EQ?
selling price obtained from trading platform of similar golf club BREERANSTE HE-_Z= -7
membership. During the years ended 31 December 2024 and ER-—_EBE-_=#F+-A=+— El ==
2023, no impairment was made in relation to the golf club EoltEpe@ Bl eEEER
membership. (=
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

18 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

The fair value measurement of the golf club membership
is categorised in Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy and
there were no transfers between Level 1, 2 and 3 during
the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

Amortisation expenses relating to computer software of
approximately HK$1,426,000 and HK$1,233,000 have
been charged in “Administrative expenses” for the years
ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, respectively.

Goodwill arose from the purchase of Taunus Printing
(Heshan) Company Limited (“TPC”) from certain third
parties during the year ended 31 December 2018.

Goodwill arising from acquisition is allocated to the
relevant CGU, composed of Q P Enterprises Limited
and TPC, which are expected to benefit from the
business combination. Management reviews annually
whether the carrying amount of this CGU is higher
than the recoverable amount. The recoverable amount
is determined based on a value-in-use calculation
with key parameters including annual revenue growth
rate of 3% and discount rate of 13%. The calculation
uses pre-tax cash flow projection based on a five-year
financial budget approved by management using the
estimated growth rate of the relevant CGU. Cash flows
beyond the five-year period are extrapolated assuming
a terminal growth rate of 3% and no material change in
the existing scope of business, business environment
and market conditions. The discount rate applied to the
cash flow projections is 13% and management believes
it reflects specific risks relating to the segment.

The recoverable amount calculated based on value in
use exceeded carrying value as at 31 December 2024.
A decrease in annual revenue growth rate by 0.7%
(2023: 0.6%) or increase in discount rate by 5% (2023:
5%) would remove the remaining headroom for the
CGU.

There was no impairment provision for intangible assets
during the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

fre SRR M

8 EBIEE(E)

SERXELIESENRATEFTE
BAAFEEZNE_E BR#E
EZTE_NMERZFT=F+=A
=t HUtFE F-E -F_ER
FE=[E 7 M EEE

HE_Z-_WNFER-_ZE-_=ZF+=A4
=+—HBLEFE 5 541,426,000
7 70 51,233,000 7T H9 E B EX 14 4B
BB EAST R ITHREAI Ik -

BmERE _ZET-N\F+_-_A=1+—H
HEERETE=TBERZHR (5
L) AR AF(TPCI) -

WBEANEES K ZTEHEER
AP ESNEMRSEESEM(H
ERLEERARNTPCAHMK) - &
BEESFRVZASCELEEMOE
AEEESRATKE S5 - aTlkE
CHEDNDERNFHRAEENEETE &

BR2YPEFERFZEERIDR
BhIRE13% - ZatBEHEZR UNE B
BHENAFYHKBEERER K
AHEBEREeEESBMNAETIERE
ETHAIRESREEN - BBRF
HRMEBESREITRIZKRERX
B3N AR FEBKHE KEIRBER
MR EEXKESETHE - FH
RIE & = 788 A BY 3R R 513% -
BEEBRERASHEN R ESD I H R
TR -

RZE-_NMF+-_A=+—8 - &R
FREBTEMNATKE S REB R
HE FERSZEREERD07% (=
T ZF:0.6%) kB4 IR K 1E K5%
(ZE2EZ=F:5% B ERREEE
BAMFIRREE -

BE_Z-_WFER-_FE-=F+_"A4
Tt BLtFE VTEREEEE
TEL R EBE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB MR M

18 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)
Amortisation methods and periods

The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to
be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with
finite lives are subsequently amortised over the useful
economic life and assessed for impairment whenever
there is an indication that the intangible asset may be
impaired. The amortisation period and the amortisation
method for an intangible asset with a finite useful life
are reviewed at least at each financial year end.

See Note 2.7 for the other accounting policies relevant

to intangible assets and Note 2.8 for the Group’s policy
regarding impairment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iR B B R M

19 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY 19 REHESTHWEMIA
CATEGORY
As at 31 December
R+=A=+—AH
2024 2023
—E-mE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FE T
Financial assets ERMEE
Financial assets at amortised cost ¥ 8 5H PK AN B BR BY
TREE
— Debt instruments at amortised cost — — & & § AKX AN 71| BR 59
BEHIA 7,733 3,900
— Trade receivables — B5ErkFHIAE 151,582 163,323
— Deposits, prepayments and other —%e  BNRER
receivables (excluding prepayments H b & U 3RIR
and VAT receivables) (TBEEBEMZER
JE W g B B 44,162 44,714
— Cash and bank balances — Be hFITHH 246,481 160,365

Financial assets at fair value through BATFEFABERD

profit or loss TREE
— Equity investment at fair value — BATFEFAEZEN
through profit or loss iR E 500 500
450,458 372,802
Financial liabilities o= =]
Financial liabilities at amortised cost 128 85 P AR B BR &Y
THRAE
— Trade payables — B RN FIA 75,227 64,436
— Accruals, provisions and other — B ER BEREM
payables (excluding accrued staff ERRIB(TBIERE
costs, other taxes payables and STEITRCAR - HhfE
provision for social insurance and NEEBEREERE R
housing provident fund) FERAESERE) 32,764 32,394
— Borrowings — B 50,150 47,879
— Supplier finance arrangements — HEERE L 16,601 —
— Lease liabilities —HEAaR 3,982 2,949
178,724 147,658
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB MR M

20 LEASES 20 HE
As at 31 December
R+=—A=+—H
pL P 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000
F#ET T
Right-of-use assets EHAEEE
Land T i 140,931 146,933
Properties LS 3,852 2,943
144,783 149,876
Lease liabilities HEA®E
Current B EA 2,355 1,811
Non-current 3E BN &1 1,627 1,138
3,982 2,949
Notes: B 5T -
(a)  Additions to the right-of-use assets were HK$3,373,000 and (@ BHEZZT-_NFER-ZT-=F+=A
HK$2,534,000 for the years ended 31 December 2024 and —+—BLFE - FRAEEERED
2023 respectively. 7l £3,373,000/%8 7t % 2,534,000/ 7t °
(b)  Total cash outlfows for leases were HK$2,336,000 and by HEZZ-_WNEFR-ZZZ_=F+=A
HK$2,318,000 for the years ended 31 December 2024 and Zt+—BUHFEE HERESRAELES
2023 respectively. 7l /%2,336,0007% 7T % 2,318,000/ 7T ©
(¢)  The consolidated statement of profit or loss shows the following (c) SABRRIWARATEHHESB 22
amounts relating to leases: '

As at 31 December

R+=—A=+-—H
2024 (02K]
—EC-@mEF T_=fF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHERT FHT
Expense relating to short-term lease HEEBHEEELNER
contract (Note 8) M (47it8) 2,089 1,507
Amortisation of right-of-use i AR & B8 (17 778)
assets (Note 8) 5,789 6,206
Interest expenses (included in finance FERXZGIARERAFE)
income, net) (Note 10) (HtaF10) 148 52
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

20 LEASES (Continued)

The Group leases various properties to operate its
businesses and these lease liabilities were measured
at net present value of the lease payments during the
lease terms that are not yet paid. No extension option
and no residual value guarantee are included in such
property and equipment leases across the Group.

Right-of-use assets with a net carrying amount of
approximately HK$78,443,000 and HK$80,234,000 were
pledged as collateral for the banking facilities granted
to the Group (Note 28 and 29) as at 31 December 2024
and 2023 respectively.

Accounting policies of leases

The lease payments are discounted using the interest
rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily
determined, which is generally the case for leases in the
Group, the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate is used,
being the rate that the individual lessee would have to
pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an asset
of similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar
economic environment with similar terms, security and
conditions.

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the Group:

o where possible, uses recent third-party financing
received by the individual lessee as a starting
point, adjusted to reflect changes in financing
conditions since third party financing was received;
and

o makes adjustments specific to the lease, e.g. term,
country, currency and security.

fre SRR M

20 H&E(HE)

AEBEHEZHEMEAREEER -
EZSHERERBHARINE
ENENREFETE BHER
BEHGEEERMEFALTEE
HEMEEREHEE -

RZB_WNER-_F_=F+=
A=+—8B &EFED L
78,443,000/ 7T 80,234,000/ 7T
MERBEECERERASEE
B IR 17 B & (P iE28%29) A K 47

oA ©
HEMEFTBE

HENFRAEEMEEOHMET
VARG IR o fis 48 BB PS5 7 E " M) R (1t
BREBFERASEBEES) Al
& AAEANEEERNE - BE
BIABRARERULERENERS
BEMITNERESE - ABEUE
FoBRARGHBAEEMLAX
(BEORAIE S

RETREBRAE  A&E:

o  EREERRT - £ AERAME
AOLHESNE=Z7TRERL
BHEHEFLHABURRBESSE
=T BEARBE G NE
K

e ETRHERBEENHE - fim
HIR - B B8 RER -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB MR M

20 LEASES (Continued) 20 HE (&)

If a readily observable amortising loan rate is available
to the individual lessee (through recent financing or
market data) which has a similar payment profile to the
lease, then the group entities use that rate as a starting
point to determine the incremental borrowing rate.

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the
shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease term on
a straight-line basis. If the Group is reasonably certain
to exercise a purchase option, the right-of-use asset is
depreciated over the underlying asset’s useful life.

Payments associated with short-term leases and leases
of low-value assets are recognised on a straight-line
basis as an expense in profit or loss. Short-term leases
are leases with a lease term or less than 12 months.

See Note 2.19 for the other accounting policies relevant
to leases.

1 0 30 75 LA 2 18 B8 5 4 K1
SR 1oL 0 B 5 P 0 5% 28 54 B R 3
(8 38 36 59 0 & 5 45 BUR) - A
EE LTSRS S E Y

A 2R B E B

ERAEEE-—RABREREED
A RFREEERPREERE
HASBEERERTERERSE
B AERREERMEREENRA
ERFERTE -

HEMHERBKEEEEMERM
N FABARERNIE SRR R/
RHHESHEEH2E AL T
HE -

EREENHEMETHE B2 H
B 5¥2.19 o

21 INVENTORIES 78
As at 31 December
R+=—A=+—H

2024 2023
—E-mE —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
T F& T
Raw materials R R 21,794 18,331
Work in progress 1 & i 19,141 18,213
Finished goods X & 35,374 28,586
As at 31 December R+-_A=+—H 76,309 65,130

The cost of inventories recognised as expenses and
included in “Cost of sales” amounted to HK$367,863,000
and HK$315,481,000 for the years ended 31 December
2024 and 2023 respectively.

The carrying amount of inventories is stated net of
provision for inventory obsolescences of HK$27,472,000
(2023: HK$26,458,000).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INVENTORIES (Continued)

I\/ \ I:l E\ZT%%%&%M#%\E

21 #E(#)

As at 31 December

R+=—A=+—H
2024 2023
—E-_mEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FER FHET
Movement of inventory provision FEREZY
As at 1 January R—HA—H 26,458 25,709
Provision for inventory obsolescence for 4 A &4 17 & B &
the year (Note 8) (H178) 1,923 1,433
Translation adjustment bE 5 38 2 (909) (684)
As at 31 December R+=—A=+—H 27,472 26,458

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost comprises direct materials, direct
labour and an appropriate proportion of variable and
fixed overhead expenditure, the latter being allocated
on the basis of normal operating capacity. It excludes
borrowing costs. Costs is determined using the first-in,
first-out (FIFO) method. Costs of purchased inventory
are determined after deducting rebates and discounts.
Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of
completion and the estimated costs necessary to make
the sale.

FERKAETEIRFEME DD
BEEARE - W$@%E%Mﬂ

BEESTKANEE LG T E

EreEEgEAIS - &%Eﬂﬁi
BELENSE - KATBIEER
BRAN e AR EANGLEETE - B
EMFEERAENBRE N EITNE
ME O ZRFEDNDAEBTELB
A E & ERAET T IR AN
M EME IR A -

B 5 EWFE

TRADE RECEIVABLES 22
As at 31 December
R+=—HA=+—H
2024 2023
—E-@WE —E_=4F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET F& T
Trade receivables B 5 ElEE 151,582 163,323
Trade receivables represented credit sales of goods to BEZRERKABREE=ZFTHNERE

third parties. The credit terms granted by the Group are
generally ranging from 30 to 90 days.

iéfé% ztxgliﬁﬂja’ﬂ*hﬁlﬁ i
N F30F90K °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB MR M

22 TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued) 22 5 EWRHEGR)

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the aging analysis
of the trade receivables, based on invoice date, were as
follows:

RZE-_NMFR_ZFE-_ZF+=A
“Tt+—HBH BREZAHHAENES
JEW B ERE DT T

As at 31 December

R+t=-HA=+—H

2024 2023
—E-mE 28

HK$’000 HK$’000
T FE T
Within 30 days 30K AR 72,417 70,626
31-60 days 31E260K 62,120 38,815
61-90 days 61E 90K 15,450 30,598
Over 90 days 90K M + 1,595 23,284
151,582 163,323

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting
date is the carrying value of the trade receivables. The
Group does not hold any collateral as security.

The Group applies the simplified approach to provide
for expected credit losses prescribed by HKFRS 9,
which permits the use of the lifetime expected loss
provision for all trade receivables. The Group considers
the credit risk characteristics and the days past due to
measure the expected credit losses. During the years
ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, the expected
credit losses for customers of sales of goods are
minimal, given there is no history of significant defaults
from customers and no adverse change is anticipated
in the future business environment. No provision
for impairment of trade receivables has been made
throughout the years ended 31 December 2024 and
2023.

The carrying amounts of trade receivables approximate
their fair values as at 31 December 2024 and 2023.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iR B B R M

22 TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued) 22 ESEWRKIE(E)
The Group’s trade receivables were denominated in the AEEMNESERBFKEDUTIE
following currencies: HEHE:

As at 31 December

R+=—A=+—8”
2024 2023
—E_ME —E =4
HK$’000 HK$’000
FaET FAT
UsD ETT 96,761 69,719
HKD BT 50,912 87,836
RMB AR 3,417 5,480
Others HAh 492 288
151,582 163,323
. + %k
23 DEPOSITS, PREPAYMENTS AND 23 i_?‘,s% A RRE R At B
OTHER RECEIVABLES A
As at 31 December
R+=—A=+—H”
2024 2023
—E-MMF B
HK$’000 HK$'000
FaExT FAET
Prepayments AT FRIE 11,374 22,703
Other receivables H b ' W 3018 19,566 21,245
Rental and other deposits HehEMiLse 23,696 20,744
VAT receivables JiE L8 15 18 F 20,905 14,878
Amounts due from non-controlling JE IR FE 455 AR AR 3R
shareholders* IE* 900 2,725
76,441 82,295
Less: Non-current portion & FERNERE (19,957) (33,086)
Current portion Bl ER & > 56,484 49,209

i

BAERE EEREKER-—FAE

The balances are interest-free, unsecured and repayable in 1
year.

Rl
o

The carrying amounts of deposits and other receivables RZE_MFR_F_=F+_A
of the Group approximate their fair values as at 31 =+t—H FAEENEKEs R EME
December 2024 and 2023. WHRENEAEEAEAFERS °
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KRB MR M

23 DEPOSITS, PREPAYMENTS AND
OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

Their recoverability was assessed with reference to the
credit status of each counterparty, and the expected
credit losses are minimal.

The Group’s deposits, prepayments and other
receivables were denominated in the following
currencies:

23 & ANREREMENR
IR ()
HAKEETILRR S ETHER
R ETE - AFBEEEERD -

AEBWNRE  FANREREME
WRIBETSA T B’ EHE

As at 31 December

R+=—A=+—H
2024 2023
—E-F =%
HK$’000 HK$’000
THERT FHET
RMB 43,270 58,009
HKD 9,279 15,820
VND 13,245 7,647
USD 7,436 740
Others 3,211 79
76,441 82,295

24 CASH AND BANK BALANCES

24 BERBITHER

As at 31 December

R+=—A=+—H
2024 2023
—E-NF —E-=F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FERT FAT
Cash at banks and on hand RITRFHERS 103,423 44,140
Time deposits maturing within  31& A A E| Bi 1) & i 77 3%
3 months 55,989 23,340
Cash and cash equivalents in 8RR EREXMNRE K&
the consolidated statement REEEY
of cash flows 24(a) 159,412 67,480
Time deposits maturing after 3 31& A 14 | Hi & 7& B3 17 3¢
months 24(b) 87,069 92,885
246,481 160,365
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iR B B R M

24 CASH AND BANK BALANCES 24 WERWITHEER(E)

(Continued)

(a) Cash and cash equivalents in the () KERERERNRER
consolidated statement of cash flows ReEEYEE:
comprise:

As at 31 December

R+=-—A=+—8H

2024 2023
—E-MEF —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHExT FHE T
Denominated in USD LAZEJTEHE 35,212 21,630
Denominated in HKD LA TTEHE 49,207 28,804
Denominated in RMB MARKEE 70,996 14,311
Denominated in other currencies A H b &+ (A 3,997 2,735
159,412 67,480

(b) Time deposits maturing after three (b) ZEAEZHHNEHFN:
months:

As at 31 December
R+=-—A=+—8H
2024 2023
—E-NMEF —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHExT FHE T
Denominated in USD LAETTEHAE 79,004 87,404
Denominated in RMB MWAREE — 5,481
Denominated in JPY LAHE A 8,065 —
87,069 92,885
The effective interest rates per annum relating to RZE-_NMF+=ZA=+—H"
time deposits maturing after three months ranged EHE=EAEINBENTEHFKR
from 0.14% to 4.92% as at 31 December 2024 BB FEFEN F0.14% E4.92%
(2023: 1.29% 10 5.33%). (ZT = =% :1.20%%5.33%) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RA MBS ERARMEE

25

26

SHARE PREMIUM AND RESERVES

Share premium of the Company is mainly attributable
to the completion of the reorganisation and issuance of
ordinary shares. Reserves during the years ended 31
December 2024 and 2023 comprised of capital reserve,
statutory reserve, translation reserve and retained
earnings.

As stipulated by the relevant PRC laws and regulations
applicable to the Company’s subsidiaries established
and operated in the PRC, the subsidiaries are required
to make appropriation from profit after tax (after
offsetting prior years’ losses) to statutory reserve. The
PRC entities are required to transfer at least 10% of
its net profit as determined under the PRC accounting
rules and regulations, to their statutory reserve. The
appropriations to the statutory reserve are required until
the balance reaches 50% of the subsidiaries’ registered
capital. The statutory reserve can be utilised to offset
prior year losses or be utilised for issuance of bonus
shares. The Company’s PRC subsidiaries are restricted
in their ability to transfer a portion of their reserve either
in the form of dividends, loans or advances.

The capital reserve of the Group represents the reserves
arising from the reorganisation for the purpose of the

listing.

TRADE PAYABLES

Trade payables B o IE

25 R EERRE

ARalRHaBETEAREMETK
FETEBRER HE_ZT-_NOFR
—E-_ZF+_A=+t—HLEFE
MEERIEEARE EEME -
BRERBERRBAF -

RBEARB N PBIKLREESZH
BLr@ERNEEPBERRER
MRE ZEWMBRRARERK
BHEMNEEEBEFERRB) RS
EEREB TEERBABRETE
SR EAEREERIFENNE
PI0NBREELERE - BEIX
ERENSRABEAEREINNE
NAE M E AR H50% A& 1k o K E [
BARFEEBREFERBEIAR
BATHALIR - AR E B KB A A
RS ERHBRT A EREEH
DIEEOBENZ BRG]

AEENEARERER ETEMAM
EENRE -

BZENRE

As at 31 December
R+=—HA=+—8H
2024 2023
—E-=4F
HK$’000
TE T

—g-m%
HK$’000
T

75,227 64,436
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iRE SRR MR
26 TRADE PAYABLES (Continued) 26 ESENRIE(E)
As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the aging analysis RZEZOFRZFZ_=F1T=A
of the trade payables, based on invoice date, were as —t+—B - REZAHHENES
follows: FER RIBR)BREC DT A0 T -
As at 31 December
R+=—A=+—H
2024 2023
—EB-MMF —T_=F
HK$°000 HK$’000
FER FHET
Within 30 days 30K AR 50,451 33,861
31-60 days 31260K 16,217 15,224
61-90 days 61290k 5,502 9,793
Over 90 days 90K M F 3,057 5,558
75,227 64,436
The carrying amounts of trade payables approximate RZEZMFER_FT_=F+=A
their fair values as at 31 December 2024 and 2023. = Jr B Z5 f_ NHIEHNEREE
HEANFE $H
The Group’s trade payables were denominated in the AEENESENZREDUTIE
following currencies: LRI

As at 31 December

R+=—A=+—H
2024 2023
—E-mEF —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
TH T F& T
RMB AR 53,770 52,531
HKD BT 8,088 8,783
UsD ETT 6,049 2,151
Others Hb 7,320 971
75,227 64,436
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27 ACCRUALS, PROVISIONS AND OTHER 27 E:tER - BERHMENS

PAYABLES ;18
As at 31 December
R+=A=+—H”
2024 2023
—E-WE —E-=4
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHExT FE T
Accrued staff costs JEEtE TR A 44,924 38,731
Accrued expenses FEET R X 15,327 12,743
Other taxes payables H e B I8 9,972 6,935
Provision for social insurance and Rk kERE
housing provident fund N 10,143 19,291
Other payables H M FE S 5B 17,437 19,651
97,803 97,351

KRB -_WNFEFR_ZE-_=ZF+=A1
=+—HB EHEAR BEHEIEAM
JENFIENETDEEEAFEES -

The carrying amounts of accruals, provisions and
other payables approximate their fair values as at 31
December 2024 and 2023.

AEEMM BB - B BRI
F3RIE TY AT B S 3 08

The Group’s accruals, provisions and other payables
were denominated in the following currencies:

As at 31 December

R+=—A=+—H
2024 2023
—E_UEF —E =%
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FA T
RMB AR 60,608 68,653
HKD BT 26,455 17,808
Usb ETT 3,911 6,380
Others Hib 6,829 4,510
97,803 97,351
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28 BORROWINGS

Bank borrowings

fre SRR M

28 f& ™

As at 31 December

Less: amounts due on demand and/or & B BEIE [ IRIE

within one year shown under current
liabilities Hi &Y 308

EREER—FARE

®t+=A=+-H
2024 2023

= 8T
HK$°000 HK$'000
Fi8 7 Fisn
50,150 47,879
(50,150) (47,879)

FERNHA L >

Non-current portion

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, borrowings of
approximately HK$50,150,000 and HK$47,879,000,
respectively, were subject to repayable on demand
clause.

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group’s
borrowings were repayable as follows:

RZE-_WNER-_ZE-_=4+=-AH
—t+—H®E R D R4 550,150,000
7 7T ;47,879,000 7T B IREK
EBIEHRLR -

RZE-NFR T -_=F+—H
=+t—HB AEEEROERBW
—F :

As at 31 December

R+=—HA=+—H

2024 2023
—ZE-_@mEF

HK$’000 HK$’000
FH& T FA& T
Within 1 year —F LR 42,427 20,991
Between 1 and 2 years —EWF 694 9,870
Between 2 and 5 years W E A 2,080 10,404
Over 5 years FE 4,949 6,614
50,150 47,879

The above amounts due are based on the respective
scheduled repayment dates set out in the loan
agreements and ignore the effect of any repayment on
demand clause.

bt B HA SRR JOAR IR BRI & P L
EHEFEXBHFAFE LEEZE
TRZEREEGROTE -
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KRB MR M

28 BORROWINGS (Continued) 28 B (#&)

The Group’s borrowings were denominated in the AEBRERDATIE B E:
following currencies:

As at 31 December

R+=—HA=+—H
2024 2023
—E_mEF 2=
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FERT FAT
HKD 5 T 12,861 47,090
RMB AR 37,289 —
VND HEE - 789
50,150 47,879
The effective interest rates of the above loans (per FTHRERR TN FR_FT ==
annum) as at 31 December 2024 and 2023 were as FH_A=T—"ANEBRFNENT :
follows:
2024 20
“E-ME g S 3
Effective Effective
interest rate  HK$'000 interestrate~ HK$'000
ERAZ ThER ERF= Thr
Bank borrowings RITEH HIBOR +1.1% 12,861 HIBOR +1.0% to +1.8% 47,090
ERRTREREH1% BBRTRAEREH0%EH.8%
LPR -0.55% 37,289 Fixed rate of 2.6% 789
B %R ERE-0.55% Il £ 7 %2.6%
50,150 47,879
As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the borrowings i =it E&_ T-_=—F+=H
were pledged by certain assets with carrying values =+—H EXHRETEEEER -
shown below: HIEEMES R :
As at 31 December
R+=-A=+—H
2024 2023
—E_MmEF =
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FERT FAT
Right-of-use assets FREEE 78,443 80,234
Property, plant and equipment M WENMERME 63,337 69,527
141,780 149,761
The carrying amounts of borrowings of the Group RZEZNFEFRN_E-=F+=A
approximate their fair values as at 31 December 2024 —t+—HA FAEEEXROEKREDEHR
and 2023. HRAFEEE -
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30

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BANKING FACILITIES

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had aggregate
banking facilities of approximately HK$301,242,000
(2023: HK$238,101,000) for overdrafts, loans, letter of
credit and trade financing. Unused facilities as at the
same date amounted to approximately HK$234,326,000
(2023: HK$190,081,000). These facilities were secured
by pledges over the Group’s right-of-use assets and
property, plant and equipment as set out in Note 28.

LIABILITIES UNDER SUPPLIER
FINANCE ARRANGEMENTS

Supplier finance arrangements are characterised by
one or more finance providers offering to pay amounts
that an entity owes its suppliers and the entity agreeing
to pay according to the terms and conditions of the
arrangements at the same date as, or a date later than,
when suppliers are paid. These arrangements provide
the entity with extended payment terms, or the entity’s
suppliers with early payment terms, compared to the
related invoice payment due date.

Since the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group
entered into multiple supplier finance arrangements with
maturities within one year. The terms and conditions
of the arrangements are unchanged from the trade
payables from the suppliers, other than:

° the due dates have been extended to 6 months or
12 months after the due dates from the original 30
days to 90 days, and

° the acquired payables are no longer able to be
offset against credit notes received from the
supplier.

The Group’s supplier finance arrangements were
denominated in RMB.

2024
—E-ME
Effective
interest rate

BERAZ

KEEREZH LPR
-0.45% to -0.55%
ERTERENR

-0.45% £-0.55%

Supplier finance
arrangements

29

30

HK$'000
TER BIRAIE AT

16,601

fre SRR M

BiTHME
RZZE-_MNFE+=—A= + =N
EEBESL ﬁﬁ E ZEo5mE
BREMETRMERTY 7%301 242,000
%n(f:_ﬁzwmmm%n)
A [E B AR E) R E R84 452384,326,000
7T (—Z — =4 : 190,081,000/ JT) °
ZERME TR o8 A E
MERREERDE  BEMKEE
R -

HEBREZHFBEINNER

HEBBE L e — ﬂﬁ%ﬂ@ﬁ
HRER R B G E R
HEERE Fﬁfﬁ%ﬂﬁﬁé
sk 3 12 B HRAR 3B 22 B P #05R BR M AR

HEHE R - AR RNREH
B HERBRELHRERIR

HIERNNRGER  HAAEROHE
FE R PR L BB BT R AK -

EHE_TE-_WNF+-_A=+—H
IEFER AEBEFTLZMDR—F
NEOHEmmMELZHE - BT

1R FRAN 3% %2 BE AR 30 R 14 1 B4t

FEEMESREMNRBEBRIENE:

e ZHHIHMAFRKAS0H E90H IE
Ex=EHHBZEM6MEAH12E
A&

e FIHRBZENRETAHEEAF
HEFREKINEEREET
HEH o

B R E T A A R
515 -

Effective

interest rate HK$'000

N/A
TE R

N/A
Ta R
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30 LIABILITIES UNDER SUPPLIER
FINANCE ARRANGEMENTS
(Continued)

0 HEWEARAETHAE

=}

2024 2023
—E-NE =

HK$’000 HK$'000

Range of payment due dates NEEEC =R

FTRET TET

Liabilities under supplier finance HEMBMEZHIETH 6 or 12 N/A
arrangements Bf& months i@ A
after due
dates
FIBBEEEN
6= 1218 B
Comparable trade payables that are KM AHEFE B E T HH 0-90 days N/A
not part of the supplier finance AL E 5 FE N 3RIB after invoice TEA
arrangements (same line of (RI—%%4) date
business) BZEHHEN
0£90H
2024 2023
—E-NEF 2
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FHET
Carrying amount of liabilities HEEBRETHETAE
under supplier finance B ER E B
arrangements
Liabilities under supplier finance HEMNBEZHEERETH
arrangements aE 16,601 —
of which the supplier has received Hif - ftEEmE W KRB
payment from the finance provider BE H NN 16,601 —

As at 31 December 2024, supplier finance arrangements
of approximately HK$16,601,000, were subject to
repayable on demand clause.

There were no non-cash changes would affect the
liabilities under the supplier finance arrangements in
2024 and 2023.

The carrying amounts of liabilities under the supplier
finance arrangements are considered to be reasonable
approximations of their fair values, due to their
short-term nature.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 DEFERRED INCOME TAX

The net movement on the deferred income tax account

is as follows:

fre SRR M

31 ?Eﬁﬁﬂ%ﬁ

BB FESHWT

As at 31 December

R+=—A=+—8H
2024 2023
—E-_MMF —T-=F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FHE T
At 1 January R—H— 3 (9,253) (1,494)
Charged to profit or loss (Note 11) mnekaws=mfitn) 2,057 (7,868)
Translation adjustment bE 3, 58 2 (42) 109
Deferred income tax liabilities BELEFSHAE (7,238) (9,253)

The movement in deferred income tax assets and
liabilities during the years ended 31 December 2024
and 20283, without taking into consideration the
offsetting of balances within the same tax jurisdiction, is

as follows:

Deferred income tax assets

Balances at 31 December 2022

W2 -_#+-A=+-BR

Property,
plant and
equipment

HERRE
HK$000
TARL

BEFBSHEERGBEREBEEZ
:EE&:?:_¢+ A=+—
Etiﬁ( %w*ﬁﬂﬁﬂ
MR EERAKBE NESHNT

EEFREHEE

Provision
for social
insurance
and housing
provident
fund
HERRE
EEAES
B
HK$'000

Inventory
provision

FERE
HK$000
THL TR

and 1 January 2023 “EC-E-R-BHNEH 867 3,899 3,676 1,915 10,357
Credited/(charged) to HA/ (MR8 BR
profit or loss (823) 113 (480) (19 (1,389)
Translation adjustment ERLAZ () (97) (100) (51 (250)
Balances at 31 December 2023 1= 2: “ETZA=T-BR
and 1 January 2024 ZECME-A-ANEH 42 3,915 3,096 1,665 8,718
Credited/(charged) to HA/ (k) BE
profit or loss 686 (117) (1,506) 183 (754)
Translation adjustment ERAE 5 (123) (69) (61) (248)
Balances at 31 December 2024 ~ MZF-MEFTZA=+—HH
g 733 3,675 1,521 1,787 7,716
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KRB MR M

31 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (Continued) 31 iEﬁFﬁ B/ H(E)
Deferred income tax liabilities EEFEBEE
Property,
plant and Land use Withholding

equipment right tax Total

BEREE tHERE  BEAR a3
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Fgn TR TET TR

Balances at 31 December RZE-—%+-A
2022 and 1 January 2023 =+-HRZZZ=F
—A—Bm &% 7,643 4,208 - 11,851

Charged/(credited) to profit or 1K &/ (3t A) B %
loss (2,251) (12) 8,842 6,479
Translation adjustment BE X R (168) (118) (73) (359)

Balances at 31 December RZE-=%F+_"FH

2023 and 1 January 2024 =+—RAk=T-@mF
—A—HN&EH 5,224 3,978 8,769 17,971
Credited to profit or loss AR (1,769) (110) (932) (2,811)
Translation adjustment B X 3B (77) (129) - (206)

Balances at 31 December RZE-NF+=A

2024 =+—-BNEH# 3,378 3,739 7,837 14,954
The Group takes into account the probability that AEEBRBERELEFSHREERD
deductible temporary differences or tax losses carried EZRAMBEHEEZEXCEEH
forward can be utilised against future taxable profits on TH &5 18 7] A3 DA 3K 85 R 2R FE AR 5 i A
recognition of deferred income tax assets. In assessing WrAgEl - R HIREMEHEE
recoverability of deferred income tax assets, the Group RAT UK B MR - KK EE R LT AT
takes into account scheduled reversal of deferred BHAGEME S BE KRB RKE
income tax liabilities and projected future taxable profit. R A o
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31 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (Continued)

Deferred income tax liabilities
(Continued)

As at 31 December 2024, the Group has unrecognised
tax losses of HK$10,127,000 (2023: HK$29,341,000)
to carry forward for offsetting against future taxable
income. The tax losses of HK$6,946,000 (2023:
HK$2,736,000) can be carried forward indefinitely under
the current tax legislation. The remaining tax losses of
HK$3,181,000 (2023: HK$26,605,000) will expire in five
years from the year incurred.

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group intended
to arrange distributions of profit from its wholly-owned
subsidiaries in the PRC, deferred tax liabilities of
approximately HK$7,837,000 and HK$8,769,000 have
been recognised regarding to a 5% withholding tax
respectively which is expected to be levied on dividends
distributed to foreign investors from foreign investment
enterprises established in the PRC.

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, deferred income tax
liabilities have not been recognised for the withholding
tax that would be payable on the distributable retained
earnings amounting to approximately RMB132,004,000
and HK$92,000,000, respectively, of the Company’s
subsidiaries in the PRC earned after 1 January 2008.
Such amounts are not expected to be distributed to
the subsidiaries incorporated outside of the PRC in the
foreseeable future.

RA MBS ERAR MR

31 ZEEF)? B (%)
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B 5 & T 52 4 18 5 3810,127,000%8 7T
(:7_—¢ 29,341,00058 JT) *© A]
BENEKEARERHRBA - 25
%RIEE5%56946000,E7E( T =
% : 2,786,000/ 7o) Al AR R IR 1T Bl 0E
MR EAAEEE o 52 NI TE/E5183,181,000
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R_E-NMER T -_=F+_H4
Zt+—H AEEBRLTHREHEH
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BMEECEMINRIEE EIRENRK
BE 5% BT

RZEZ_WMFERZTE_=F+=A
_+ B R AR TR A Y

REIE—_ZTZENF—A—B& B
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB MR M

32 NOTE TO STATEMENT OF CASH 32 REREKRMTE
FLOWS
(a) Cash Generated from operations (a) REMBRE

Year ended 31 December
BE+-—A=+—HLEE

2024 2023
—E_MEF —E =%
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Profit before income tax R P45 A0 A g A 149,103 94,218
Adjustments for: AT EBEELFHE:
Depreciation of property, plant and  #1 % - Fi&E &
equipment REITE 55,032 51,275
Loss on disposals of property, HEME  BER
plant and equipment Bt EBE 389 24
Provision for inventory TEHHT BB E
obsolescence 1,923 1,433
Amortisation of right-of-use assets £ Fi 1 & & & $5 5,789 6,206
Amortisation of intangible assets A E 1,426 1,233
Finance income BB WA (7,419) (7,794)
Finance costs B & A A 3,772 3,997
Reversal of provision for social MR B RO
security insurance (8,705) (2,993)
Gain on disposals of derivative HEfTEemTA
financial instruments Z W (2,043) (1,343)
Unrealised exchange gain REIRE = (3,694) (7,912)
195,573 138,344
Changes in working capital: LEE2EE:
Inventories rE (15,553) 4,021
Trade receivables B 5 EMRIE 11,527 (19,015)
Deposits, prepayments and & BHE 15)32
other receivables B pE W IR 7,090 (646)
Trade payables 2 5 IR 13,348 (2,169)
Accruals, provisions and JEETER - BiEX
other payables H b B R IB 12,640 1,040
Contract liabilities AHARE 4,316 (52)
Derivative financial instruments TEeRIA 2,043 (5,513)
Cash generated from operations KEMERS 230,984 116,010
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iR B B R M

32 NOTE TO STATEMENT OF CASH 32 WEREKRMT(E)

FLOWS (Continued)

(b) Proceeds from disposals of property, (b) ERETHLHEWE - K
plant and equipment arising from ERXEFRELENREBR
investing activities b |
In the consolidated statement of cash flows, EHRARERERT  LEYD
proceeds from disposals of property, plant and ¥ MERREBMEHRIBEERE:

equipment comprise:

Year ended 31 December

BE+t-A=+—BLFE

2024 2023

—E-mF —E_=F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FET

Net book value FREFE 580 577

Loss on disposals of property, HEME  BEK

plant and equipment (Note 6) wiE 2 BB iEe) (389) (24)
Cash flow from disposals of HEME  BEKREKB

property, plant and equipment MRERKE 191 553
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB MR M

32 NOTE TO STATEMENT OF CASH 32 HeREKRMT(E)
FLOWS (Continued)
(c) Reconciliation of liabilities arising (c) MEEEBMEENEEY
from financing activities iR
This section sets out an analysis of reconciliation KEHNRFIREFENRE
of liabilities from financing activities for each of the EEFTEAMBEYER

years presented:

Liabilities

under

supplier

Lease finance
liabilities ~ Borrowings arrangements Total

fEERER
HEAR R HETHAR st
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$ 000
: TR TR TR

Year ended 31 December 2024 BE-E-_METZA=1-H

LEE

As at 1 January 2024 RZE-_ME-F-H 2,949 47,879 - 50,828
Changes from financing cash flows: HEREHELH:

Proceeds from borrowings EFE5IE - 147,058 22,759 169,817
Repayment of borrowings RERT - (143,948) (5,833) (149,781)
Interest paid ERFE - (3,207) (231) (3,528)
Capital element of lease rentals paid EfNEeTEHS (2,222) - - (2,222)
Interest element of lease rentals paid BRELHEES (114) - - (114)
Total changes from financing cash flows  BEREHERHEE (2,336) (187) 16,695 14,172

Exchange adjustments/othernon- EXHE /HitFEE48

cash movement (152) (927) (333) (1,412)
Other changes: A
Increase In lease liabilities from enterng R UHASEHHERR

into new leases during the year B 3,378 - - 3,373
Interest expenses RS 148 3,385 239 3,772
Total other changes Engges 3,521 3,385 239 7,145
At 31 December 2024 R-E-ME+-F=t-H 3,982 50,150 16,601 70,733
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iRE SRR MR
32 NOTE TO STATEMENT OF CASH 32 WEREKRMT(E)
FLOWS (Continued)
(c) Reconciliation of liabilities arising (c) MEEEBMEENEEY
from financing activities (Continued) iR (&)

Lease
liabilities Borrowings
HEAE & 5

HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TET TAET TAET

Year ended 31 December &®HE-ZT=-=F+=A#
2023 =+—-BLEEE

As at 1 January 2023 R=ZZBE=-=%—-H-—H 2,859 116,319 119,178

Changes from financing RERSRELS:
cash flows:

Proceeds from borrowings BRFEHRIAE — 30,805 30,805
Repayment of borrowings BEMER - (99,275) (99,275)
Interest paid BEARFLE — (3,825) (3,825)
Capital element of lease rentals B &A% 5

paid (2,266) . (2,266)
Interest element of lease rentals &1 & F| 8 25

paid (62) — (52)
Total changes from financing RERCTEEZDET

cash flows (2,318) (72,295) (74,613)

Exchange adjustments/ ERARE HttkRE
other non-cash movement # & (46) (90) (136)

Other changes: Hitt 2%
Increase in lease liabilities from  F A RI #1 & E 5
entering into new leases during & & {& 1 A1

the year 2,534 — 2,534
Decrease in lease liabilities from FRK L EMNHEE
terminate lease during the year B f& R & (132) — (132)
Interest expenses M EFX 52 3,945 3,997
Total other changes Hi &5 858 2,454 3,945 6,399
At 31 December 2023 R-ZB=-=%+=A
=+-—H 2,949 47,879 50,828
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RE SR M R
33 COMMITMENTS 33 &
(a) Capital commitments (a) BEAREIE
At 31 December 2024 and 2023, capital RZE_NER_ZFT-_=ZF
expenditure contracted for but not yet incurred are +—A=+—H BilHEN
as follows: REEMNERAWOT

As at 31 December
R+=ZB=+—H
2024 2023

—E-mE —E =%
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FAT

Capital expenditure contracted for BEIHEEREED

but not yet incurred NGRS
— Property, plant and equipment — ¥ BEXEKHE 59,868 21,020
(b) Operating lease commitments (b) REMEAIE
(i) As alessee iy ftEBAMEA
As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the RIZEZOFRZFT=
Group had future aggregate minimum lease F+ZHA=+—H &&
payments under non-cancellable short term BRI HEERHEET
leases in respect of office premises, factory AR AME - BMEWE
premises and equipment as follows: REEI IO REK&EM

ERERBEWT

As at 31 December

R+=-—A=+—H

2024 2023

—B-mE —T-=fF

HK$°000 HK$’000

FHET AT

No later than one year —F A 504 151
Later than one year and —FRERWFEA

no later than two years 357 —

861 151

246 Q P GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED &8 &EZERERAH



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iRE SRR MR
33 COMMITMENTS (Continued) 33 &I (&)
(b) Operating lease commitments (b) ®REMEEAE (&)
(Continued)
(i) As alessor (iy tER/LMEA
As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the RZEZMFER-ZTZ=
Group’s had future aggregate minimum lease F+-A=1T—8 ' &&
receipts under non-cancellable short term BN TR E LR
operating leases in respect of investment E T EME WA KR
property are as follows: RExEHERBLETEN
T
As at 31 December
R+=-—A=+—8H
2024 2023
—E_ME —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FEx FHET
No later than one year —F N 35 53
Later than one year and —FRERWFEAN
no later than two years — 35
35 88
34 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 34 BEEAERS
For the purposes of this report, parties are considered MAREMES - W —H Al HEXMH
to be related to the Group if the party has the ability, BEHAREE I B REERE N
directly or indirectly, to exercise significant influence ij(%%jj AR T WERERSE
over the Group in making financial and operating EHEmEE AR AEREARE
decisions. Related parties may be individuals (being Eﬁ@/\g\ EKHX$ES/_XT{§/\
members of key management personnel, significant ML R BB H R - U

RIXAKEBER T (RERB AR
BA)EKXE ?QBMTTEQOE/\H?I
BE BT MR S AR -

shareholders and/or their close family members) or
other entities and include entities which are under the
significant influence of related parties of the Group
where those parties are individuals. Parties are also
considered to be related if they are subject to common
control.
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iR BTSRRI EE
34 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 34 BEBARS (18)
(Continued)
The directors are of the view that the following EE2RAE UTEANAFAERE
individuals and companies were related parties that ZEZ_NMFR-FT_=F+=A
had significant transactions or balances with the Group T HIFEEAEHRETEX
during the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023: R 5K 815 45 eR A A B 5 -
Name of related Relationship with the BHASER HAQF FEH
parties Company/Group ollRES
Big Elegant Limited ~ Controlled by two of the SEEARAR BHARFHREH
executive directors of the TEEFTIE
Company
SG Printing Company Controlled by four of the BEERIAR BHARFHMNEAH
Limited executive directors of the NE] ITE BRI
Company
Hongkong Shine Significantly influenced by one EREERES XARAN—EH
Tak Foundation of the executive directors of 2HER AR TEENERY
Association Limited ~ the Company =z
Other than those transactions and balances disclosed GAREEMBHABENZIH N
elsewhere in this report, the following significant EIN AT EAXRS D HEBEE
transactions were carried out with related parties during NEE-_E-_NER_ZT-_=F+—
the years ended 31 December 2024 and 20283: A=+—HIEFEETT:
(a) Transactions with related parties (@) BHMAIXS
The following significant transactions were UTEARS T HAEBEEHE
undertaken by the Group with related parties BARBE_T_NFR_F
during the years ended 31 December 2024 and =+ -_A=+—BHItFE
2023: AT

Year ended 31 December

BE+-A=+-BL%FE

2024 2023
“E-MmE —T-=%
HK$’000 HK$'000
THER AL
Rental payment to: XHEENET:
— Big Elegant Limited - EEERAA 1,044 1,044
Disposal of a motor vehicle to: HE-HRET:
— SG Printing Company Limited — BRHRIFR QA - 350
Sales to: HWET:
— Hongkong Shine Tak Foundation - EAEEE22BRAA
Association Limited 497 930
Donation to: BRF:
— Hongkong Shine Tak Foundation - AREEELEERAA
Association Limited 200 200
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34 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

(a)

(b)

Transactions with related parties
(Continued)

The amounts shown on the above table represent
the cash amounts paid to or received from
the related parties during the years ended 31
December 2024 and 2023.

On 2 December 2021, the Group entered into a
lease (“2022 Lease”) with Big Elegant Limited in
respect of a property in Hong Kong with a lease
term from 1 January 2022 to 31 December 2023
and with monthly rental of HK$87,000.

On 8 December 2023, the Group entered into
a lease with Big Elegant Limited in respect of a
property in Hong Kong with a lease term from
1 January 2024 to 31 December 2025 and with
monthly rental of HK$87,000 as a renewal of the
2022 Lease ended 31 December 2023.

Such lease payment to the related party has been
classified and presented as amortisation of the
right-of-use assets and interest expense accrued
over the lease liabilities due to the adoption of
HKFRS 16.

The above transactions with related parties were
conducted in the ordinary course of the business
of the Group based on the terms mutually agreed
between the relevant parties.

Key management compensation

Key management includes directors of the
Group. The compensation paid or payable to key
management for employee services is disclosed in
Note 9.

RA MBS ERAR MR

34 BHA X5 (&)

(a)

(b) =

BB LR Z (&)

R REEABEE_ZT -
FR-BE-_=FF+-_A=+—
H 1E 4 [Z 17) B8 B 5 = 1 sk Uk B
MIRE S -
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FHE|) HHHa T - —
—A—HBz2-_ZT-_=%+—-A
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35 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 35 AARMBEMRRERFEE

AND RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE 2 B &
COMPANY
Statement of financial position of the AR B BARR R
Company
As at 31 December
R+=-—HA=+—H
2024 2023
—_ZE-_@{mEF —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHEx F& T
Assets BE
Non-current asset ERBEE
Investment in a subsidiary RN—EWNEB AN KE 3,763 3,763
Current assets REBEE
Prepayments and other T8 3R IR F A Ath FE Uk
receivables KT8 151 —
Amounts due from subsidiaries & Y I & A &) ZL I8 238,483 180,102
Cash and cash equivalents HReERRSFEY 794 748
Total assets EEHE 243,191 184,613
Equity and liabilities EERkEE
Equity attributable to ANE SR REMN
equity holders of fE =
the Company
Share capital Ji& 7 16 5,320 5,320
Share premium & 10 % B 139,593 139,593
Reserves 1 3,658 3,959
Total equity EREE 148,571 148,872
Liabilities =K
Current liabilities REAE
Amounts due to subsidiaries FEH B AR A 94,610 35,731
Accruals et E 10 10
Total liabilities EEHAE 94,620 35,741
Total equity and liabilities ®EZREEHEE 243,191 184,613
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fre SRR M

35 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 35 AARMBEMRREREE

AND RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE
COMPANY (Continued)

Statement of reserve movement of the
Company

Share
capital

B
HK$000
it

BExR(E)
KRB RERBR

Share Retained
premium earnings Total
R A3 REEF @t
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
TET TET TAT

Balance at 31 December R-—ZE-—£+=f
2022 and 1 January 2023 =t-HAkZEZ=

—A—BW& e 5,320 139,593 3,410 148,323
Profit for the year FREH - - 69,709 69,709
Dividends paid BB E - - (69,160) (69,160)
Balance at 31 December R-ZE-=f+=#

2023 and 1 January 2024 =+-HAR-Z-ME

—B—-HBHEe 5,320 139,593 3,959 148,872
Profit for the year F % A - - 58,219 58,219
Dividends paid B%E - - (58,520) (58,520)

Balance at 31 December R-ZE-_NE+ZRA
2024 =t-BWN&E& 5,320

139,593 3,658 148,571
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FINANCIAL
SUMMARY

M E

CONSOLIDATED RESULTS

Year ended 31 December

Revenue

Gross profit

Profit before income tax

Income tax expense

Profit for the year

Profit attributable to equity
holders of the Company

Wi

=il

R B3 3 A A
FBRAX
ER M

ARREERRELET

2020

-
HK$'000
THT

1,232,631
436,866
159,477
(30,129)
129,348

129,348

2021
“E_—F
HK$'000
THR

BEt-A=1-HLEE
2022 2023
—E-- —E-=HF
HK$'000 HK$'000
TET THR

—F— —/
23

2024
)
HK$'000
TERT

138,759 1276392 1,089,199 1,210,937
430,108 416,764 356,002 436,175
130,832 143,133 94,218 149,103
(11,790) (16,294) (15,950) (21,822)
119,042 126,839 78,268 127,281
119,042 126,839 80,099 129,116

CONSOLIDATED ASSETS, EQUITY AND

LIABILITIES

Assets
Non-current assets
Current assets
Total assets

Equity and liabilities

Non-current liabilities

Current liabilities

Total liabilities

Equity attributable to equity
holders of the Company

Non-controlling interests

Total equity and liabilities

BE
FRBEE
RBEE
EEZE

BERER
FRBAE
RBAE
AEEE
ARAEERR
EHED

SRR
BaLABEE

2020

—F —
E-F
—<T ==

HK$'000
7

577,986
602,677
1,180,663

26,085
370,211
396,296

784,367

1,180,663
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REEE BREREE

2021
“E-—F
HK$'000
THR

As at 31 December
R+=ZB=1+-8
2022

—Fm— —/
=
e

HK$'000
THER

2024
“ECQmE
GLE
TER

643,467 599,016 646,704 629,115
576,550 580,219 443,953 541,773
1220017 1179235 1000657 1,170,888
12,073 9,993 16,302 15,904
361,630 326,401 239,615 272,748
373,703 336,304 055,937 288,652
846,314 842,841 833,651 882,987
- - 1,069 (751)
1220017 1,179235 1000657 1,170,888
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